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Melvin I. Urofsky

In our last issue, we ran three pieces on the 
first full-time newspaper reporter assigned to 
cover the U.S. Supreme Court, Anthony Lewis 
of The New York Times, and we were grati­
fied by responses we got from people who had 
known Lewis at the time. But I erred in my 
introduction when I said that Lewis had been 
the only reporter to win a Pulitzer Prize for his 
coverage of the high court. A number of astute 
readers e-mailed me to inform me of some­
thing that I should have known: namely, that 
the current Times reporter covering the Court, 
Linda Greenhouse, also won a Pulitzer for her 
writing, in 1998. Ms. Greenhouse, it should be 
noted, refers to Lewis as her “colleague and 
mentor”; she had been invited to participate in 
the original symposium, but could not sched­
ule it. So my apologies to Ms. Greenhouse, and 
a thank-you to all who caught the error.

This issue contains a number of interest­
ing articles. David Lightner looks at how the 
Supreme Court, reflecting the mood of the 
country, agonized in its efforts to deal with 
the constitutional aspects of the interstate slave 
trade. While the Supreme Court did not address

many war-related issues while the Civil War 
raged, once peace had been restored, a host of 
issues dealing with various aspects of the late 
conflagration arose through the federal courts. 
Daniel Hamilton examines how the Court dealt 
with one problem, and an important one: the 
confiscation of southern property.

Today’s Justices, and even lower federal- 
court judges, rarely leave the bench to run 
for political office. The last Justice who sup­
posedly harbored such sentiments (or at least 
the last we know about) was William O. 
Douglas, who came very close to being on 
the Democratic ticket in 1944 and then turned 
down the vice presidential slot four years later. 
But in the nineteenth century, some mem­
bers of the Court thought about moving up 
Pennsylvania Avenue quite a bit, and in 1916, 
Charles Evans Hughes actually resigned from 
the Court to accept the Republican presidential 
nomination, losing out narrowly to Woodrow 
Wilson that November. Allen Sharp gives us 
a closer look at the presidential ambitions of 
some of the men who have sat on the high 
court.
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At one time all the Justices had pages, 
boys who essentially served as what we would 
now call “gofers.” Darryl Gonzalez, who is 
conducting a general study of pages in both 
Congress and the Court, ran across a former 
page, Frank Lyman, and did an oral interview 
with him. We think readers of the Journal will 
find this behind-the-bench view a little differ­
ent from our usual article, and that they will be 
entertained by it.

Justice Harry A. Blackmun served a long 
time on the bench, and the recent opening of 
his papers will no doubt spur a great many 
scholars to examine his life and work. We 
were approached about whether we would be 
interested in some unpublished speeches that 
Justice Blackmun had given, and we thought 
this one gives us a good insight into both the 
man and the judge. We want to thank Luther T. 
Munford, a Blackmun clerk, for giving us this 
opportunity.

Finally, while Grier Stephenson has pro­
vided us with his usual perceptive reviews

in the “Judicial Bookshelf,” every now and 
then we run an essay review on books that 
we think are of particular importance. Such 
a book is a new biography of Justice Wiley 
Rutledge, one of the most respected mem­
bers of the bar and bench in his lifetime, 
but now forgotten by all but scholars of the 
modern Court. John Ferren, himself a fed­
eral judge, has written a marvelous book on 
Rutledge. We asked Professor Scot Powe of 
the University of Texas Law School, a for­
mer Supreme Court clerk, to review it. (Truth 
in advertising requires that you know that the 
University of North Carolina Press, the pub­
lisher of the book, secured a subsidy from the 
Society so it could include illustrations. The 
Society, of course, had no say in the contents 
of the book. I, on the other hand, did read the 
manuscript for the Society, and did make some 
suggestions to the author regarding content and 
style.)

It is, as always, a varied meal, and we hope 
that you all will enjoy it.
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Interstate Slave Trade: A Study in 

Evasion, Anarchy, and Extremism

DAVID L. LIGHTNERzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Op p o ne nts o f s lave ry o fte n argu e d that the fe de ral go ve rnm e nt p o s s e s s e d the co ns titu tio nal 
au tho rity to o u tlaw the inte rs tate s lave trade . At its fo u nding in 1833, the Am e rican Anti-Slave ry 
So cie ty de clare d that Co ngre s s “has a r ight, and is s o le m nly bo u nd, to s u p p re s s the do m e s tic 
s lave trade be twe e n the s e ve ral State s .”  The idea had been endorsed earlier, during the Missouri 
controversy of 1819-1820, by both John Jay and Daniel Webster. Later on, in the 1840s and 
1850s, it was supported by such prominent politicians as John Quincy Adams, Salmon P. Chase, 
and Charles Sumner. Defenders of slavery were, of course, horrified by the suggestion that 
the South’s peculiar institution might be attacked in this way, and they vehemently denied that 
the Constitution permitted any such action. The prolonged debate over the issue focused on 

two key provisions of the Constitution. One was the Commerce Clause (Article I, Section 8, 
Clause 3), which says that Congress has the power to “ regulate Commerce with foreign Nations, 
and among the several States, and with the Indian Tribes.” The other was the 1808 Clause 
(Article I, Section 9, Clause 1), which says that the “Migration or Importation of such Persons 
as any of the States now existing shall think proper to admit, shall not be prohibited by the 
Congress prior to the Year one thousand eight hundred and eight.”  Abolitionists held that the 
Constitution sanctioned congressional interference in the domestic slave trade both generally, 
by virtue of the Commerce Clause, and specifically, by virtue of the 1808 Clause. They argued 
that since slaves were routinely bought and sold, they obviously were articles of commerce, and 
therefore Congress had unlimited authority over interstate slave trafficking. Furthermore, they 
said, the words “migration or importation”  in the 1808 Clause meant that as of January 1, 1808 
Congress had acquired the right not only to ban the importation of slaves, but also to prohibit 
their migration from one state to another. Defenders of slavery replied that Congress could not 
interfere in property rights and that the power to regulate commerce did not include the power 

to destroy it. They also said that the word “migration” in the 1808 Clause referred, not to the 
domestic movement of slaves, but to the entry into the United States of white immigrants from 

abroad.1
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This 1837 broadside publication of John Greenleaf Whittier's poem entitled “Our Countrymen in Chains” 
shows the seal adopted by the Society for the Abolition of Slavery in England in the 1780s—a man begging 
for his freedom. The claim at the bottom reads: “England has 800,000 Slaves, and she has made them free. 
America has 2,250,000! And she holds them fast!!!!”



THE SUPREME COURT AND THE INTERSTATE SLAVE TRADE 231zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Bo th the o p p o ne nts and the de fe nde rs o f 
s lave ry watche d with ke e n inte re s t whe ne ve r 
the Su p re m e Co u rt to u che d u p o n the s e is s u e s . 
Each side hoped that the Court would uphold 
its point of view. Each side feared that the 
Court might side with the opposition. As it 
happened, throughout all of the decades down 

to the Civil  War, the Supreme Court never did 
issue a definitive ruling on whether Congress 
could suppress the domestic slave trade. Be­
cause no act of Congress ever attempted to 

ban the slave trade, there was no occasion to 
test the constitutionality of such an act before 
the judiciary. There were, however, a series of 
cases in which the Court assessed the legiti­
macy of state actions that arguably conflicted 
with the federal commerce power. In its ruling 
on any one of those cases, the Court might have 
made clear what the scope of the federal power 
actually was. The Court never did so, at first 

because of a wise refusal by Chief Justice John 
Marshall and his colleagues to attempt a judi­
cial resolution of this profoundly political is­
sue, and later because of clashing views among

the Justices of the Court headed by Marshall’s 
successor, Roger B. Taney, that made it im­
possible for the judges to agree upon an an­
swer to a question that could be as complex as 
it was incendiary. It was only in the midst of 
the great sectional crisis of the 1850s that the 
Court implicitly  veered toward the proslavery 

side in such an extreme way as to help plunge 
the nation into catastrophe.2

The Supreme Court first contemplated the 
meaning of the commerce power in the fa­
mous case of UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG ibbons v. O gden? The case 
was first scheduled for consideration in 1821, 
when the surfacing of the slave trade issue in 
the Missouri Debates was still fresh in the pub­
lic mind, but for procedural reasons was put 
off  until 1824. It concerned a New York state 
law that granted to Robert Fulton and his asso­
ciates the exclusive right to operate steamboats 
in New York waters. The Fulton monopoly 
was challenged by rival boat owners, who 
claimed that the New York statute was an un­
constitutional invasion of the federal govern­
ment’s power to regulate interstate commerce.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The Supreme Court first debated the meaning of the commerce power in an 1824 case that concerned a New 
York law granting Robert Fulton a monopoly to operate steamboats in New York waters. Although the case had 
nothing to do with slavery, it was obvious that it could have ramifications for the slave-trade issue.



232 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORYzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Altho u gh the cas e had no thing dire ctly to 
do with s lave ry , it was o bvio u s that it co u ld 

have im p o rtant im p licatio ns re garding s tate 
ve rs u s fe de ral co ntro l o ve r the p as s age o f 
s lave s fro m s tate to s tate . Mo re o ve r, the cas e 
als o co u ld have im p licatio ns re garding the 
co ns titu tio nality—o r lack o f it—o f the Ne gro 

Se am e n’s Act, a law that had been enacted 
by South Carolina in the aftermath of an at­
tempted slave insurrection, the Denmark Vesey 
conspiracy of 1822. The Negro Seamen’s Act 
was aimed at preventing free blacks from the 
North or from abroad from contaminating the 
state’s slaves with ideas of resistance and free­
dom. The law provided that any black crew­
man debarking from a vessel at a port within 
South Carolina was to be jailed until his vessel 
was ready to depart. The cost of incarceration 
was to be paid by the ship’s captain. Any sailor 
not redeemed by his captain could be sold into 
slavery. In the United States Circuit Court for 
South Carolina, in 1823, Justice William John­
son declared the Negro Seamen’s Act uncon­
stitutional, on the grounds that the power of 
the federal government over interstate com­
merce was paramount and exclusive. South 
Carolina ignored Johnson’s decision, however, 
and continued to enforce its statute. The gov­
ernor of the state urged upon its legislature 
“A firm determination to resist, at the thresh­
old, every invasion of our domestic tranquility 

and to preserve our sovereignty and indepen­
dence,”  because, he said, “ there would be more 
glory in forming a rampart with our bodies on 
the confines of our territory” than in becom­
ing either the victims of a successful slave re­
bellion or “ the slaves of a great consolidated 
government.” 4

Chief Justice Marshall regarded Johnson’s 
action as rash. Marshall had himself con­

fronted on circuit a Virginia law modeled on 
that of South Carolina, but had avoided pro­

nouncing it unconstitutional. In a private letter 
to Justice Joseph Story, Marshall said, “Our 

brother Johnson, I perceive, has hung him­
self on a democratic snag in a hedge com­
posed entirely of thorny state rights in South

Carolina.... The subject is one of much feel­
ing in the South. Of this I was apprized, but 
did not think it would have shown itself in 
such strength as it has.... [T]he sentiment has 
been avowed that if  this be the constitution, it is 
better to break that instrument than submit to 

the principle.” Marshall then explained how 
he himself had avoided becoming similarly 
snagged. Alluding to the South Carolina law 
that Johnson had denounced, Marshall said, 
“We have its twin brother in Virginia, and a 
case has been brought before me in which I 
might have considered its constitutionality had 
I chosen to do so; but it was not absolutely nec­
essary, and, as I am not fond of butting against 
a wall in sport, I escaped on the construction 
of the act.” 5

In UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG ibbons v. O gden, the attorneys who 
defended the New York law granting the steam­
boat monopoly argued that commerce encom­
passed only the exchange of goods and did not 
include either navigation or the transport of 
passengers. They also maintained that the fed­
eral power to regulate commerce, although ad­
mittedly supreme, was not exclusive. That is, it 
did not preclude states from exercising a con­
current power over commerce so long as their 
actions did not actually conflict with any fed­
eral legislation. After all, the lawyers said, both 

before and after the adoption of the Consti­
tution, many states had prohibited the impor­
tation of slaves not only from foreign coun­
tries but from other states as well. Thus the 
states possessed and were actually exercising 
a concurrent power over commerce. Interest­
ingly, the lawyers acknowledged that the power 
to regulate included the power to prohibit, be­

cause “ [t]he difference between regulation or 
restraining and interdiction, is only a differ­
ence of degree in the exercise of the same right, 
and not a difference of right.” 6 (While most 
of these lawyers’ arguments would support the 
case for state authority over the slave trade, this 

last one—that a power to regulate included the 

power to prohibit—would have been music to 
the ears of advocates of a federal ban on the 
interstate slave trade.)
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Daniel Webster, one of the attorneys for 
the other side, dismissed the notion of a con­

current commerce power. The authority of 
Congress, he said, was “complete and entire.”  
If  Congress had not regulated some aspect of 
interstate commerce, then its decision not to 

act was as valid an exercise of the federal au­
thority as was a decision to do so. In either 

case, a state had no right to stray into an area 
of exclusive federal jurisdiction. Despite this 
fiercely nationalist stance, however, Webster 
hinted that there remained some opening for 
state action. Probably he left the door ever 

so slightly ajar because he surmised that the 
Court would not dare to adopt an absolutist 
position on so volatile an issue. Webster said 
that the federal power over commerce was ex­
clusive “so far, and so far only, as the nature 
of the power requires.” (What that Delphic 
statement meant was anybody’s guess.) More 
specifically, he said that state quarantine laws 
were an exercise of police power, rather than 
of commercial regulation, and so did not tres­
pass upon the federal jurisdiction over com­
merce. He hedged on the touchy question of 
whether a state law prohibiting the importation 
of slaves could be constitutional, saying that it 
would depend upon the law’s particular provi­
sions. Here Webster perhaps intended to signal 
both that South Carolina’s law on Negro sea­
men could be defended as a police regulation 
and that all of the states might still be allowed 
to control the entry or non-entry of slaves, even 
though Congress had exclusive authority over 
what Webster termed “ the higher branches of 
commercial regulation.” 7

The decision of the Court, delivered by 
the Chief Justice, was a masterpiece of bold 
assertion coupled with discreet sidestepping. 
John Marshall defined commerce broadly so 
as to include both navigation in general and 
the transport of people in particular. On the 
latter point, he cited the 1808 Clause of the 
Constitution, noting that “ it has always been 
considered as an exception from the power 

to regulate commerce, and certainly seems to 
class migration with importation. Migration

applies as appropriately to voluntary, as im­
portation does to involuntary, arrivals; and, 
as far as an exception from power proves its 
existence, this section proves that the power 
to regulate commerce applies equally to the 
regulation of vessels employed in transport­

ing men, who pass from place to place vol­
untarily, and to those who pass involuntarily.”  
Marshall also declared that the federal power 

over commerce “ is complete in itself, may be 
exercised to its utmost extent, and acknowl­
edges no limitations.”  It is vested in Congress 
as absolutely as it would be in a unitary gov­
ernment in which there was no sharing of 

power with the states. Referring to Webster’s 
contention that the states could not encroach 
upon the federal jurisdiction even in those ar­
eas where Congress had as yet done nothing, 
Marshall said, “There is great force in this ar­
gument, and the Court is not satisfied that it 
has been refuted.” Marshall thus adopted ini­
tially a nationalist stance that was, if  anything, 
even more uncompromising than Webster’s. 
But Marshall then went on to declare that it 
was not necessary in this case for the Court to 
decide whether the states possessed any con­
current power over interstate commerce. The 
competitors of Robert Fulton had obtained a li ­
cense under the federal Coasting License Act 
of 1793, Marshall said, and the New York law 
that gave Fulton his monopoly was unconsti­
tutional because it conflicted with that license. 
(That the New York law really clashed with the 

federal coasting license was doubtful, for the 
license merely gave to American vessels some 
privileges that were denied to foreign ones, but 
it suited Marshall’s purpose to claim that there 
was a conflict.) Through this maneuver, Mar­
shall was able to have his cake and eat it too. 
He made a strong argument for exclusive fed­
eral power over interstate commerce but did not 
make it a formal ruling of the Court. That is, he 
made it quite clear that he agreed with Web­
ster that the federal authority over interstate 
commerce was exclusive and precluded any 
trespassing by the states onto the federal turf. 
But he ruled definitively only that a state law
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William Johnson was the only member of the Supreme 
Court who did not go along with Chief Justice Marshall 
in sidestepping the question of whether a concurrent 
power to regulate interstate commerce remained with 
the states in Gibbons iz. Ogden. Johnson (pictured) 
concurred with the Court's unanimous decision to 
annul the steamboat monopoly, but he rejected 
Marshall's reasoning that the law that had created the 
monopoly was unconstitutional because it conflicted 
with a federal regulation.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

was invalid whe n it co nflicte d with an actu al 
fe de ral re gu latio n o f inte rs tate co m m e rce . The 
latter was a relatively narrow ruling that was 
unlikely to provoke virulent opposition. Thus, 
with the adroitness that was his trademark, 
Marshall avoided bringing down upon his head 
the southern denunciations that surely would 
have followed a stronger decision that more 
clearly threatened the slaveholding interest.8

Only one member of the Court refused to 
shuffle along with Marshall in his sidestepping 
of the question of whether a concurrent power 
to regulate interstate commerce remained with 
the states. Justice Johnson concurred with 
the Court’s unanimous decision to annul the 
Fulton steamboat monopoly, but he rejected 
Marshall’s explanation that the law that had 

created it was invalid because it conflicted 
with a federal regulation. The New York statute 
would have been just as invalid, Johnson said, 
even if  there were no such thing as a federal 
coasting license. The federal commerce power,

he insisted, “must be exclusive,”  for “ the grant 
of this power carries with it the whole subject, 

leaving nothing for the State to act upon.”  Thus 
Johnson held firmly  to the nationalist position 
that he had adopted when he declared unconsti­
tutional South Carolina’s Negro Seamen’s Act. 

But once again Johnson’s was a lone voice cry­
ing in the wilderness, for not even so fervent a 
nationalist as John Marshall dared to join with 
him in his unabashed insistence upon an ex­
clusive federal power.9

Thirteen years later, in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew York v. M iln  
(1837), the Supreme Court rehashed the ques­
tion of federal versus state power over inter­
state commerce, without clarifying it.10 By 

this time, Marshall had passed from the scene 
and the Court was headed by Roger B. Taney. 
The new Chief Justice had served as Attorney 
General under Andrew Jackson between 1831 
and 1833. In that capacity, he had defended 
the constitutionality of the South Carolina 

Negro Seamen’s Act, saying, “South Carolina 
or any other slave holding state has a right 
to guard itself from the danger to be appre­
hended from the introduction of free peo­
ple of color among their slaves—and have 
not by the Constitution of the United States 
surrendered the right to pass the laws nec­
essary for that purpose.” 11 Taney now led 
his mostly like-minded colleagues in edg­
ing away from the rigorous nationalism that 
had been so dear to his predecessor. By this 
time, however, the radical abolitionist move­
ment had arisen and was inundating Congress 
with petitions signed by thousands of people 
demanding that it outlaw the interstate slave 
trade.12

Like G ibbons v. O gden, M iln focused on 
a New York state law, but this time the statute 

in question was one that imposed regulations 
on ships bringing immigrants into the port 
of New York. The attorneys who defended 
the law before the Supreme Court repeated 

the now-familiar claim that the states pos­
sessed a concurrent power over commerce. As 
evidence, they cited the 1808 Clause of the 
Constitution, arguing that the clause’s mention
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In New York v. Miln (1837), the Court reviewed the 
question of whether New York had the right to impose 
regulations on ships bringing immigrants into its port 
(pictured here in 1830). Writing for the Court, Justice 
Philip Barbour (right) avoided saying whether the fed­
eral commerce power was exclusive and upheld the 
New York law.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

o f “s u ch Pe rs o ns as any o f the State s no w ex­
isting shall think proper to admit” was proof 
that states, and not just the federal govern­
ment, had the power to allow or deny the entry 
of people. They warned that if  the Court de­
clared the federal power to be exclusive and 
on that basis struck down the New York im­
migration law, then many other state laws also 
would have to be considered invalid, includ­
ing “a class of laws peculiar to the south­
ern states,” among them those “prohibiting 

masters of vessels from bringing people of 
color in their vessels.” 13

The attorneys for the other side repeated 
the equally familiar claim that the states could 
not transgress upon what was an area of ex­
clusive federal jurisdiction. As to the idea that 
the 1808 Clause was proof of concurrent state 
power, the opposing lawyers said, “This is not

considered a correct deduction. If  a state law 
prohibiting migration or importation, shall be 
brought into question; the point will  arise, as to 
the power of the state to legislate upon it.”  The 
1808 Clause did not negate any part of the fed­
eral power over commerce; it only temporarily 
suspended one aspect of it. “ It is fully  granted,
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and co u ld have be e n executed instantly, but 
for the limitation; and when that expired, it 
came into active existence. It was, from that 
time, as full as if  it had never been interfered 
with.”  In other words, the right of states to reg­
ulate migration or importation expired in 1808 
when the federal power came into fall force and 
thereby extinguished all state authority over 
such matters.14

In its ruling in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM iln , the Court again 
avoided saying whether the federal commerce 
power was exclusive, and again a single Justice 
dissented. Speaking for the majority, Justice 
Philip Barbour upheld the New York law as 
constitutional on the grounds that it was “not 
a regulation of commerce, but of police,”  and 
each state possesses, in its police power, “ the 
same undeniable and unlimited jurisdiction 
over all persons and things, within its terri­
torial limits, as any foreign nation; where that 
jurisdiction is not surrendered or restrained by 
the constitution of the United States.” Thus 
the official ruling of the Court avoided mak­
ing any new statement about the nature of the 
commerce power. In separate opinions, how­
ever, two Justices chose to address the unre­
solved issue of concurrent commerce power, 
one to defend the concept and the other to de­
nounce it. In his concurring opinion, Justice 
Smith Thompson said that the New York law 
would be constitutionally acceptable even if  it 
did regulate commerce, because Congress had 
made no regulation with which it conflicted. 
Thompson declared (rather clumsily) that he 
considered it “a very important principle to 
establish, that the states retain the exercise of 
powers; which, although they may in some 

measure partake of the character of commer­
cial regulations, until congress asserts the exer­
cise of the power under the grant of the power to 
regulate commerce.”  In stark contrast, Justice 
Joseph Story, who was the lone dissenter in 
the case, said that the New York law should 
have been struck down as a violation of 
the exclusive authority of the federal gov­
ernment over commerce, a subject “cut off 
from the range of state sovereignty and state

legislation.” Echoing the earlier words of 
John Marshall—and, through him, Daniel 
Webster—Story said that “ it has been re­
marked with great cogency and accuracy, that 
the regulation of a subject indicates and desig­
nates the entire result; applying to those parts 
which remain as they were, as well as to those 
parts which are altered. It produces a uniform 
whole, which is as much disturbed and de­
ranged by changing what the regulating power 
designs to leave untouched, as that upon which 
it has operated.”  Thus, although back in 1824 
he had gone along with Marshall’s equivoca­
tion on the issue in G ibbons v. O gden (and, 
in fact, there is even a possibility that he was 
the principal author of the ruling that Marshall 
delivered), Story now opted for the uncompro­
misingly nationalist position that only John­

son had been willing to adopt in the earlier 
case.15

M iln  did nothing to clear the muddied wa­
ters left by G ibbons v. O gden. Slaveholders 

could draw comfort from the fact that the M iln  
decision ascribed to the states a police power 
that, although only vaguely defined, appeared 

plenty broad enough to encompass measures 
like the South Carolina Negro Seamen’s Act, 
but they worried that the Court still shrank 
from ruling definitively that the states pos­
sessed a concurrent power over commerce such 
as would unquestionably allow them to con­
trol the domestic slave trade. Radical aboli­
tionists, on the other hand, could take heart 
from Justice Story’s declaration that interstate 
commerce was totally within the realm of fed­
eral power and entirely beyond the reach of 

state sovereignty. Thus the abolitionists could 
continue to trumpet their claim that Congress 
had both the right and the duty to abolish the 
interstate slave trade. Consequently, both the 
friends and the enemies of slavery had good 
reason to hold their breath when, in the 1841 
case of G roves v. Slaughter, the Court, for the 
first and only time in its history, took on a 
case that focused directly upon the question of 
which level of government had authority over 
interstate slave trafficking.
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In 1832, Mississippi adopted a state constitution that contained a clause prohibiting the bringing in of slaves 
as merchandise—not as an antislavery measure, but as a way to prevent capital from being drained from 
the state. When a slave trader challenged the clause, the case went before the Supreme Court in Groves v. 
Slaughter, where it drew enormous attention.

In 1832, Mississippi adopted a state con­
stitution that contained a clause prohibiting 

the bringing in of slaves as merchandise after 
May 1, 1833. The clause was not an antislav­

ery measure. It did not stop new settlers from 
bringing slaves with them when they came to 
live in Mississippi, nor did it prevent residents 
of the state from traveling beyond its borders,
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do ing the ir s lave -bu y ing the re , and the n bring­
ing the ir acquisitions home with them. Rather, 

the measure reflected concerns that too much 
capital was being drained away from the state, 
that the price of the slaves already there was 
being undermined, and that the slaves brought 
in by commercial traders often were misrep­
resented and so were more likely to turn out 
to be unhealthy, unreliable, or rebellious. Even 
this attempted curbing of the commercial trade 
was easily evaded by those slave dealers who 
simply shifted their transactions to places just 

outside Mississippi’s borders. Yet many of the 
traders did not bother to do even that, and 
the commercial slave trade continued to flour­
ish within Mississippi itself, despite what the 
state constitution said. The case that eventually 
reached the Supreme Court was brought by a 
trader, Robert Slaughter, who had sold some 
slaves on credit inside Mississippi in 1835 and 
1836. The purchaser, whose personal notes for 
$7,000 had been accepted by Slaughter, re­

fused to make good on the notes when they be­
came due, on the grounds that the original sale 
contract was invalid because the aforemen­
tioned clause of the Mississippi constitution 
made the whole transaction illegal. The argu­
ments in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG roves v. Slaughter lasted a full  week 
and attracted unusual attention. According to a 

newspaper account, the ladies of Washington 
occupied all of the vacant seats and crowded 
everyone but the judges and lawyers out of the 
bar. Many Senators played hooky from their 
own chamber and went to watch the Court pro­
ceedings instead. Even John Quincy Adams 
abandoned the House of Representatives to go 
listen to the closing arguments.16

One attorney defending the validity of 
the notes—and thus of Slaughter’s right to re­
ceive payment for the slaves that he had sold— 

evidently believed in covering all bases, for he 
presented the Court with an initial position, 
a fallback from that one, and then a fallback 
from the fallback. First, he said that the relevant 
clause in the Mississippi constitution was not a 
regulation of commerce but an exercise of po­

lice power, because it aimed to do such things 

as “guard against the admission of the vicious, 
through the deceptions of negro-traders,” ac­
tions which were “evidently objects of proper 

municipal regulation.”  Next, he said that even 
if  the clause was a regulation of commerce, “ it 

is one excepted from this power of congress, 
and remains in the state.”  (He did not explain 
why.) Finally, the attorney said that even if  
authority over the interstate slave trade was 
vested in Congress, it nevertheless “may also 
be exercised by the state”—in other words, that 

the states possessed an authority over interstate 
commerce that was concurrent with the federal 
power.17

Mississippi Senator Robert J. Walker 
presented a more outspoken defense of his 
home state’s right to regulate the slave trade. 
Walker acknowledged that the federal com­
merce power was “supreme and exclusive,”  
but insisted that Congress nevertheless could 
not control the interstate slave trade because 
slavery was exclusively a state concern “over 
which it never was designed by the constitu­
tion, that congress should have the slightest 
control.... Such a power in all its effects and 

consequences, is a power, not to regulate com­
merce among the states, but to regu la te slav­

ery, both in and among the states. It is abolition 
in its most dangerous form, under the mask of 
a power to regulate commerce.”  Turning the ta­
bles on the abolitionists, Walker declared that 
if  Congress were held by the Supreme Court 
to have power over the interstate slave trade, 
then the free states would not be able to for­
bid the entry of slaves. “The slave trader might 
encamp them in chains at Boston, Lexington, 
Concord, or Bunker Hill. ... This the abolition­
ists would regard with horror and dismay; but 
to all this they subject their own states... in 
their efforts to force their doctrines upon the 

southern states.”  Walker appealed to the Court 
to banish the specters of “anarchy and civil  
war... death and desolation”  by declaring that 
“over the subject of slavery, congress possesses 
no jurisdiction.” 18 Walker was so proud of
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his argu m e nt that he late r s e nt a co p y to ex­
president Martin Van Buren, saying that he had 
addressed “ the great constitutional question of 
the power of congress to prohibit the importa­
tion of slaves from state to state”  and claiming 
that “ the opinion of the Court on UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAtha t po in t 
was in my favour.” But Walker’s oratory had 

not impressed John Quincy Adams, who wrote 
in his diary, “ I left the House, and went into 
the Supreme Court, and heard the argument 
of Mr. Webster... and the closing argument of 
Mr. Walker, the Senator from Mississippi, in 
reply. The question is whether a State of this 
Union can constitutionally prohibit the impor­
tation within her borders of slaves as merchan­
dise. Mr. Walker threatened tremendous con­
sequences if  this right should be denied to the 
State—all of which consequences sounded to 
me like argument for the constitutional author­

ity [of  Congress?] to prohibit it in all the States, 
and for the exercise of it.” 19

The lawyers for the other side included 
both Daniel Webster and Henry Clay, “ the Ajax 
and the Achilles of the bar.”20 Clay declared 
that Mississippi could not prohibit the intro­
duction of slaves as merchandise, because only 
Congress has the power to regulate interstate 
commerce. That power, he said, is not “one in 
which the states may participate. It  is exclusive. 
It is essentially so.”  It might appear that Clay’s 
strong assertion of exclusive federal power 

would place him in the company of the radical 
abolitionists, who agreed that Congress pos­
sessed such power, and who wanted Congress 
to use it to outlaw slave trafficking. But Clay 
was quick to squelch any such inference. 

The interstate Commerce Clause of the U.S. 
Constitution, he said, gives to Congress the 
power only “ to regulate commerce, to sustain 
it, not to annihilate it. It is conservative. Reg­
ulation implies continued existence—life, not 
death, preservation, not annihilation, the unob­

structed flow of the stream, not to check or dry 
up its waters. But the object of the abolition­
ists is to prevent the exercise of this commerce. 
This is a violation of the right of congress under

the constitution.”  Clay thus rendered the inter­
state slave trade invulnerable. States could not 
attack it because the federal government pos­
sessed exclusive power over it. But the federal 
government could not attack it either, because 
Congress had power only to promote rather 
than inhibit slave trading.21

Clay claimed that the lawyers for the other 
side, in defending the right of Mississippi to 
prohibit the entry of slaves for sale, were “on 
the abolition side of the question.”  Here Clay 
deliberately misrepresented abolitionist views. 
It was perhaps true that some abolitionists 
might have mistakenly taken Mississippi’s ban 
on the entry of slaves for sale to be an anti­
slavery measure, and therefore welcomed it, 
without thinking about the constitutional is­

sues that the measure raised. But Clay knew 
perfectly well that abolitionists argued for the 
supremacy of federal rather than state author­

ity over the interstate slave trade. Indeed, Clay 
himself had implied as much when he said 
that the object of the abolitionists was “ to pre­
vent the exercise” of that particular kind of 
commerce. Abolitionists agreed with Clay’s 
argument that the federal commerce power 
was exclusive. But abolitionists vehemently 
rejected Clay’s contention that the authority 
of Congress over the interstate slave trade 
could be used only to sustain that trade and 
not to annihilate it. For the annihilation of 

the interstate slave trade by act of Congress 
was precisely what the abolitionists were 
seeking.22

Webster seconded Clay’s claim that the na­
tional government could not use the Commerce 
Clause to attack the domestic slave trade, nor 
could states interfere with it. At the time the 
Constitution was adopted, Webster said, slav­
ery existed in the majority of the states, and the 
Constitution recognized the validity of slave 
property by requiring the return of fugitives. 

Therefore, “ the protection of this right of prop­
erty in the intercourse between the states, be­
came a duty under the constitution.” Slaves 
are articles of commerce and do fall within
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the fe de ral co m m e rce p o we r, bu t that p o we r 

canno t be u s e d to de p rive s lave ho lde rs o f the ir 
p ro p e rty r ights . A s tate has the r ight to abo l­
is h s lave ry . Bu t s o lo ng as a s tate co ntinu e s 
to recognize slaves as property, the state can­
not prohibit slave-trading. “ If  the right in states 
recognising slavery exists, to prohibit trading 
in them, it will  allow non-intercourse between 
the states of the Union by the legislative enact­
ments of the states; and will  authorize retalia­
tion. This is negatived by the decision of this 
Court in Gibbons v. Ogden; and the question 
is closed.” 23

Despite the fact that UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG roves v. Slaughter 
confronted the Court squarely with the ques­
tion of the status of the interstate slave trade 

under the Commerce Clause, the Court once 
again avoided making any official determina­
tion upon the crucial issues of exactly what 
Congress could or could not do, and of what 
states could or could not do. That happened not 
because the Justices did not have strong opin­
ions on the subject, but because their views 
were so diverse as to make agreement impos­
sible. The official opinion of the Court fo­

cused entirely upon a technicality that had been 
disputed in the case: Was the clause of the 

Mississippi constitution self-executing, or was 
it ineffectual until it was implemented by an act 
of the state legislature? Slaughter’s lawyers had 
argued that legislation was required. In reply, 

the attorneys for the other side had made the 
seemingly cogent point that if  legislation was 
required, then it could be refused, and if  it 
could be refused, then “we have that actually 
done, which the words of the constitution for­
bid to be done.” But the Court accepted the 
view that the constitutional clause was not self­
executing. It did so because, in the words of 
Justice Smith Thompson, who delivered the 
official opinion of the Court, “ this view of the 
case makes it unnecessary to inquire whether 

this article in the constitution of Mississippi 

is repugnant to the constitution of the United 
States; and indeed, such inquiry is not prop­
erly in the case, as the decision has been placed 
entirely upon the construction of the constitu-ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

In his opinion for the Court in Groves v. Slaughter, 
Justice Smith Thompson (above) evaded the issue of 
how much power the states versus the federal gov­
ernment had in regulating the slave trade. But Jus­
tice John McLean followed with a concurring opinion 
firmly stating that Congress had no power to regulate 
“slave trafficking” (below) and that the power rested 
with the states. The other Justices all felt compelled 
to chime in with statements and concurrences that 
further muddied the waters.

tion of Mississippi.” Four years earlier, in his 
concurring opinion inM iln , Thompson had de­
clared that the states could exercise a concur­
rent power over commerce so long as they did 
not come into conflict with a federal law. Now 

he suppressed that personal view in order to 
enunciate the only thing that a majority of the 
Court could agree upon, which was that the 

clause in the Mississippi constitution was not 
self-executing.24

No sooner had Thompson finished read­
ing his terse ruling than his colleague John 
McLean kicked open a hornets’ nest by ad­
dressing head-on the explosive issue that the
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Co u rt’s majority had contrived to evade. To 
the evident surprise of the other Justices,25 

McLean read out a concurring opinion in 
which he declared that although it was “not 
necessary to a decision of the case”  at hand, he 
nevertheless wished to make clear his own con­
viction that Congress had no power to regulate 
“ the transfer and sale of slaves from one state 
to another.”  Congress could not interfere with 
slave trafficking, McLean said, because “ the 
constitution acts upon slaves as persons, and 
not as property.”  Because it was only state and 
not federal law that made slaves property, only 
the states have power over slavery, “and the 
transfer or sale of slaves cannot be separated 
from this power. It is, indeed, an essential part 
of it.” McLean defended state authority over 
the slave trade in terms that seemingly went 
beyond even the broad boundaries of state po­
lice power. “Each state,”  he said, “has a right to 
protect itself against the avarice and intrusion 
of the slave-dealer; to guard its citizens against 
the inconveniences and dangers of a slave pop­
ulation. The right to exercise this power, by a 
state, is higher and deeper than the constitu­
tion. The evil involves the prosperity, and may 
endanger the existence of a state. Its power to 
guard against, or to remedy the evil, rests upon 
the law of self-preservation; a law vital to ev­
ery community, and especially to a sovereign 
state.” 26

Stung by McLean’s boldness, his col­
leagues swatted about in various directions. 
Chief Justice Taney, while declining to present 
any argument to sustain his position, stated 
his belief that the slave trade was exclusively 
under the control of the states, “and the ac­
tion of the several states upon this subject 
cannot be controlled by congress, either by 

virtue of its power to regulate commerce, or 
by virtue of any power conferred by the con­
stitution of the United States.” Justice Henry 
Baldwin disagreed with McLean’s notion that 
the Constitution treats slaves only as persons. 
If  states recognize slaves as property, Baldwin 
said, then “ they become the subjects of com­
merce between the states which so recognize

them, and the traffic in them may be regulated 

by congress, as the traffic in other articles; 
but no further.” He went on to say, however, 
that because property rights are protected by 
the Fifth Amendment, Congress can only fa­
cilitate rather than inhibit the interstate slave 
trade. Thus Congress has the power to prevent 
states from infringing upon the right of citizens 
to transfer their slave property from one state 

to another for sale. “Such transit of property, 
whether of slaves or bales of goods, is law­
ful commerce among the several states, which 
none can prohibit or regulate, which the consti­

tution protects, and congress may, and ought, 
to preserve from any violation.” 27

To add to the confusion, the official re­
port of the case contains, in between the opin­
ions of Taney and Baldwin, the statement that 
Justices Story, Thompson, James Wayne, and 
John McKinley “concurred with the majority 
of the Court in opinion, that the provision of the 
constitution of the United States, which gives 
the regulation of commerce to congress, did 
not interfere with the provision of the consti­
tution of the state of Mississippi, which re­
lates to the introduction of slaves, as merchan­
dize, or for sale.”28 Presumably the four judges 
asked the official reporter to insert that pecu­
liar statement. Thompson apparently wanted to 
be included, even though he had earlier ruled, 
speaking for the majority, that the issue was 
not to be addressed. McLean and Taney per­
haps did not join in the statement because each 
of them had already stated independently his 

view of the matter. Thus all but one of the seven 
Justices who participated in the case agreed 
that a state could enact a regulation of the sort 
Mississippi had attempted, although there was 
no consensus among them as to whether the 

constitutional justification for such state ac­
tion was state police power, concurrent power 
over interstate commerce, or even (in the case 
of McLean) a supraconstitutional right of self- 
preservation. The only dissenter was Baldwin, 
who believed that although a state might legit­
imately use its police power to prohibit UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa ll  im­
portation of slaves, it could not, as Mississippi
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had tr ie d to do , allo w its o wn citizens to import 
slaves while forbidding the citizens of other 
states to come in and sell slaves. To discrim­
inate against the slave traders of other states, 
Baldwin thought, was to infringe upon the fed­
eral commerce power.29

Whether the federal government could use 
its commerce power to inhibit the interstate 
slave trade had not been at issue in the case, yet 
three of the Justices had nevertheless seen fit  to 
say that in their view it could not. Taney made 
that assertion but did not attempt to justify it. 
McLean said it was because the Constitution 
bore upon slaves only as persons. Baldwin said 
that Congress could use the commerce power 
only to facilitate the slave trade because curb­
ing it would interfere with property rights. The 
other four Justices were silent on the issue. 
Having their objective attacked by three judges 
and supported by none obviously offered no 
encouragement to the abolitionists to pursue 
their campaign for federal suppression of the 
interstate slave trade. But they could console 
themselves with the fact that the question still 
had not been ruled upon officially. It remained 
in legal limbo.

Unlike UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG roves v. Slaughter, the P assenger 

C ases (1849) did not directly involve slavery. 
Rather, they concerned a new round of state 
attempts to regulate immigration. Thus, they 
revisited the issues that had been addressed in 

M iln , including the vexed topic of the com­
merce power, with all of its implications for 
control of the interstate slave trade. By this 
time, abolitionist agitation had made a consid­
erable impact upon northern public opinion. To 
be sure, only a tiny minority of northerners had 
actually embraced radical abolitionism, with 
its call (in principle, at least) for the immedi­
ate, uncompensated emancipation of all slaves. 
But more and more northerners were becom­
ing restive over what they saw as southern de­

termination to dominate the national govern­
ment and to compel the free states to cooperate 
with the slave states in shoring up the latter’s 
disagreeable labor system. Consequently, the 
sense of comity between the free and the slave

states was coming unglued. Northern states 
were increasingly reluctant either to return run­
away slaves or to assist the South in prose­
cuting anyone who had helped them to escape 
from bondage. In the late 1830s, the gover­

nors of Maine and New York refused to ex­
tradite individuals who had been indicted for 
“kidnapping” slaves in Georgia and Virginia. 
In the early 1840s, both South Carolina and 
Virginia passed laws restricting the departure 
from their port cities of slaves on ships, espe­
cially ships that had come from New York. If  
the Supreme Court should ever rule that the 
federal commerce power was exclusive, thus 
voiding all state actions encroaching upon it, 
what would become of such laws? “ In the name 

of Heaven,” exclaimed a Virginia newspaper, 
“what power would the States have of protect­
ing the lives and property of their own citizens, 
if  this sweeping power of Commerce were ad­

mitted? ... What becomes of the power to keep 
the citizens of New York from stealing our 
property and refusing to give it up or those 
who stole it, if  we cannot pass such a bill as 
may authorize us to search their vessels, or to 
demand bond and security for the indemnity of 
masters, whose slaves may be stolen, by every 
kidnapper?” 30

Equally at peril was South Carolina’s 

Negro Seamen’s Act, still in force despite 
its denunciation in 1823 by Justice Johnson 

and now paralleled by similar statutes in 
North Carolina, Georgia, Florida, Alabama, 
and Mississippi. In 1844, Massachusetts 

sent distinguished reformer Samuel Hoar to 
Charleston to launch a test case challenging the 
Negro Seamen’s Act. He had no sooner arrived 
than the South Carolina legislature passed a 
resolution calling for his expulsion, and reports 
of a gathering mob forced him to flee for his 
life. Finally, as if  all of that were not enough, 
the conclusion of the Mexican War in 1846 

unleashed an acrimonious debate in Congress 
over whether slavery would be allowed to ex­
pand into the newly acquired territories in the 

West. In the highly charged atmosphere of the 
late 1840s, it was inevitable that both counsel
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and judges would be even more acutely con­
scious of the slavery entanglements that threat­
ened to engulf them whenever they grappled 

with the commerce power.31

The two legal disputes that the Supreme 
Court considered collectively as the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP assenger 
C ases were first placed on the Court’s docket in 
1843 and 1844, respectively. One of the cases 
arose from an attempt by the state of New York 
to support a marine hospital by levying a tax 
on incoming passengers, both those arriving 
from abroad and those landing from coastal 

vessels. The other case stemmed from a Mas­
sachusetts statute taxing all arriving passen­
gers in order to provide a fund for the sup­
port of foreign-born paupers. Partly because 
of vacancies and absences on the Court and 
partly because the Justices were, according to 
Daniel Webster, “divided and puzzled,” 32 each 

of the two cases was heard three times. Only 
a partial record survives of the many argu­
ments that were presented. The attorneys de­
fending the state laws claimed that they were 
legitimate exercises of state police power. If  
the laws should be struck down, one of themZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

In his last argument before the Supreme Court, 
an aging Daniel Webster (pictured) called upon the 
Supreme Court in the Passenger Cases to uphold the 

federal commerce power by striking down the state 
laws that encroached upon it.

warned, then the numerous laws of both free 
and slave states relating to the entry of both 
slaves and free blacks would be unsustainable. 
Slaves, after all, “are held and treated as prop­

erty, being bought and sold like merchandise,”  
whereas immigrant paupers “ in no respect be­
long to trade, traffic, or commerce.” There­
fore, “ if  the law of Massachusetts [relating to 
paupers] comes within the wide grasp of the 
commercial power of the United States ... how 
are such laws [relating to slaves] to escape? 
How have they escaped hitherto?”  Another of 
the lawyers—John Van Buren, son of Martin 
Van Buren and a rising star in the Democratic 
party—said in his defense of the New York 
law that states had concurrent power over com­
merce, and claimed that the Supreme Court 
had admitted as much when it held in G roves 
v. Slaughter “ that the right to admit slaves from 

other States into Mississippi, or to forbid them 
to enter, rested exclusively with that State, and 

was unaffected by the authority of Congress to 
regulate commerce among the States.” 33

The attorneys for the other side contended 
that the federal power over commerce was ex­
clusive. Believing (correctly, as it turned out) 

that he was making his last great defense of fed­
eral power before the Supreme Court, an aging 
Daniel Webster donned a blue coat over a buff 
vest with brass buttons, the same garb that he 
had sported in the Senate in 1830 when he de­
livered the greatest speech of his life, uphold­
ing the federal union as one and inseparable.34 
Now Webster called upon the Court to up­

hold the federal commerce power by striking 
down the state laws that encroached upon it. 
Only too aware of the states-rights tendencies 
of the Taney Court, Webster was pessimistic 
about his prospects for success, saying in a 
private letter that he had presented his argu­
ment “under great discouragements and evil 
auspices.” Still, he believed that the Court’s 
judgment in the case would be “more important 
to the country than any decision since that in 
the steamboat cause. That was one of my earli­

est arguments of a constitutional question. This 
will  probably be and I am content it should be
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m y las t.... Whatever I may think of the ability 
of my argument, and I do not think highly of 
it, I yet feel pleasure in reflecting that I have 
held on and held out to the end.” 35

The counsel for the two sides wrangled 
also over the meaning of the 1808 Clause 

of the Constitution. Webster’s opponents con­
tended that although the clause gave Congress 
the right to control the “migration”  as well as 
the “ importation”  of “persons,” it was never­
theless intended to refer only to slaves being 
brought in from abroad and not to white im­
migrants. The lawyers ignored the possibility 
that if  “migration”  did not refer to white immi­
grants, then maybe it UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAd id refer to slaves being 

transported from one place to another within 
the United States—and thus suggested that 
Congress could prohibit the interstate slave 
trade. Such an interpretation was, of course, 
not congenial to these defenders of states’ 
rights. An attorney allied with Webster, on the 
other hand, said that the words used in the 1808 
Clause indicate that it  was “not restricted to any 
particular class of persons, bond or free, and 
show that the whole power over such importa­
tions is confided to Congress.” 36

The decision of the Court, when at last it 
came, was lengthy and confusing. By a bare 
majority of five to four, the Justices declared 
the laws of both New York and Massachusetts 
to be unconstitutional. But there was no con­
sensus as to w hy the laws were unconstitu­
tional. No fewer than eight out of the nine 

Justices delivered their own opinions, running 
in all to nearly 200 printed pages. The opin­
ions contained such a diversity of views that 
the official reporter was forced to throw up his 
hands and admit that, although a decision had 
been rendered, the legal basis for it could not 
be explicated, for there simply was “no opinion 
of the Court, as a Court.” 37

Justice McLean said that the laws of New 
York and Massachusetts were unconstitutional 

because “a concurrent power in the States to 
regulate commerce is an anomaly not found 
in the Constitution.” In G roves v. Slaughter,

McLean had declared that although the federal 
power over commerce was exclusive, it could 
not be used to ban the interstate slave trade or to 
prevent states from controlling the admission 
of slaves. Now he scoffed at the notion that 
the exclusive federal power might be used to 

force the free states to accept the entry of slaves 
onto their territory. “Does anyone suppose that 
Congress can ever revive the slave trade?,”  he 
asked rhetorically. “And if  this were possible, 
slaves thus introduced would be free.” 38

Justice Wayne said that he and three other 
Justices agreed that the laws in question were 
unconstitutional, but thought that they should 
be declared so because they conflicted with ex­
isting federal laws and treaties, not because the 
federal commerce power was exclusive. Wayne 

added that he himself actually agreed with 
McLean that the federal power w as exclusive, 
but felt there was no need to say so in this case. 
Wayne went on to reassure southerners that the 
federal commerce power, whether exclusive or 
not, could not be used to interfere with slav­
ery. The Constitution, Wayne said, was formed 
by a coalition of free states and slave states. 
That was its foundation, and the 1808 Clause 
and other provisions within it recognized that 
fact. Consequently, “ [t]he Constitution is to be 
interpreted by what was the condition of the 
parties to it when it was formed, by their ob­
ject and purpose in forming it, and the actual 
recognition in it of the dissimilar institutions 
of the States.”  Wayne said explicitly that there 
was no basis for southern fears that the federal 
government could force the slave states to al­
low the entry of free blacks. He might just as 

well have added that his rigorously proslavery 
conception of the Constitution also ruled out 
any possibility of federal tampering with the 
interstate slave trade.39

Justice McKinley, with the support of 
Justice Robert Grier, said that the word 
“migration”  in the 1808 Clause referred to free 

immigrants, as opposed to slaves. Then Grier, 

with the support of Justice John Catron, re­
inforced Wayne’s point that the slave states
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had no thing to fe ar fro m the fe de ral co m­
m e rce p o we r. Any s tate “who s e do m e s tic s e­

cu rity m ight be e ndange re d by the adm is s io n 
o f fre e ne gro e s”  co u ld u s e its p o lice p o we r to 
exclude them, said Grier. “This right of the 
States has its foundation in the sacred law 
of self defence, which no power granted to 
Congress can restrain or annul.” He also re­
marked that the question of whether the fed­
eral commerce power is exclusive “ is one on 
which the majority of this Court have intimated 
different opinions at different times; but it is 
one of little practical importance in the present 
case,” since Congress had acted in this area 

and thus the state laws being disallowed by 
the Court were in actual conflict with federal 
policy.40

Chief Justice Taney, with the support of 
Justice Samuel Nelson, presented a lengthy 
and vigorous dissenting opinion, in which he 
said that the states possess a concurrent power 

over commerce and that they—not Congress— 
have the right to determine what persons are or 
are not to be allowed to enter their domains. To 
suggest the opposite he thought absurd. “ I can­

not,”  he said, “believe that it was ever intended 
to vest in Congress, by the general words in re­
lation to the regulation of commerce, this over­
whelming power over the States.”  The states­
men who created the Constitution were “ too 
wise and too well read in the lessons of his­
tory and of their own time”  to have done such 
a thing, and “ I cannot imagine any power more 
unnecessary to the general government, and at 
the same time more dangerous and full  of peril 
to the States.” Taney also said that the 1808 
Clause, despite its use of the words “migration 

or importation,” referred only to slaves. Be­
cause the founders were unwilling to use the 
word “slaves” in the Constitution, Taney ex­

plained, they referred to slaves as “persons,”  
and having done that, “ they employed a word 
that would describe them as persons, and which 
had uniformly been used when persons were 
spoken of, and also the word which was al­
ways applied to matters of property. The whole

context of the sentence, and its provisions and 
limitations, and the construction given to it by 
those who assisted in framing the clause in 
question, show that it was intended to embrace 

those persons only who were brought in as 
property.” 41

Another dissenter, Justice Peter Daniel, 
made similar points. He too said that the 
states had a concurrent commerce power. 
Daniel recalled that in his opinion in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG roves v. 
Slaughter, Justice Baldwin had defended the 
notion that the federal power was exclusive. 
But Daniel said that Baldwin’s view counted 
for little because it was “a dissent by a single 
judge,”  and still less because it had “asserted 
the extraordinary doctrine that the States of this 
Union can have no power to prohibit the intro­
duction of slaves within their territory when 
carried thither for sale or traffic, because the 
power to regulate commerce is there asserted 
to reside in Congress alone”—which Daniel 
regarded as an “eccentric and startling conclu­
sion.”  Daniel also agreed with Taney about the 
1808 Clause, saying that it “was intended to ap­

ply to the African slave-trade, and to no other 
matter whatever.”42

Finally, Justice Levi Woodbury added his 
voice to the dissenting minority. He thought 
that Taney was likely correct about the mean­
ing of the 1808 Clause, although Woodbury 
left the door open to a slightly wider inter­
pretation. Woodbury said, “The word ‘migra­
tion’ was probably added to ‘ importation’ to 
cover slaves when regarded as persons rather 
than property, as they are for some purposes. 
Or if to cover others, such as convicts or 
redemptioners, it was those only who came 
against their will,  or in a quasi servitude.”  He 
added that under the 1808 Clause, “no author­
ity was conferred on Congress over the domes­
tic slave-trade, either before or since 1808.”  
Woodbury also declared forcefully that the 
states possessed both a concurrent commerce 
power and a broad police power, and there­
fore had an unquestionable right to exclude 
anyone they chose. Since all sovereign states
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co u ld exclude any categories of persons, in­
cluding “cargoes of shackled slaves,”  he said, 
the American states could, if  they chose, ex­
clude emigrants “only when slaves, or, what is 

still more common in America, in Free States 
as well as Slave States, exclude colored em­
igrants, though free.” Woodbury concluded 
with a warning and a final rhetorical flourish: 
“A course of harshness towards the States by 

the general government,” one that interferes 
with their “domestic policies in doubtful cases, 
and this by mere implied power,”  would “ tend 
ultimately, no less than disastrously, to dissolve 
the bonds of that Union so useful and glorious 
to all concerned. ‘Libertas ultima mundi, Quo 
steterit, ferienda loco.’”43

The Justices had expressed such disparate 
views that nobody then or since has been able 
to make any overall sense of them. Humpty 
Dumpty had taken a flying leap off the wall, 
and his shattered pieces could not be fitted 
together into a recognizable whole. Only one 
thing was clear: the Court majority had struck 
down the immigration laws of New York and 
Massachusetts as unconstitutional. But that 
fact alone was enough to inflame southern 
opinion. For if  the two northern states could 
not control the entry of immigrants into their 
port cities, then how could any of the south­
ern states be sure of their own power to control 
the entry of slaves or free blacks? “ If  we cor­
rectly understand the points decided,”  cried the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
C harleston M ercury, “ they sweep away our in­

spection laws enacted to prevent the abduction 
of our slaves in Northern vessels. They sweep 
away also all our laws enacted to prevent free 

colored persons—citizens of Massachusetts— 
or whatever abolition region, from entering our 
ports and cities. Thus it seems as if  the Union 
is to be so administered as to strip the South of 
all power of self-protection and to make sub­
mission to its rule equivalent to ruin and degra­
dation.”  Actually, of course, the M ercury did 
not correctly understand the points decided, for 
there were none. And the notion that any south­
ern laws had been swept away was ridiculously 
alarmist, as the judges had been at pains to

signal that nothing of the sort was going to 
happen. Even McLean and Wayne, the only 

two Justices who had declared that the federal 
commerce power was exclusive, had nonethe­
less also made it equally clear that states had 

a right to control the entry or non-entry of 
slaves and free blacks, and that the federal gov­
ernment could not use its commerce power to 
interfere.44

Given the doctrinal anarchy of the 
P assenger C ases decision, it seems astonish­
ing that only three years later a Court made 
up—with just one exception—of the same men 
who had produced that dog’s breakfast issued 
a decision in which a solid majority was able 

to agree not only upon the outcome of a com­
merce case but also upon the doctrinal basis for 
it. In C ooley v. B oard of W ardens of the P ort 
of P hiladelph ia (1852), the Court upheld the 
constitutionality of a Pennsylvania law that re­
quired vessels entering the port of Philadelphia 
either to hire local pilots or to make a compen­
satory payment. The newcomer to the Court, 

Justice Benjamin R. Curtis, pulled off  the near 
miracle of persuading five of his colleagues to 
join him in a majority decision that provided, 

at last, an official ruling on the perennial ques­
tion of whether the interstate commerce power 
was exclusively federal or was concurrent with 
the states. Curtis’s solution was to have it both 
ways: He said that some commerce matters 
called for exclusive federal power and others 
did not. “Whatever subjects of this power are in 
their nature national, or admit of only one uni­
form system, or plan of regulation, may justly 
be said to be of such a nature as to require ex­
clusive legislation by Congress,”  he explained. 
Other commerce matters, such as the hiring of 
harbor pilots, were essentially local in charac­
ter, and therefore in those areas the states could 
exercise a concurrent authority. Not surpris­
ingly, Justices McLean and Wayne dissented 
from the majority and clung to their view of 

the federal commerce power as exclusive, full  
stop.45

Although the C ooley decision appeared to 
be an improvement over the P assenger C ases,
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it re ally was no t, fo r it m e re ly re p lace d o ne  
u nans we re d question with another one. Previ­
ously the question had been: Is the commerce 
power exclusive to the federal government, or 

do the states possess a concurrent power? The 
answer provided by UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC ooley was that federal 
power is exclusive over matters that are inher­

ently national, but that states have a concurrent 
power over matters that are inherently local. 
But now a new question arose that was scarcely 
less troubling than the one that had been an­
swered: How can we differentiate the matters 
that are inherently national from those that are 
local? C ooley provided no answer, aside from 
saying that pilotage belonged to the latter cate­
gory. From the point of view of both defenders 
and opponents of the domestic slave trade, the 
Court had settled nothing. For who could say 
for certain whether interstate slave trading was 

of a national or a local character? And even if  
there were some magical way to separate all 
national from all local concerns, neither side 
in the slavery debate would have been satisfied, 
for neither side was consistent in its demands. 
Both sides favored states’ rights when it suited 
them, but both also had no hesitation in opting 
for national power when it was advantageous 
to their cause. Thus, for example, proslavery 
spokesmen always insisted that slave trading 
was a local matter that the federal government 
must not touch. Yet those same spokesmen 
were all in favor of a vigorous enforcement 

of the federal Fugitive Slave Act, so as to co­
erce the free states into yielding up the men 
and women who had managed to shed their 
chains and follow the drinking gourd north­
ward to freedom. Abolitionists, on the other 
hand, did everything they could to defy and 
defeat the Fugitive Slave Law, which they de­
nounced as an unconstitutional abuse of states’ 
rights as well as human rights. Yet those same 
abolitionists continued to insist that the federal 
government had both the right and the duty to 
abolish the interstate slave trade.

The struggle over slavery and the slave 
trade entered its climactic phase in the 1850s. 

The decade began auspiciously with a com­

promise agreement between the North and the 
South on what to do with the lands seized 
from Mexico. Yet while the Compromise of 
1850 quieted for the moment the quarrel over 
the territories, it contained two provisions that 
worsened rather than eased the sectional con­
flict. First, a new and draconian federal fugitive 

slave law delighted proslavery southerners but 
outraged antislavery northerners. Second, the 
prohibition of commercial slave-trafficking in 
Washington, D.C. applied a cosmetic balm 
to northern sensibility over that ugly spec­

tacle but provoked southern anxiety that it 
might be a first step towards the suppression 
of the entire interstate slave trade. In 1852, 
Harriet Beecher Stowe’s best-selling novel, 
U n cle T o m ’s C a b in , brought home to hun­
dreds of thousands of northern readers the 

cruel separation of slave families that was 
endemic to that trade. In 1854, the Kansas- 
Nebraska Act reopened the toxic conflict over 
whether slavery should be allowed in the 
territories.

When the Taney Court declared in D red 
Scott v. Sandford (1857) that Congress did 
not have the constitutional power to ban slav­
ery in the territories, even the most moder­

ate opponents of slavery were horrified. There 
was, however, another aspect to the D red Scott 
decision that was important at the time but 
is less remembered today: the fact that most 
of the majority Justices grounded their rul­
ing upon an extreme defense of the property 
rights of slaveholders. In the official opinion 

of the Court, Chief Justice Taney said that 
for Congress to prohibit slavery in a territory 
was to violate the Fifth Amendment guaran­
tee that a citizen could not be deprived of 
property without due process of law. “An act 
of Congress which deprives a citizen of the 
United States of his liberty or property, merely 
because he came himself or brought his prop­
erty into a particular Territory of the United 
States, and who had committed no offence 
against the laws, could hardly be dignified with 

the name of due process of law,” Taney de­
clared. The fallacy in Taney’s reasoning here
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is o bvio u s . If  Co ngre s s has o u tlawe d s lave ry 
in a te rr ito ry , the n the s lave ho lde rs o f who m 
he s p e aks UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAhave co m m itte d an o ffe ns e agains t 
the law. Therefore, the loss of their property 
does come about through due process of law. 
Of course Taney denies that because he holds 
that the law in question is unconstitutional. But 
why is it unconstitutional? Well, Taney says, it 
is unconstitutional because it takes property 
away from slaveholders who have committed 
no offense. Taney’s reasoning is circular. He 
says the moon is made of green cheese be­
cause the Constitution says so. And he says 
the Constitution says so because the moon is 
made of green cheese. Taney added that the 
only power conferred by the Constitution upon 

the federal government with regard to slave 
property was “ the power coupled with the duty 
of guarding and protecting the owner in his 

rights.” 46
Justices Wayne and Grier concurred fully  

with Taney. Justice Daniel stressed property

rights even more strongly, saying that “ the only 
private property which the Constitution has 
specifica lly recogn ised, and has imposed it as 
a direct obligation both on the States and the 
Federal Government to protect and enforce, is 
the property of the master in his slave; no other 
right of property is placed by the Constitution 
upon the same high ground, nor shielded by a 
similar guaranty.”  Justice John Campbell (the 
only newcomer to the Court since the C ooley 
case) claimed that it was already a “settled 
doctrine” of the Court that the federal gov­
ernment “can exercise no power over the sub­
ject of slavery within the States, nor control 
the intermigration of slaves, other than fugi­
tives, among the States.” Whatever state law 
makes property, Campbell said, must be rec­
ognized as property by the federal government 
in all areas within its jurisdiction. Therefore, 

“wherever a master is entitled to go within 
the United States, his slaves may accompany 
him, without any impediment from, or fear of,
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In Dred Scott u. Sandford (1857), Justice John Catron 
of Tennessee (pictured) held that the Louisiana Pur­
chase treaty had guaranteed equal rights to all set­
tlers, including slaveholders, who may not be denied 
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Co ngre s s io nal le gis latio n o r inte rfe re nce .”47 
Thus, five Justices—a majority of the Court’s 
members—explicitly affirmed that Congress 
could not ban slavery from a territory because 
to do so was to violate property rights.

The other four Justices disagreed. Justice 
Catron concurred with the majority’s decision, 
but not with their reasoning. Catron held that 

the Louisiana Purchase treaty had guaranteed 
equal rights to all settlers, including slave­
holders. He also said that because Article IV, 
Section 2, Clause 1 of the Constitution de­
clares that the citizens of each state are en­
titled to the privileges and immunities of cit­
izens in the several states, slaveholders may 
not be denied their equal enjoyment of the 
territories.48 Justices Curtis and McLean wrote 
vigorous dissents. Yet even as McLean upheld 
the right of Congress to ban slavery in the ter­
ritories, he reiterated his denial that Congress

could ban the interstate slave trade. McLean 
said (inaccurately) that in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG roves v. Slaughter, 

“Messrs. Clay and Webster contended that, un­
der the commercial power, Congress had a 
right to regulate the slave trade among the sev­
eral States; but the Court held that Congress 
had no power to interfere with slavery as it ex­
ists in the States, or to regulate what is called 
the slave trade among them. If  this trade were 
subject to the commercial power, it would fol­
low that Congress could abolish or establish 
slavery in every State of the Union.”49 The 
ninth Justice, Samuel Nelson, did not address 
the great issues that so preoccupied his col­
leagues. Instead, he simply upheld the earlier 
ruling by the U.S. District Court that Dred Scott 
was not free.50

The Court majority’s extreme solicitude 
for the property rights of slaveholders was bad 
news for the radical advocates of a ban on 
the interstate slave trade, whose cause obvi­
ously stood no chance before a Court so doc­
trinaire about the sanctity of slave property. 
It was also disquieting to the far more numer­
ous antislavery moderates, who now wondered 
how far the Court majority might push its doc­
trine. Abraham Lincoln, for one, predicted that 
in some future case the Court would rule that 
no state could exclude slavery. “We shall lie 
down pleasantly dreaming that the people of 
Missouri are on the verge of making their State 
free,” Lincoln said, “and we shall awake to 
the reality instead, that the Supreme Court has 
made Illinois a slave State.”  After all, Lincoln 
explained, if, as the Taney Court had avowed, 
“ the right of property in a slave is distinctly 
and expressly affirmed in the Constitution,”  
then it followed that “nothing in the Constitu­
tion or laws of any State can destroy the right 
of property in a slave.” 51

That Taney and his colleagues would have 
dared to try to transform the free states into 
full-fledged slave states is scarcely believ­
able. But it is not far-fetched to surmise that 
the Court’s extreme commitment to property 
rights in slaves might have led it to make
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The author argues that if the Justices of the Taney Court had at any point been asked to render a formal ruling 
on the question, they would have been unanimous in holding that Congress did not possess the authority to 
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inro ads in that dire ctio n. The Court might, 
for example, have established a constitutional 
right of transit for slaveowners wishing to tra­
verse a free state along with their human chat­
tels. A case that could have provided the con­
text for just such a ruling was, in fact, in 
the pipeline. In 1852, the courts of New York 

State had freed eight slaves belonging to Mr. 
and Mrs. Jonathan Lemmon, who had brought 
them from Virginia to New York City in order 
to board a steamer for New Orleans. The re­
sulting case of UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBALem m on v. the P eople52 (1860) 
was headed for the Supreme Court on appeal. 
Charles Sumner, Salmon Chase, and Horace 

Greeley all predicted that if  the Democrats won 
the presidency in 1860, then the Taney Court 

would use this case to force the introduction

of slavery into the free states. The Democrats 
did not win the presidency, however, and the 
Lem m on case was overtaken by events, as the 
nation spiraled into the maelstrom of secession 
and civil war.53

Throughout the antebellum decades, the 

Supreme Court never made a definitive ruling 
as to whether or not Congress could interfere 
with the interstate slave trade. At first, under 
the wise leadership of John Marshall, it did not 
do so because Marshall realized that it would 
be foolhardy to ignite southern public opinion 
over so inflammatory an issue. Later, under 
the lesser genius of Roger B. Taney, it did not 
do so primarily because of doctrinal disagree­
ments among the judges. If  they had issued a 
formal ruling on the question at any point, it



THE SUPREME COURT AND  THE INTERSTATE SLAVE  TRADE 251zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

ap p e ars alm o s t ce rtain that the Ju s tice s who 
s e rve d u nde r Taney would have been unani­
mous in holding that Congress did not possess 

the constitutional authority to abolish the inter­
state slave trade. Not a single Justice had ever 
stated it to be his belief that Congress did have 

such power, whereas eight of them had made 
evident their personal conviction that it did not. 
Five of the eight (McLean, Taney, Baldwin, 
Woodbury, and Campbell) had said explicitly 
that Congress could not interfere with the slave 
trade, and the other three (Wayne, McKinley, 
and Grier) had made remarks carrying such a 
strong implication to that effect as to make their 

stance unmistakable. The Justices would not 
have been unanimous in their legal reasoning 

as to UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAw hy the interstate Commerce Clause did 
not give Congress the power to halt the slave 
trade. But by the time of the D red Scott deci­
sion, a majority of them had coalesced around 
a doctrine that held that the right to property 
in slaves was constitutionally sacrosanct and 
untouchable.

In its zeal to prevent the struggle over 
slavery from threatening the unity of the na­
tion, the Taney Court rashly sought in D red 
Scott to resolve by judicial fiat the ambiguous 
constitutional legacy of the founding fathers. 
To the founders, the long-term fate of slav­
ery in the republic was a question left open 
for political resolution by future generations. 

To Taney and his like-minded associates, the 
question was now closed. Slavery and the in­
terstate slave trade were safe behind the bul­
wark of such a Court as this. But even Justices 
of the Supreme Court are not immortal. The 
character of the Court changes as vacancies 

occur and new judges are appointed. By 1860, 
a great political party had arisen in the North 
that was openly hostile to slavery and the slave 
trade. A man who had denounced the D red 
Scott decision and called for it to be reversed 

had been elected to the presidency. It was 
Abraham Lincoln who would be proposing any 
new Justices to join the Court. How safe was 
the interstate slave trade now? The South’s an­

swer to that question is part of the explanation 
for the nation’s declension into bloodshed and 
horror.
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Confiscation in the Reconstruction 

Supreme CourtZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

D A N IE L  W . H A M IL T O N * zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

During the Civil  War, both the Union Congress and the Confederate Congress put in place 
sweeping confiscation programs designed to seize the private property of enemy citizens on a 
massive scale. Meeting in special session in August 1861, the U.S. Congress passed the First 
Confiscation Act, authorizing the federal government to seize the property of those participating 

directly in the rebellion.1 The Confederate Congress retaliated on August 30, 1861, passing the 
Sequestration Act.2 This law authorized the Confederate government to forever seize the real 
and personal property of “alien enemies,”  a term that included every U.S. citizen and all those 

living in the Confederacy who remained loyal to the Union.

Ten months later, in July 1862, the U.S. 
Congress passed the much broader Second 
Confiscation Act.3 This expansive law per­
mitted the Union government to seize all the 
real and personal property of anyone taking up 
arms against the government, anyone aiding 
the rebellion directly, or anyone offering aid or 
comfort to the rebellion. This effectively meant 
the U.S could legally seize all the property of 

all those who recognized and supported the le­
gitimacy of the Confederacy.

The Civil War represented the second 
great American experiment with broad leg­

islative confiscation during wartime, after the 
American Revolution.4 The Civil  War is justly

described as America’s second revolution.5 Yet 
the nineteenth-century experience with con­
fiscation reveals the extent to which, when 
it came to the relationship of property and 
the state, the country had changed from the 
first revolution to the second. The outcomes 

of these two wartime experiments with con­
fiscation were nearly opposite. Revolutionary 
confiscation was marked by the quick, deci­
sive, vigorous pursuit of disloyal property. A 
great deal of Loyalist property was seized for­
ever, without compensation or recourse to the 
courts.

Eighty years later, confiscation met quite 
a different fate. During the Civil War, the
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Re vo lu tio nary co nce p tio n o f s o ve re ignty 
fo u nd its fu lle s t expression only in the los­
ing section. The Confederacy quickly put in 

place an effective confiscation program, de­
signed to seize U.S. property, that was every 
bit as zealous as any pursued during the Rev­
olution. Yet in the wake of Confederate de­
feat, this broad assertion of legislative power 
was quickly reversed. After the war, the Con­
federate confiscation program was completely 
dismantled. Soon after victory, the Union nul­
lified almost all the public laws of the Confed­
eracy, including sequestration. From the point 
of view of American law after the Civil War, 
it was quite literally as if  the Confederate Se­
questration Act had never existed. The seizure 

of millions of dollars of U.S. property by the 
Confederacy was meaningless and had never, 
in the eyes of the law, taken place.

If  Confederate sequestration was marked 
by vigor, Union confiscation was marked by 
an agonized, intractable, ideological impasse. 
Union confiscation defied legislative consen­
sus and mostly failed in practice as a result. The 
language of the Acts contained confusing, even 
contradictory instructions, which made their 
enforcement immensely difficult, if  not virtu­
ally impossible. Relatively little property was 
actually confiscated, and the Second Confisca­
tion Act was more or less ignored by Lincoln 
and the executive branch during the war before 
languishing in the federal courts for decades 

afterwards.
Once confiscation ceased to be politi­

cally viable, it did not simply vanish. Instead, 
it remained a fixture in American property 
law for fifty years. Even as the executive 
branch ceased to confiscate property, the fed­
eral courts were beginning to consider the vital 
legal and constitutional issues raised by con­
fiscation. These questions included many that 
the Supreme Court had not faced in seventy- 
five years, or had never faced. Was permanent, 
uncompensated property confiscation for dis­
loyalty a legitimate power of Congress? Did 
a presidential pardon mandate the return of

already-confiscated property? Who had title 
to confiscated land, and how should it be 

treated in the marketplace? What was the le­
gal and constitutional status of the Confeder­
ate Sequestration Act and property seized un­
der the Act? The Supreme Court had never 
been asked these fundamental legal questions. 
Its answers to them had profound implications 
both for property law and for conceptions of 
property that fought for dominance after the 
Civil  War.

The longevity of confiscation prompts re­
consideration of the law’s ultimate signifi­
cance and takes the focus off  President Andrew 
Johnson as the near-exclusive dismantler of 
the legislation. Attention to the treatment of 
confiscation in the federal courts, particularly 
the Supreme Court, after the Civil  War reveals 
a much longer, richer lifespan for confisca­

tion than historians have generally recognized. 
Confiscation lived on as an important issue for 
decades after the war and was not entirely put 
to rest until the twentieth century. This essay 
traces the Supreme Court’s interpretation of 
confiscation and its implications for property 
law and constitutional law in the immediate 
wake of the Civil  War and for several decades 
afterwards.

In case after case in the decades after the 
war, the Supreme Court used legal questions 
arising out of the confiscation acts to limit  the 
power of the federal government over prop­
erty and to argue for the sanctity of individ­
ual property rights. The Court was divided at 
points, but proponents of a broad confiscatory 
power were normally in the minority. Confis­
cation faded as a possibility after the war not 
solely due to the intransigence of the chief ex­
ecutive, but also because the Supreme Court— 
in particular Justice Stephen Field—chipped 
away at the power of the state to confiscate 
property on a broad scale. Confiscation cases 
served the Supreme Court as vehicles for the 
elaboration of a property ideology steeped in 

the natural rights of individuals protected at 
the expense of sovereign power. Field was
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able , fo r the m o s t p art, to u s e major confis­
cation cases as opportunities to press for a 
liberal understanding of property rights and 

their place in the Constitution.
The power to confiscate property entered 

the nineteenth century as a controversial prac­
tice of legislatures as a punishment for disloy­
alty. It left the nineteenth century as a relic, 
enforceable only by courts. Confiscation at 
century’s end seemed almost quaint, a rem­
nant of Revolutionary republican fervor nearly 

out of place at mid-century and badly anachro­
nistic in the midst of an industrial revolution. 
Yet confiscation was not charming to its radi­
cal proponents seeking to refashion the South, 
or to President Lincoln fearing the same, or 
to congressional conservatives fearing a legal­
ized land grab as a consequence of the Civil  
War. The Supreme Court was able to accom­
plish what no other institutional actor could on 
confiscation. It stripped confiscation, through 
a thousand cuts, of both its menace and its 

appeal.
The Supreme Court underwent a dra­

matic change in leadership after Chief Jus­
tice Roger Taney died on October 12, 1864.6 

Taney, who had served for twenty-eight years, 
was by that time so despised by Republicans 
for his opinion in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red Scott v. Sandford that 
Congress refused to place a bust of him in 
the Court’s chambers in the Capitol.7 Radical 
Republican Salmon P. Chase, Lincoln’s Sec­
retary of the Treasury, replaced Taney on 
December 15. In 1863 Congress had created 
a tenth judicial circuit and increased the num­

ber of Justices to ten. It then reduced the 
number of Justices to six in 1866 before re­
turning it to nine in 1869. Chase was one 
of five Lincoln appointees to the high Court; 
the others included Noah Swayne, Samuel 

Miller,  David Davis, and—most importantly— 
Stephen Field. President Grant made a remark­
able eight appointments to the Supreme Court. 
Only four ultimately served, of whom the 
most important were William Strong, Joseph 
P. Bradley, and Morrison Waite, who replaced

Chase as Chief Justice after only eight years in 
1874.8

The Longevity of Confiscation: BeyondZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Tragedy and Vengeance

Generally, leading studies of confiscation have 
followed it only to the end of its enforcement, 
ignoring its significant afterlife in the Supreme 
Court. The demise of confiscation has been 

treated either as a judicious response to Radical 
Republican vengeance or as a tragic missed op­
portunity of Reconstruction. James G. Randall 

led the first school. Eric Foner and Michael Les 
Benedict currently dominate the second.

In his classic textbook on the Civil War, 

Randall called the Second Confiscation Act 
“one of the most drastic laws ever enacted 
by the American Congress.” In Congress, he 
posited, moderates argued in vain in the face 
of Radical determination to punish the South. 
To Randall, only Lincoln restrained Congress 
from the unconstitutional pursuit of broad con­
fiscation, by threatening to veto the legislation 
and then forcing upon Congress an explana­
tory joint resolution providing that property 
could be seized only for the lifetime of an of­
fender convicted under the Confiscation Act.9 
For Randall, Lincoln effectively stopped the 
legislature in its “attempt to appropriate the 

private property of unoffending citizens,”  and 
the wartime experience with confiscation “was 
such as to condemn the policy of promoting 
war by harsh punitive measures for the coer­
cion of individuals.” 10

For Foner and Benedict, confiscation was 

the best hope for providing land to millions 
of freed slaves. Foner writes that Radicals in 
Congress advocated “an act of federal inter­
vention comparable in scope only to emanci­

pation itself—the confiscation of planter lands 
and their division among the freedmen.” 11 
For Benedict, “ the concept of confiscation 
had been fundamentally altered”  with the pas­
sage of the Freedman’s Bureau Act in early 
1865.12 The law provided that Southern lands
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This vitriolic indictment of the Confederacy shows cotton, tobacco, and sugar plants and the slaves the planter 
class relied on to grow these crops. Congress intended the Confiscation Acts to redistribute planters' lands. 
In the end, however, only a miniscule amount of land ended up in the possession of freed blacks.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

abando ne d by the ir o wne rs and p ro p e rty s u b­
ject to confiscation be set aside for the use 
of emancipated slaves. Within a few years of 

the close of the war, both argue, the possibil­
ity of any widespread distribution of land was 

squelched. Mainstream Republicans resisted 
the efforts of House Radicals George Julian 
and Thaddeus Stevens, as well as freedmen 
themselves, and “ in the end the amount of land 
that came into the possession of blacks proved 
to be miniscule.” 13

Foner and Benedict make a much more 
compelling historical case than does Randall. 
Confiscation was not some kind of Radical 
plot foiled by manifest constitutional law. Yet 
it is undoubtedly true, as Foner and Benedict 
argue, that confiscation policy after the war 
was a squandered opportunity to provide freed 
people with some measure of economic oppor­

tunity. However, confiscation was not purely 
a sad denouement to the Civil War; neither 
school pays sufficient attention to confisca­
tion’s enduring importance for the articulation 

of liberal property ideology after the war.

Property Seizure during the Civil War

Alternative Regimes

During the Civil  War, there were three legisla­
tive (as opposed to military) property regimes 
in place. The First Confiscation Act of 1861 

authorized the permanent seizure of property 
used in support of the rebellion.14 The Sec­

ond Confiscation Act of 1862 authorized the 
seizure of any property belonging to anyone 

taking part in the rebellion or lending it aid 
and comfort.15 Finally, the Abandoned and
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With passage of the 
Freedman’s Bureau Act 
in 1865, providing for 
the division of Confed­
erate property among 
emancipated slaves, the 
concept of confiscating 
Confederate property took 
on new meaning.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

THE FREEDMAN'S BUREAU:ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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Captured Property Act of 1863 authorized the 

army to take what amounted, in many cases, to 
temporary possession of any property it came 
across.16

It is important to distinguish confiscated 
property from abandoned property. Aban­

doned property was land or personal property 
that had been deserted by its owners and then 
seized by the army.17 The U.S. Treasury ap­
pointed special agents to receive and collect 
such property under the Abandoned Property 
Act. This act did not repeal or replace either of

the Confiscation Acts, but operated alongside 
them. The crucial difference between aban­
doned and confiscated property was that the 
former was seized without title passing to the 
government. Instead, the owner of abandoned 
property had two years after its seizure to 
appear before the Court of Claims and prove 
ownership and loyalty.18

While it might well make no difference to 
a Confederate cotton planter which regime his 
property was seized under, it provided for cru­
cial distinctions in the courts. The Abandoned
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Pro p e rty Act did no t u p s e t title to property: 
it amounted to an enforced loan in the case 
of Unionists, and to the traditional exercise of 
an army’s seizure of enemy property under the 
laws of war in the case of rebel property. Con­
fiscated land was not physically seized by an 
army, but legally taken by Congress and by 
judges operating far from the battlefield. Such 

property belonged, at least for the lifetime of 
its owner and maybe longer, to the government. 
Presidential pardons also applied quite differ­
ently to those whose land had been confiscated 
and to those whose land had been seized. To be 
sure, confiscation cases and abandoned prop­
erty cases were at points heard together, and 
each type of case at points drew rulings that 
affected the other. Yet it is still necessary to 
keep the two conceptually separate for the most 
part.19

Lincoln, Johnson, and WartimeZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Confiscation

The Confiscation Acts were difficult to en­
force from the start. For purposes of confis­
cation, rebel property fell into two categories. 
Rebel property located in either the North or 
South and used directly in support of the re­
bellion was subject to seizure under the First 
Confiscation Act, which was applied almost 

exclusively to property inside the Confeder­
acy (since little property in the North was used 
to directly support the rebellion). Rebel prop­
erty located in either the North or South and 
belonging to anyone offering aid or comfort 
to the rebellion was subject to seizure under 
the Second Confiscation Act, which was ini­
tially applied only to rebel property located in 
the Union (since the confiscation of any prop­
erty behind enemy lines necessarily awaited 
the reopening of the U.S. courts there). As de­
scribed above, the Second Confiscation Act 
provided little by way of instructions on its en­
forcement. It simply asserted, “ It shall be the 
duty of the President of the United States to 
cause the seizure of all the estate and property, 
money, stocks, credits and effects.”20 Confis­

cation was initiated—though exactly how was 
not specified—by a U.S. Attorney in a judicial 
district “within which the property may be 
found.” 21 Until the end of the Civil War, the 

vast bulk of Confederate property liable to 
confiscation remained in the South and un­
der Confederate control. Only when the Union 
had dominion over a given district and a U.S. 
district court reopened could confiscation take 
place.

On the confiscation issue, Lincoln fit  
comfortably within the group of conservative 
Republicans led by Edgar Cowan and Jacob 
Collamer: he was openly dubious about the 
new legislation. Lincoln planned to veto the 
Second Confiscation Act; it was saved only by 
the inclusion of a last-minute congressional 
Joint Resolution that significantly weakened 
the bill. While the President did sign the bill, 
he nevertheless sent to Congress the veto mes­
sage he had drafted but not used, in a move that 
signaled his doubts about the legislation. In 
the veto message, Lincoln questioned both the 
act’s constitutionality and its political utility. 
The President, Foner writes, “had no enthusi­
asm for large-scale confiscation that, he feared, 

would undermine efforts to win the support of 
loyal planters and other Southern whites, and 
the act remained largely unenforced.”22 Dur­
ing the war, Lincoln followed the letter of the 
law—in November 1862, he ordered Attorney 

General Edward Bates to issue instructions to 
federal district attorneys to enforce the Act— 
but he did not do much beyond this.23 Bates, 

who was given authority to implement con­
fiscation, was himself a conservative Missouri 
Republican and a strict defender of individ­
ual property. He did little to enforce the acts 

or even give advice to U.S. Attorneys seeking 
guidance.24

The Lincoln administration’s lackluster 
enforcement of confiscation drew consider­
able criticism from Congress and from the 
Northern public. Perhaps most famously, on 
August 19, Horace Greeley, editor of the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew 
York Tribune, published an open letter to the 
President, “The Prayer of Twenty Millions.”
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Jacob Collamer and Edgar Cowan (left to right), both conservative Republican Senators, opposed the confis­
cation acts, which were to be enforced by the U.S. Attorney within the jurisdiction of the rebel property in 
question.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBATribune was the most widely read Repub­
lican newspaper in the country and was sure 
to grab Lincoln’s attention.25 Greeley seized 
upon the sections of the law freeing slaves 
that came within Union lines and demanded

that the President enforce them: “We think 
you are strangely and disastrously remiss in 
the discharge of your official and imperative 
duty with regard to the emancipating provi­
sions of the new Confiscation Act.”  He urged

President Lincoln (left) was not enthusiastic about the Confiscation Acts and did not do much to enforce them 
beyond ordering Attorney General Edward Bates (right) to instruct federal district attorneys to carry out the 
law.
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that Linco ln, “as the firs t s e rvant o f the Re p u b­
lic, charge d e s p e cially and p re -e m ine ntly with 
this du ty ,... execute the laws.” 26

Lincoln received pressure not just from 
the press, but also from his own Cabinet. In 
his 1863 Report to Congress, Secretary of the 
Treasury Chase urged Lincoln to move quickly 
against property located in the North and 
owned by those aiding the rebellion. “Property 

of great value in loyal states is held by propri­
etors who are actually or virtually engaged in 
that guilty attempt to break up the Union,”  he 
wrote. Such property “should be subjected by 
sure and speedy processes to confiscation.” 27

This is not to suggest that Lincoln blocked 
any and all property confiscation. After the 

passage of the First Confiscation Act in August 
1861, U.S. Attorneys were given wide discre­
tion to instigate proceedings and began to seize 
Confederate property located in the North.28 
In the Southern District of New York, which 
includes New York City, the district courts or­
dered eighteen separate confiscations of prop­
erty under the Second Confiscation Acts.29 In 
Cleveland, the U.S. marshal seized $300 in 
gold coins in the possession of R. M. N. Taylor, 
the proprietor of the Angier Hotel, which had 

been hidden with Taylor by a Confederate 
sympathizer arrested while fleeing south.30 
In Washington, D.C., the house of William 
B. Cross, a major in the Confederate army, 
was confiscated in 1863 by U.S. Attorney 
Edward Carrington.31 Nearby, in Allegheny 

County, Maryland, money was seized belong­
ing to another Confederate officer, Joseph 
Anderson.32 George Coffey, the U.S. Attorney 

for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, wrote 
Lincoln to inform him that under the First 
Confiscation Act, “ the marshal by my direc­

tion has seized all copies of the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew York 
D aily  N ew s found in this city.”  Coffey asserted 
the paper was “property used for insurrec­
tionary purposes” and asked Lincoln, “Am I 
right?” 33

Military commanders in the field car­
ried out some property confiscation, erro­
neously claiming broad authority under the 
First and Second Confiscation Acts. In vi­

olation of the legislation’s requirement that 
property confiscated under the law take place 
in civilian courts, the army took matters into 
their own hands at some points.34 Relatively 
early in the war, Northern armies occupied 
parts of the Confederacy, including Tennessee, 
southern Louisiana, and eastern Virginia, as 
well as portions of the South Carolina and 
Georgia coasts.35 General Benjamin Butler in 

Louisiana carried out the most aggressive con­
fiscation of any military commander. After 
conquering New Orleans in April 1862 Butler 

used the Confiscation Acts to seize and sell 
estates and personal property, before Lincoln 
replaced him with General Nathaniel Banks. 
General George McClellan tried to keep a tight 
reign on behavior, declaring that private prop­
erty be protected and that seized property be 
paid for, but military confiscation continued 
throughout the war.36

For proponents of confiscation, the 
prospects for enforcement were made con­
siderably worse when Andrew Johnson be­
came President in April 1865. As part of 
the Johnson administration’s drive to placate 
white Southerners and restore the Union, it 
began to radically restrict the enforcement of 
the Confiscation Acts. In the summer and 
fall of 1865, Johnson began to issue spe­
cial pardons that restored the property rights 
of rebels, with dramatic—though not yet 

certain—consequences for the legal status of 
confiscated and abandoned land.37 Johnson’s 

Attorney General James Speed took a nar­
row view of confiscation: by the end of 1865, 
he was telling federal district attorneys to 
enforce confiscation only against those con­
sidered still rebellious. Ultimately, Speed de­
clared that peacetime confiscation was illegal, 
and by June of 1866 he had ordered a halt 
to any more seizures. The President ordered 
that land seized by the federal government un­
der the Confiscation Acts—land to which the 

United States had title—should be returned to 
its owners, unless it had already been sold to a 
third party. By then, Benedict argues, Johnson 
had “effectually nullified both the confiscation 
and the Freedmen’s Bureau laws.” 38
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Until Lincoln replaced him, 
Union General Benjamin 
Butler in Louisiana carried 
out the most aggressive 
program of confiscation of 
any military commander, 
using the Confiscation Acts 
to seize and sell estates 
and personal property. This 
1861 sheet-music cover 
shows slaves trying to run 
from the ruthless Butler, 
who declared such fugi­
tives contraband of war.

All told, total proceeds from confisca­
tion by 1867 amounted to roughly $300,000.39 
Civil War confiscation in the field was over 

in political terms before it began: it lasted 
for little more than five years, from 1861 to 

roughly 1866. Yet in that period legal and con­
stitutional questions were raised that remained 
in the courts—most notably the Supreme 
Court—for decades afterwards.40

Confiscation's Hidden Legacy:
The Right to Property 

and the Supreme Court

Coming from the California Supreme Court, 

Justice Stephen J. Field took his seat as the

tenth Justice in December 1863, and stayed 
on the Court until December 1897. An ardent 
Democrat with a strictly religious upbringing 
in New England Field moved to Washington 
flush with legal and commercial success on 
the California frontier, seeped in dogmatic 
beliefs in moral absolutes and ideals of the 
free individual.41 On the Supreme Court, Field 
soon “came to believe in a rather extreme 
version of an inalienable right of property”  
protected by the Constitution.42 These views 
were exemplified in his famous dissents in the 
Slaughterhouse C ases43 in 1873 and in M unn 
v. I llino is in 1877, arguing against the power 
of state legislatures to regulate commerce.44 

In his thirty-four years on the bench, Field
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Attorney General James Speed took a narrow view 
of confiscation: By the end of 1865, he was telling 
federal district attorneys to enforce confiscation only 
against those considered still rebellious.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

“p ro fo u ndly influ e nce d the characte r o f Am e r­
ican law”  and in p articu lar exerted “extraordi­
nary influence” on “American constitutional 
development.” 45

Field’s steps toward locating substantive 
rights protecting property in the Constitution 
was part of a larger postwar trend reflected 
in the 1868 publication of Judge Thomas 
M. Cooley’s hugely influential Constitutional 

Limitations, a book that was “unabashedly 
designed to facilitate constitutional challenge 

to the legislature’s will ” and aimed to “stake 
out the domain beyond which legislation could 
not go, no matter how alluring the public 
benefits.” 46 After the Civil War, as James Ely 
has noted, “prevailing constitutional thought 
stressed property rights and limitations on 
legitimate government authority.” Gradually, 
the Supreme Court “embraced laissez-faire 
constitutionalism,” 47 which, for its propo­
nents, was “more than a preferred policy”  but 
“a matter of natural law and natural rights.” 48 

Armed with this belief in the market and the

rights of property, a Supreme Court majority 
exercised supervision most famously over state 
laws, but also—as their treatment of confisca­
tion makes clear—over federal legislation as 
well.

There has been extensive debate on 
whether Field and other proponents of an ex­
panded constitutional right to property were 
shielding commerce from legislative control 
or utilizing a Jacksonian ideology hostile 

to corporate interests. At times, this debate 
has broken down into binary categorical dis­
putes in which Progressive historians, hav­
ing branded Field and the Court as pawns of 
big business, are then rescued by more recent 

historians—most notably Charles McCurdy 
and Benedict—who argue that Field and 
his cohort’s constitutional interpretation was 
driven by a Jacksonian free-labor ideology op­
posed to corporate privilege and corruption.49 
As James Kloppenberg has warned us, in 
the liberalism-republicanism debate, binaries 
are historically dangerous. We can concede 
that Field and others had alternative commit­
ments and different ideational tools at hand. 
If  we move past the opposition of greed and 
ideology, we find, generally, that protecting 
commercial growth and protecting individ­
ual rights both produced a common outcome: 
namely, shielding property from legislative 
control. Morton Horwitz has persuasively ar­
gued that “ [tjraditional conservative fears that 
the state might be used to protect debtors or 
to take property in order to equalize wealth 

were thus matched by neo-Jacksonian anxi­
eties that the state would be taken over by cor­
porate interests.” Instead of acting in opposi­
tion, these “ twin fears”  of the exercise of power 
by the state “combined to produce laissez-faire 
ideology.” 50

Within the parameters of laissez-faire, lib­
eral constitutionalism, Field held a special 
disdain for confiscation, which came to be 
an epithet in his jurisprudence, synonymous 
with the illegitimate regulation of property by 
the state.51 It is important to remember that 

even as he and the rest of the Court struggled 
to determine when regulation—especially rate
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re gu latio n—be cam e “co nfis cato ry”  and s o u n­
co ns titu tio nal, the y we re at the s am e tim e ru l­
ing o n actu al co nfis catio n cas e s—e .g., co n­
s ide ring the p o we r o f the le gis latu re to seize 
property outright.

In the 1870s and 1880s, even as the 
war receded into memory, confiscation re­

mained a near constant in the Court, and 
Field was increasingly able to use confis­
cation cases to advance liberal property ju­
risprudence and liberal constitutionalism. For 
advocates of liberal property ideology, these 
cases were opportunities to recast what consti­
tuted legitimate property law under the Consti­
tution. Legislative confiscation had emerged 
from the Union Congress in 1862 bloodied 
but still alive. After the war, however, Field 
and other Justices weakened and undermined 

the legislative power to confiscate property 
more effectively than Democrats in the 37th 
Congress could have hoped. The Confiscation

Acts themselves were upheld as constitutional, 
even as their radical elements were gutted from 
within, leaving only an empty shell. Under 
the Court’s direction, confiscation was upheld 
on extremely narrow grounds with almost no 
precedential value. At the same time, confis­
cation beyond the lifetime of the offender was 
made explicitly unconstitutional, a broad pres­
idential pardon power restoring all rights in 
land was recognized, and those whose prop­
erty had been confiscated were given the right 
to alienate ultimate title to their property by 
sale or by will.

There were some instances when confis­
cations were upheld, but only in cases where 
the commitment to protecting the natural rights 

of property clashed with an explicit utilitarian 
concern for the function of the marketplace. 

This conflict arose primarily in cases in which 
the Court considered claims turning on prop­
erty that had already been confiscated, sold byZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Although the Civil War receded in memory in the 1870s and 1880s, confiscation issues constantly came 
before the Supreme Court.
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the go ve rnm e nt, and the n re -s o ld as alie nable 
life e s tate s in land. Once the o ffe nde r who s e 

p ro p e rty had be e n seized in the first place 
died, their heirs demanded the return of the 
property. In these cases, Field often deferred 
to settled property arrangements and upheld 
confiscations when invalidating them would 
upset the apple cart, or when intervention by 
the government reversing confiscation would 
disrupt private arrangements arrived at in the 
marketplace.

Field was generally “strongly results- 
oriented” : in cases where ideological commit­
ments would lead to the “wrong” decision, 

these commitments gave way to a utilitarian 
drive to arrive at the right result.52 Here again, 
he was in line with broader postwar histor­

ical trends. Horwitz has noted that “as the 
law became increasingly implicated in the pro­
cess of promoting economic growth,”  judges 
turned more frequently to the “overtly instru­
mental use of private law to advance utilitar­
ian objectives.” 53 Confiscation is an instance 
of the overt use of public law to advance the 
same objectives.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

H o llow  V ic to ry :  C on fisca tion U p h eld

During the Civil War, one state court inval­
idated the Second Confiscation Act. In the 
summer of 1863, in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN orris v. D oniphan, the 
Kentucky Court of Appeals held that the Sec­
ond Confiscation Act was unconstitutional and 
therefore void.54 Coming from a bitterly di­
vided state with a large population subject to 
property confiscation by the federal govern­
ment, N orris was a full-throated denunciation 
of the Second Confiscation Act. The case was 
initially brought in Mason County Court and 
turned on a $5,000 debt owed by Norris to 
Rebecca Doniphan. Norris did not deny ow­
ing the money, but asserted as a defense that 
Doniphan was a professed secessionist who 
had moved to Arkansas at the outbreak of war 
and regularly had given aid and comfort to 
the rebellion. Doniphan’s property was there­
fore covered by the Second Confiscation Act, 
which provided that any offender was barred

from bringing suit “ for the possession and use”  
of his or her property. From this rather thin 

opening—would the court enforce the debt?— 
the court seized the opportunity to rule on the 
law as a whole.

The court’s opinion reads like a speech 
made by a conservative Democrat in the Senate 
in opposition to confiscation. Southerners re­
tained their rights as citizens, and confiscation 
was a straightforward violation of the Fifth 
Amendment’s guarantees of due process and 
uncompensated takings. Making reference to 
the Magna Carta, the writings of Lord Coke, 
and Story’s C om m en ta r ies, the opinion rails 
against the usurpation of private property by 
the federal government. Confiscation had not 

been recognized by the law of nations since 
the eighteenth century, and since then “nearly 
a century’s advance of commerce, civilization 
and Christianity”  had rendered “ the barbarous 
rules of the past intolerable.” 55 In sum, the Sec­
ond Confiscation Act was “ in derogation of 
the personal rights and rights of property.” It 
could not constitutionally be upheld and was 
“a nullity.” 56

N orris remained the only judicial deci­
sion on the constitutionality of confiscation for 

more than seven years. Even though the ques­
tion had not yet been litigated, Chief Justice 
Chase, in his capacity as a circuit court judge, 
made clear his position that most lawyers and 
judges believed the Second Confiscation Act 
was constitutional.57 However, as more and 
more confiscation cases were docketed at the 
Supreme Court in the late 1860s, it was only 
a matter of time until the Court considered the 
question. As Fairman noted, “ Inevitably an as­
sault would be made: the legislation did not 
seem impregnable, and there were many inter­
ested in attacking it.” 58

Such a case, M iller  v. U .S., reached the 
Supreme Court from the Circuit Court of the 
Eastern District of Michigan.59 Samuel Miller, 

a citizen of Virginia, owned shares in two 
Michigan railroads. These shares were seized 
in April  1864 and later sold at auction. After the 
war, Miller  challenged the sale under the Fifth
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Am e ndm e nt. The case was argued before the 
Supreme Court on February 1 and 2, 1870.60 

In an opinion by Justice William Strong, the 
Court sustained the constitutionality of the Act 
on April 3, 1870 by a 6-3 vote, with Justices 
Field, Clifford, and Davis dissenting.UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

M iller  is routinely cited as sustaining the 
constitutionality of confiscation, but this de­
scription, while technically correct, can be 
misleading. The majority ruling in M iller  was 
narrow—so narrow that virtually none of the 
competing conceptions of property advanced 
in Congress and by the President were even 
so much as raised. Confiscation as a congres­
sional power was not upheld by the majority 
so much as subsumed within existing rights 
recognized by the laws of war. The principled 
property debates that had dominated consider­
ation of confiscation were nowhere in evidence 
in M iller. Instead, the Court treated intensely 
controversial legislation as settled law, strip­
ping away any larger implications for ideas of 
property.

Justice Strong was normally an ally of 
Field and an opponent of radical confis-ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Radicals such as Thaddeus Stevens, the Senator from 
Pennsylvania, pushed for broader powers of Congress 
to seize and allocate land.

Justice William Strong (pictured) allied himself with 
Justice Stephen Field in opposing radical confisca­
tion. He went to great lengths to uphold confisca­
tion while minimizing its consequences for American 
property ideology and property law.

cation.61 However, Strong was also a former 
Democratic congressman and a recent con­
vert to the Republican party, appointed to the 
Court by President Grant in 1870. His opin­
ion accomplished the objective of sustaining 
Republican legislation while maintaining the 
majority’s commitment to liberal conceptions 
of property. Already marginalized by the D red 
Scott decision and the impotent objections 
made by Chief Justice Taney to Lincoln’s ac­
tions during the war, the Court had found a way 
to sustain a popular law while giving no ground 
to radicals, such as Representative Stevens, 
who asserted the broad powers of Congress 
to seize and allocate land. Confiscation for 
the majority was not a congressional power at 
constitutional law, but a belligerent power at 
international law.

Justice Strong went to great lengths to up­
hold confiscation while minimizing its con­
sequences for American property ideology or 
property law. The main constitutional ques­
tion for Strong was whether the Confiscation
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Acts we re crim inal s tatu te s o r e m e rge ncy war 
m e as u re s . If  the fo rm e r, he co nce de d that fu ll 

co ns titu tio nal p ro te ctio ns , m o s t no tably tr ial 
by jury, were due before any property could 
be confiscated. If  the latter, then confiscation 
was in line with existing Supreme Court doc­
trine on the powers conferred on the federal 
government during war. For Strong, it was set­

tled that the war power included “ the right to 
seize and confiscate all property of an en­
emy and to dispose of it at the will of the 
captor.” Confiscation was justified “not be­
cause of crime”  but because property belong­
ing to a belligerent enemy was “not affected by 
the restrictions imposed by the fifth  and sixth 
amendments”  and was instead “ liable to con­
fiscation under the rules of war.” 62

Strong clung tightly to the Supreme 

Court’s by-then famous “dual sovereignty”  
theory, promulgated in the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP rize C ases,6 i 

which allowed Congress and the President to 
treat rebels as both enemy belligerents and 
American citizens. It  was a recognized fact that 
war existed between the Union and the Confed­
eracy. Once war existed, Strong declared, “The 
United States were invested with belligerent 
rights in addition to the sovereign powers pre­
viously held.”  Congress had “ full  power to pro­
vide for the seizure and condemnation of any 
property” of use to belligerent enemies. The 
fact that it was a civil  war did not mean that the 

government was “shorn of any of those rights 
that belong to belligerency.”64 Thus, Congress 

could confiscate enemy property, even as the 
President could blockade enemy ports. Both 
fell within the powers of belligerents during 
war.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

F ie ld ’ s D issen t

The dissent by Justice Field was an explicit 
condemnation of confiscation legislation as a 
violation of international law and an uncon­
stitutional deprivation of individual property 

without trial. Field, as a matter of international 
law, disagreed with Strong that there was a rec­

ognized right to confiscate all enemy property, 
arguing that “ there is a limit to the subjects

of capture and confiscation which government 
may organize.” 65

Domestically, the Confiscation Acts were 
simply a species of criminal law, and were man­
ifestly unconstitutional. Field echoed the claim 

made by conservatives in the congressional 
debates that, away from the battlefield, only 
judges could seize property as punishment for 

crimes of disloyalty. Property not taken to di­
rectly support the military was illegitimately 
taken unless taken pursuant to a trial. The in  
rem property seizures provided for in the Act 
did away with constitutional protections alto­
gether and worked “a complete revolution in 
our criminal jurisprudence”  that meant that in­
dividual trials for criminal offenders might be 
disregarded and “proceedings for such punish­
ment be taken against [their] property alone.” 66

The radical proponents of confiscation 

would not disagree with Field’s analysis of 
confiscation proceedings, but would disagree 
vehemently that these proceedings were un­
constitutional. For them, it was an entirely 
constitutional premise that Congress could 
constitutionally set the criteria for determin­
ing the guilt of a disloyal offender and or­
der the seizure of property based on that de­
termination. Field’s dissent assumed what the 

congressional opponents of confiscation had 
argued: that confiscation was not a legitimate 
legislative function. This was an institutional 

argument with ideological implications, and it 
represented a view that was more liberal, more 
individual, and more protective of property. 
Congressional confiscation harkened back to 
a time when republican theory made the dis­
position of property the shared province of 
both the legislature and the courts. Field’s ar­
guments in M iller show the growing domi­
nance after the Civil  War of the argument that 
only judges could legitimately order the un­
compensated seizure of individual property. 
For Field, property ownership was by its nature 
individual, and property could only be seized 
with all the protections offered an individual at 
trial. Anything else was congressional usurpa­
tion of the judiciary’s exclusive power to seize
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p ro p e rty fo r crim e s . Though relatively new, the 
assertion of judicial exclusivity was boldly pre­
sented by Field as customary and even natural.

F ie ld  an d  th e S h arp E d ge o f  A d m ira lty

L aw

Even as confiscation was upheld on narrow 
grounds, Field wrote the majority opinion in a 
number of subsequent cases that held partic­
ular confiscations to be illegal. His technique 
for undermining confiscation was an exagger­
ated adherence to doctrinal technicalities, par­
ticularly those arising out of admiralty law. 

Field was not generally a high legal formalist; 
instead, he often arrived at results with little 
textual grounding. Yet in cases where a con­
fiscation could be struck down on technical 
grounds, Field was brutally exacting. While 
Field had lost in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM iller, he thereafter applied 
rigid, even aggressive, doctrinal inflexibility,  
making the Confiscation Acts almost impos­
sible to enforce.

Both the First and Second Confiscation 
Acts provided that proceedings for confisca­
tion should conform as much as possible to 
proceedings in admiralty law or revenue col­
lection. This was a somewhat confusing in­
struction, in that admiralty jurisdiction did not 
normally extend to seizures on land, or rev­
enue collection to enemy confiscation. Both 
were settled, highly specialized areas of law, 
each with arcane peculiarities and idiosyn­
cratic requirements.67 Chief Justice Chase ac­
knowledged this ill fit between admiralty, 
revenue, and confiscation in an early case aris­
ing out of the First Confiscation Act, U nion 
Insurance C om pany v. U .S. Chase did not labor 
to align confiscation with admiralty, but held 
that “when we look beyond the mere words 
to the obvious intent”  of Congress, admiralty 
could be seen as a template for confiscation 
and not a controlling body of law.68

Field rejected any notion of a “ template”  
and turned to formalism in an attempt to undo 
property confiscation. In Tyler v. D efrees,69 a 
case announced soon after M iller,  Field wrote

a blistering dissent asserting that confiscation 

must precisely resemble seizures in revenue 
cases. In revenue cases, property was seized 
by an executive officer who brought it into 
court, where it was effectively seized again 

by a judicial officer and so brought under the 
court’s control. In confiscation cases, judicial 
officers—normally the marshals—seized the 
property in the first place, and no “second 
seizure” was observed. Field claimed that the 
slight departure from revenue proceedings in 
this case made the confiscation invalid.

Writing for the majority, Justice Samuel 

Miller  accused Field of attempting to accom­
plish what he had been unable to achieve in 
M iller.  If  Field’s constricted interpretation was 

adhered to, then “ the confiscation acts would 
be nugatory from the difficulty  of putting them 
judicially in force, though their constitutional­
ity be conceded.”  The analogy to admiralty and 
revenue law called for “ reasonable and sound 
rules,”  not “a system of procedure so captious, 
so narrow, so difficult understand or to ex­
ecute, as to amount to a nullification of the 
statute.” For his part, Field essentially admit­
ted that his resort to formalism was another 
method of undermining the law. Responding 
to Miller ’s charge of raising an “unsubstantial 
objection,” Field railed, “ I answer that no ob­
jection is narrow or unsubstantial which goes 
to the jurisdiction of the court to forfeit the 
property upon ex parte proceedings, without a 
hearing.” 70

In subsequent decisions, the Court was 
split, as Field was occasionally able to con­
vince the Court to adopt his formalist objec­
tions to confiscation. In W inchester v. U .S.? ' 
the executor of the will  of John C. Jenkins 
sought to recover the proceeds of the sale of 
168 bales of cotton from Jenkins’ Mississippi 
plantation that had been confiscated and later 
sold. Field held for the Court that the confis­
cation was invalid on the grounds that the ex­

ecutive branch had never formally seized the 
property, and “ the executive seizure is the foun­
dation of all subsequent proceedings under the 
Confiscation Act.” Field was not always able
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John Slidell and his 
wife (pictured) were 
prominent Confederates 
who owned substantial 
property in New Orleans. 
Their confiscation case 
drew nationwide attention 
when it came before the 
Supreme Court, and the 
public pressured the Jus­
tices to uphold the seizure 
of their lavish property. 
In his 1873 opinion for 
the Court, Justice Strong 
saved the confiscation of 
the Slidells' property.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

to carry the majority, but his resort to high 
formalism did slow—and, in some instances, 
prevent—the confiscation of property.72

The Question of Permanent Con­

fiscation

The next great question for confiscation was 
whether property could be confiscated forever 
or only for the lifetime of the offender. This had 
been the crucial issue that had drawn the threat 
of Lincoln’s veto. It was, in fact, the threshold

question that determined whether confiscation 
could ultimately be considered legitimate or 
successful at all. The Constitution explicitly 
prohibits bills of attainder, or the conviction 
of those named guilty of treason in legislation, 
and corruption of blood, or a prohibition on 
heirs inheriting property as part of the punish­
ment for treason. If  these constitutional pro­

visions were interpreted to mean that confis­
cation of property by the federal government 
could only be temporary, then confiscation was 
doomed to failure.
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Temporary confiscation meant the gov­
ernment’s taking title to a life estate in con­
fiscated property and would give the govern­
ment control over the property only so long as 
its former owner remained alive. After death, 
it would revert to the former owner’s heirs. In 
material terms, a life estate meant lasting con­
fusion and a deep reduction in the value of vir­
tually all confiscated property. A former rebel 
might die tomorrow or in fifty  years or more. 

When the government sold confiscated land 
at auction, it could sell only a life estate, not 
a fee simple title. Heirs to confiscated prop­
erty, awaiting the death of the offender, could 

in the meantime sue to prevent the waste of the 
property. The record-keeping required over the 
course of decades to keep track of who retained 
what interest in the land would be extremely 
onerous. In short, as a practical matter, tem­
porary confiscation would almost guarantee a 
failure to raise much money or to result in any­
thing other that litigious chaos.

As a conceptual matter, the question of 
temporary or permanent confiscation meant 
the difference between a property-seizure 

regime based on republican ideology and one 
based more closely on the idea of individual 
property rights as sacrosanct. Revolutionary 
confiscation was permanent, and not just be­
cause there was not yet a Fifth Amendment. 
It was permanent because one’s ownership of 
property was explicitly based on continuing 
loyalty to the political community, a theme that 
was reiterated over and over again in the confis­
cation statutes passed by colonial legislatures. 
The inclusion of a Just Compensation Clause 

in the Constitution, as well as the attainder and 
corruption-of-blood provisions, represented a 
significant shift toward a more liberal, indi­
vidual conception. Yet the question remained 
of whether violent disloyalty to the nation— 
treason on a massive scale—could allow for the 
legitimate, permanent seizure of enemy prop­
erty, even if  it was domestic.

Lincoln had hoped to squelch any contro­
versy over this question by forcing the inclu­
sion of an “explanatory resolution” providingZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Judge John C. Underwood (pictured), of the restored 
U.S. District Court for Eastern Virginia, was at odds 
with President Lincoln’s new Joint Resolution, provid­
ing that Confederate property could be seized only for 
the lifetime of the offender. Underwood argued that 
the resolution rendered property confiscation unwork­
able and emasculated the original acts—which was 
precisely Lincoln’s intention.

that property could be seized only for the life­
time of the offender.73 In a key radical vic­
tory, confiscation had been seemingly perma­
nent in the bill initially  passed by both houses 
of Congress. Lincoln’s Resolution soon com­
pletely upset the delicate legislative maneuver­
ing that had led to the bold assertion of the 
power of Congress to permanently seize prop­
erty without compensation. For Lincoln, this 

was an illegitimate encroachment on the rights 
of property.

Importantly, the Joint Resolution did not 
settle the issue as Lincoln had hoped, and per­
manent property confiscation remained a live 

controversy. In both Congress and the courts, 
powerful voices continued to assert that the 
Constitution did not prohibit permanent con­
fiscation. In a ringing endorsement of the rad­
ical position, Judge John C. Underwood, in 
Alexandria’s restored U.S. District Court for 
Eastern Virginia, delivered an opinion entirely 
at odds with Lincoln’s position. Underwood,
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who had be e n a s m all-to wn lawy e r in p rivate 
p ractice in u p s tate Ne w Yo rk, and the n s e c­
re tary o f the Emigrant Aid and Homestead 
Society, had received a recess appointment by 
Lincoln in March 1863.74 In the case of UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU .S. 
v. R ight T itle and In terest of H ugh Latham , he 
read the constitutional provisions on bills of 
attainder and corruption of blood “except dur­

ing the life”  of the offender as prohibiting the 
sometime practice of the British Parliament of 
seizing the land and personal property of those 
considered traitors after their deaths. The ex­
planatory resolution simply brought the Sec­
ond Confiscation Act within this requirement. 

To read the resolution as limiting confiscation 
to life estates would be an absurdity, because 
it would mean that an explanatory provision 
had been passed that effectively destroyed the 
original bill  itself. “ It cannot be supposed,”  he 

declared, “ that Congress intended to repeal its 
own act by the resolution, or so to emasculate 
it as to make it worse than a nullity.” 75

To emasculate the Act was precisely 
Lincoln’s intention. The “explanatory” Joint 
Resolution did not explain anything. Rather 
it forced into the bill, on the last day of the 
legislative session and under threat of a veto, 
the President’s understanding of the Constitu­
tion. Thus, Underwood was presented with a 
bill  that provided for property confiscation and 
an accompanying resolution that made prop­

erty confiscation unworkable. If, Underwood 
claimed, the law was read to require that “only a 
life estate is to be confiscated,”  then the under­
lying purposes of the bill were undermined— 
and the reading would “defeat the leading ob­
jects”  of the legislation itself. Such a reading 
would “promote jealousy and hatred between 
the holders of life estates and reversionary in­
terests,” and would in any event raise little 
money because “ if  only a life interest is to be 
acquired, no purchaser could afford to take on 
so uncertain a tenure.” 76 Underwood ordered 

that all confiscated property sold in his district 
be sold in perpetuity and offered the federal ju­

diciary a radical interpretation of the Second 
Confiscation Act.

At the same time, Congress was divided 
over precisely the same issue. In the first ses­
sion of the 38th Congress, Lyman Trumbull 

and Charles Sumner in the Senate and George 
Julian in the House pressed for the repeal 

of Lincoln’s Joint Resolution. Both houses of 
Congress ultimately repealed the resolution in 
1864. Early in the session, the House passed 
a resolution that essentially adopted Under­
wood’s reading of the Constitution. The reso­
lution provided that the last clause of Lincoln’s 
Resolution be replaced with the instruction 
that no confiscation would take place that was 
“contrary to the Constitution of the United 

States.”  This removed the language permitting 
only the confiscation of a life estate and was an 
implicit restatement of Underwood’s argument 
that more was permitted by the Constitution. 
The resolution passed 83-76.

On February 17, 1864, during consider­
ation of the bill establishing the Freedmen’s 
Bureau, Trumbull submitted a resolution pro­

viding that the operative clause of the Second 
Confiscation Act’s Joint Resolution be “hereby 

repealed.” The amendment was tabled along 
with the rest of the bill and did not surface 
again until June 28. On that day, the amend­
ment passed 23-15 with support from radical 
Republicans and opposition from Democrats 
and conservative Republicans such as Jacob 
Collamer and Edgar Cowan. Two days later, on 
June 30, the whole of the Freedmen’s Bureau 
bill  was referred to a House committee, where 
consideration of the bill was postponed until 
December 20. This had the effect of delaying 
joint consideration of the measures repealing 
Lincoln’s resolution, and a common bill was 
never passed.

The Supreme Court soon slammed the 
door on these broad interpretations of the 
power of Congress to permanently confis­
cate property in the 1870 case of B igelow v. 
F orest J1 In this case, a tract of land in east­
ern Virginia belonging to French Forrest, an 

officer in the Confederate Navy, had been 
seized by a U.S. Attorney in September 1863 
and ordered confiscated under the Second
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Senator Lyman Trumbull (above, left) and Represen­
tative George Julian (above), both of Illinois, and Sen­
ator Charles Sumner of Massachusetts (left) pressed 
for the repeal of Lincoln’s Joint Resolution. Congress 
ultimately repealed the resolution in 1864.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Co nfis catio n Act by the U.S. District Court 

for the Eastern District of Virginia on Novem­
ber 9. The land was sold in July 1864 to the 
highest bidder, one Buntley, who then sold the 

deed to Bigelow. Forrest died without a will 
on November 24, 1866. His son Douglas, as­
serting that the confiscation was good only for 
the life of the offender (his father), brought an

action of ejectment against Bigelow, and the 

case worked its way to the Supreme Court.
As of 1869, Underwood’s opinion in 

the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBALatham case was still the most promi­

nent ruling on this issue by a federal court. 
In B igelow , however, Justice William Strong 
utterly rejected Underwood’s interpretation. 
Strong’s language was a model of conservative
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The Supreme Court heard a case in 1870 involving a 
tract of land in eastern Virginia belonging to French 
Forrest (pictured), an officer in the Confederate Navy, 
that had been confiscated and sold. When Forrest’s 
son asserted that confiscation was good only for the 
life of the offender (his father was now deceased), the 
Supreme Court ruled that Congress did not have the 
power to permanently confiscate property.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Re p u blican thinking o n co nfis catio n and we nt 
to gre at le ngths to squash the radical interpre­
tation of Lincoln’s explanatory resolution.The 
resolution was not, Strong contended, simply a 
cautious reiteration that all constitutional lim­

itations must be observed. Instead, it was an 
explicit limitation that did not explain the bill  
so much as amend it. For Strong, “ the act and 
the resolution are to be construed together,”  
and taken together, they could “admit of no 
doubt”  that the U.S. could seize property only 
for the “ life of the person for whose act it had 
been seized.” The U.S. could not, of course, 
sell any more than it possessed. Whether he 
understood it at the time or not, Bigelow had 
been sold a life interest in the confiscated es­
tate of French Forrest—an interest that expired 

along with Forrest on November 24, 1866. 
Strong also made clear his view that Lincoln’s 
Resolution had saved the Second Confiscation 
Act from unconstitutionality. The resolution

ensured that “ the punishment inflicted” upon 
a property owner subject to the Act was “not 
to descend to his children.”  Thus “his heritable 
blood is not corrupted.” 78UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

B igelow represented a signal triumph for 

liberal property ideology and liberal constitu­
tionalism. Efforts in Congress to repeal the 
explanatory Resolution now faced a hostile 

Supreme Court ready to overturn such a move. 
The legal interpretation allowing for perma­
nent confiscation had been demolished by the 
nation’s highest court. As a practical matter, 
all the U.S. could sell was a terribly uncer­
tain life estate that might well last for only a 
short time—as Bigelow learned. In addition, 

all those who had purchased confiscated prop­
erty were now put in the position of keep­
ing tabs on a former rebel—in all likelihood 
a stranger—or waiting for the day his or her 
heirs came to take back the property. Under­

wood had argued that, as a matter of policy, 
Congress could not have intended to pass an 
explanatory resolution that confined the courts 
and the executive to seizing and selling life es­
tates. Such a reading, he feared, would “open 
the door to absurdities and calamities.”79 In 
practice, his fears had come to pass.

Apart from its significance for the read­
ing of the Civil  War confiscation acts, B igelow 
had wider significance for the future of con­
gressional confiscation. During the American 

Revolution, disloyal property had been per­
manently seized, as part of a republican vi­
sion of the overriding importance of alle­
giance to the polity. This vision had not 
altogether died by the 1860s, and it had been 
maintained by radicals like Charles Sumner 
in Congress during the confiscation debates. 
B igelow represented a direct repudiation of 

this view. Before B igelow , Lincoln’s resolu­
tion had been an argument; afterwards, it was 
constitutional law. After B igelow , permanent, 
uncompensated property confiscation for dis­
loyalty was practically impossible and con­
ceptually illegitimate. However, despite the 
certainty of Strong’s language, the issue was 
still, as a historical matter, unsettled; indeed,
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it was co ntro ve rs ial du ring Stro ng’s own time. 
In reading his opinion, it is striking to remem­

ber that UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB igelow settled the question not by 
maintaining an established tradition, but by 
rejecting a much older tradition of legislative 
confiscation.

Presidential Pardons and InstrumentalZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Confiscation

The Constitution grants the President the 
power “ to grant reprieves and pardons for of­
fences against the United States.” The power 
of the sovereign to offer “grace” to offenders 
within the Anglo-American legal system was 

ancient, or, as Chief Justice Marshall declared, 
“had been exercised from time immemorial.” 80 
Presidents Lincoln and Johnson—both of 
whom considered the Civil War one to pre­
serve the Union, not to remake the South— 
found in the executive’s broad prerogative to

pardon a powerful policy tool. Lincoln issued 

his first general pardon on December 8, 1863. 
In it, he offered the vast bulk of those tak­
ing part in the rebellion the chance to sign a 
loyalty oath. Once taken, they were granted 
a “ full pardon”  with, among other things, the 
“ restoration of rights of property, except as to 
slaves, and in property cases where rights of 
third parties have intervened.” 81 This procla­
mation thus gave the vast bulk of rebels an 
opportunity to escape property confiscation, 
while at the same time preventing the return 
of property that had already been confiscated. 
In 1864, Lincoln issued a second proclamation 
reiterating his offer of pardons for those who 
had “sufficiently returned to their obedience to 
the Constitution.” 82

On taking office, President Johnson 
quickly issued pardon proclamations that re­
flected his professed hatred for the South’s 
slave-owning planter class. On May 29,

President Andrew Johnson 
eventually proclaimed un­
conditional amnesty for all 
those who took part in the 
rebellion and ordered the 
return of all abandoned 
or confiscated property to 
those who had been par­
doned. This 1866 cartoon 
shows Uncle Sam leaning 
on a bar for “shattered 
constitutions” and offer­
ing Johnson a glass of 
medicine.
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1865, in two s e p arate p ro clam atio ns , he is­
s u e d a bro ad am ne s ty that inclu de d the re­
e s tablis hm e nt o f all p ro p e rty r ights excluding 
slaves. Johnson, however, excepted fourteen 

separate classes from the proclamation, includ­
ing those who owned in excess of $20,000 
of taxable property; they were forced to ap­
ply for individual pardons. A dedicated op­
ponent of black suffrage, Johnson took steps 
to align himself with the white yeoman class 
in the South, and also to liberally grant in­
dividual pardons to rich Southerners, eventu­

ally totaling over 7,000 individual pardons. As 
1865 progressed, Johnson “ further encouraged 
white Southerners to look upon the President 
as their ally and protector.” 83 In August, he or­

dered the return of abandoned and confiscated 
property to those who had been pardoned. 
Even more expansive general pardons fol­
lowed, culminating on Christmas 1868, when 
a lame-duck Johnson proclaimed an uncondi­
tional general amnesty for those who had taken 
part in the rebellion.

Johnson’s Christmas amnesty proclaimed 
the “ restoration of all rights, privileges and im­
munities under the Constitution”  and had po­
tentially broad implications for confiscation.84 

Without question, it ended any new prosecu­
tions. All  Southerners supporting the rebel­
lion were given a full unconditional pardon 
and were free from any future prosecution as 
rebels. In its breadth, the Christmas pardon 

also threatened to undo any past confiscation. 
In past decisions, the Supreme Court had held 
that a presidential pardon barred the U.S. from 
afterwards seeking to confiscate the offender’s 
property.85 Left undecided was the effect of a 
pardon on past confiscations.86 This question 

came before Field who, a decade earlier, had 
written the Court’s leading pardon case.87

In the October 1877 term, the Court heard 
the case of UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAK note v. U .S.88 Knote was a Virginia 
resident whose personal property was confis­
cated and sold for $11,000, with the proceeds 
deposited into the U.S. Treasury. Johnson’s 
amnesty proclamation applied “ to all and to 
every person who directly or indirectly partic­

ipated in the late insurrection” and uncondi­
tionally bestowed “a full  pardon.”89 Citing the 

pardon, Knote sued for the reversal of the con­
fiscation against him and reimbursement for 

assets seized and sold. The stakes were con­
siderable: given the breadth of the Christmas 
pardon’s language, a holding that the pardon 
had undone confiscation for Knote could undo 
confiscation for all former rebels. In ruling on 
the retroactivity of pardons, Field had a chance 
to undo confiscation altogether. Yet he did not.

In K note, Field upheld past confiscations 
when reversing them on a massive scale would 

have hurt the settled expectations of the mar­
ket and of “ innocent” third parties. In gen­

eral, Field reversed confiscations when there 
was not more than one subsequent buyer of 
confiscated property—e.g., in cases where the 
government seized property and sold it at auc­
tion, depositing the proceeds in the Treasury. 

In these cases, it was relatively easy for Field, 
the protector of property, to order the return of 
land, or proceeds from the sale of land, to its 
original owner when the current possessor of 

the property was a shrewd speculator who had 
bought at a discount land auctioned by the U.S. 

government.
Field denied Knote’s claim, however, and 

the opinion reveals his instrumentalism in high 
relief. In pardon cases, Field’s belief in the lib­
eral rights of individual property clashed with a 
liberal devotion to the unfettered alienation of 
property. In many instances, confiscated prop­
erty had re-entered the marketplace, and had 
been bought and sold in good faith. To undo 
one was a way to restore property that had been 
taken unconstitutionally by the government. To 
undo them all—this was to bring uncertainty 
to the market and disappoint the reasonable 

expectations of those seeking to buy and sell 
property already sold by the government pur­
suant to a confiscation.

A pardon, Field asserted, “does not make 
amends for the past.”  Once an offense was “es­
tablished by judicial proceedings,” then any 
penalty was “presumed to have been right­
fully done and justly suffered.” Turning to
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co nfis catio n, Field held that a pardon did not 

“affect any rights which have vested in oth­
ers directly by the.. .judgment of the offence, 
or which have been acquired by others whilst 
that judgment was in force.”  After property had 
been confiscated, seized, and sold, “ the rights 
of the parties have become vested, and are as 
complete as if  they were acquired in any other 
legal way.” 90

Once the proceeds of a sale had been de­
posited in the Treasury, not only the subsequent 
purchaser but also the U.S. government was 
safe. If  “ the proceeds have been paid into the 
treasury, the right to them has so far become 
vested in the United States that they can only 
be withdrawn by an appropriation.” In cases 

where confiscated property had not been sold 
but was in the control of the federal govern­
ment, however, “property will  be restored or 
its proceeds delivered to the original owner, 
upon his full  pardon.” 91

Field’s declarations about the Court’s in­
ability to order the U.S. government to pay 

back confiscated proceeds are quite inconsis­
tent with his other confiscation decisions, and 
they throw his instrumental jurisprudence on 

confiscation into high relief. He dissented in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
M iller  and Tyler on the grounds that confisca­
tions were upheld and money not restored. In 
W inchester, one year after K note, he reversed 
a confiscation of cotton and held that “ the 
claimant must have judgment for the amount”  
claimed.92 This was a routine remedy in con­

fiscation cases reversed by the Court, particu­
larly those concerning personal property such 
as cotton that had been sold on the open mar­
ket. Similarly, Field nowhere else expressed 
such strong adherence to the notion that once 
real property had been sold pursuant to confis­
cation it had, by right, “vested”  in other parties. 
Indeed, in other cases Field urged that title to 
property be stripped from owners who bought 
it pursuant to a defective confiscation.93 Con­
fiscated property had “vested” in everyone 
who bought it. Implicit in Field’s sudden con­
cern for the protection of property “vested”  
and “complete” by sale was a larger concern

for keeping the government from reversing set­

tled private property transactions.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

In stru m en ta l  C on fisca tion a t th e T u rn  
o f  th e C en tu ry

Field’s implicit balancing in K note became 
the norm in the Supreme Court’s treatment 
of confiscation. Nowhere was this more ap­

parent than in the Court’s treatment of the 
heirs to confiscated land, which ultimately in­
cluded the Court’s greatest switch—or com­
plete reversal—on any important confiscation 
issue. The B igelow decision provided that the 
government could not constitutionally confis­
cate property permanently: It could only con­

fiscate property for the lifetime of the offender. 
In this ruling, the Court had inadvertently lit  
the fuse on thousands of legal time bombs, set 
to explode some decades after the Civil War 
when those whose property had been confis­
cated started to die off and their heirs came 
to collect their property. Questions remained 

over exactly what happened to the land af­
ter the offender died. After B igelow , it was 
still unclear who held the fee in confiscated 
property.

There were three possibilities. First, that 
the U.S confiscated the whole fee from the 
rebel, and held it in trust for the heirs, to de­
scend to the heirs upon the rebel’s death. Sec­
ond, that the U.S. confiscated only a life estate 
from the rebel, with the remainder vesting, at 
the moment of confiscation, in the rebel’s heirs. 

Third, that the U.S. confiscated only a life es­
tate from the rebel, leaving the reversion fee 

in the rebel. If  this was the case, then the rebel 
could, while still alive, sell the future interest 
in the property, or title to the land after his or 
her death. This was an intricate future-interests 
problem, with important legal and policy con­
sequences. What did the rebel continue to own, 
if  anything? If  either the U.S. or the heirs held 

the ultimate fee in confiscated property, then 
the rebel owned nothing and could sell noth­
ing. If  the rebel owned the future interest then 
sales of that future interest were valid.
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There was little question that rebels were, 
in practice, routinely selling their reversion­
ary interests in confiscated property up to the 
decision in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW allach v. V an R isw ick in 1875.94 

This was not surprising, given the sweeping 
language of Johnson’s general amnesty and the 
ambiguous language of B igelow . Were all these 

sales invalid? As a matter of policy, should 
former rebels retain such broad power over 
property confiscated from them for disloyalty? 

After B igelow , with its adamant insistence that 
confiscation was for the lifetime of the of­
fender alone, it was only a matter of time until 
heirs of offenders showed up claiming title to 
the property, forcing the Court to settle these 

thorny issues.
In W allach, the Court came down firmly  

on the side of the heirs, holding that a rebel 
owned no part of property that had been 

confiscated. In this case, the children and 
heirs of Charles L. Wallach, an officer in the 
Confederate army, claimed title to their fa­
ther’s confiscated land upon his death in 1872 
(Wallach’s Washington, D.C. estate had been 
seized and sold in 1863). Six years before, 
in 1866, Wallach sold the remaining interest in 
the land to Van Riswick. The heirs claimed 
that this sale to Van Riswick was meaningless, 
and that upon confiscation Wallach owned no 
remaining interest in the land. The heirs de­
manded “a decree for delivery of possession”  

of the land.
Writing for the majority, Justice Strong is­

sued the decree and blasted former rebels who 
sought to sell future interests in confiscated 
land. The Court had been wrong to say, as it 
had in B igelow , that the government had sold 
under the confiscation acts only “a life estate 
carved out of a fee.” This language, Strong 
wrote, “was, perhaps, incautiously used.” He 
explained: “We certainly did not intend to hold 
that there was any thing left in the person whose 
estate had been confiscated.”  The confiscation 
of Wallach’s property “ left in him no estate or 
interest of any description.”  To give offenders 
remainder interests in confiscated land “would 
defeat the avowed purpose of the Confiscation

Act.”  The whole justification of Lincoln’s ex­
planatory resolution prohibiting confiscation 
beyond the life of the offender was to prevent 
against “corruption of blood,” or the unjust, 

unconstitutional punishment of future genera­
tions. “No one ever doubted that it was a provi­
sion introduced for the benefit of the children 
and heirs alone; a declaration that the children 
should not bear the iniquity of the fathers.”  To 
hold otherwise “would give preference to the 
guilty over the innocent.” 95

Fifteen years later, the Court reversed it­
self entirely. In 1890, Justice Bradley held in 
I llino is  C entra l R ailroad v. B osw orth96 that the 

title to confiscated property remained in the 
rebel. The Court reasoned that this was a nec­
essary inference of property law. The heirs to 
confiscated property could inherit the prop­
erty from the offender only if  the offender 

still retained the ultimate title to the property. 
“Otherwise,” Bradley asked, “how could his 

heirs take it from him by inheritance?” The 
Court therefore concluded that the U.S. seized 
only a life estate from the rebel and that ul­
timately “ the fee remains in him but without 
the power of alienating it during his life.”  The 
rebel’s fee was “a mere dead estate”  in “a condi­
tion of suspended animation”  and would trans­
mit to his heirs by descent.97

Having declared the rebel’s fee in a state of 
suspended animation, the Court next revived 
it. Johnson’s sweeping Christmas amnesty of 

1868, Bradley argued, restored to offenders 
their future interests in confiscated property. In 
K note, Justice Field’s great confiscation par­
don case, the Court protected the purchasers 
of confiscated property, ruling that the pardon 
did not restore ownership to property already 
sold. This case did not prohibit the restora­
tion by pardon of future interests in that prop­
erty, however. Here the Court ruled that the 
Christmas amnesty had taken the fee out of 

suspended animation and restored the rebel’s 
power to alienate future interests. The pardon 
did not undo the seizure and sale of life estates 
in confiscated property. It did, however, restore 
all interests in property that had not vested in
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ano the r—“nam e ly , the nake d re s idu ary o wn­
e rs hip o f the p ro p e rty .” 98

Two years later, in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU .S. v. D unnington  ̂

the Court again protected the alienation of 
rebel property against the claims of the rebels’ 
heirs. In 1863, the Washington, D.C. property 
of a rebel, Charles Dunnington, was seized 
and sold to one A. R. Shepard. Dunnington 
never sold his reversionary interest, and he died 
without a will  in 1887. Dunnington’s land was 
adjacent to the U.S. Capitol. Before he died, 
and without the notice of him or his heirs, 
Congress condemned the confiscated property 
to make it part of the Capitol grounds in 1872, 
paying Shepard market value for it. The heirs 
never knew about the condemnation proceed­
ings and, upon their father’s death, they as­
serted that they were entitled to the property 
or, at the least, new condemnation proceedings. 
They argued that intervening in the earlier con­
demnation case was legally impossible, even 
if  they had known about it. They claimed that 
they had no recognizable interest in the prop­
erty until the rebel died and it  passed to them by 
descent. In any event, the U.S. could not con­
demn any more than the purchaser of confis­
cated property owned, or anything more than 

a life estate. From a legal standpoint, the heirs 
were almost certainly correct. Yet the Court 
rejected their position outright in openly in­
strumental language. “Such a construction,”  
Justice Brown wrote, “would be intolerable.”  
“The march of public improvement,” he as­
serted, “cannot thus be stayed by uncertainties, 
complications, or disputes regarding the title to 
property sought to be condemned.” 100

The historical relevance of W allach on the 
one hand and B osw orth and D unnington on 
the other lies less in the reversal of prece­
dent than in recognizing the social, economic, 
and ideological pressures operating on the 
Court in the decades between the decisions. 
In W allach, the heirs sought and received title 
to one Washington, D.C. estate. This was rel­
atively easy to accomplish and unsettled a rel­
atively small set of expectations. In B osw orth , 
on the other hand, the heirs sought one-sixth

of a tract of Louisiana land that had belonged 

to their father and that, over the years and sev­
eral sales, had been conveyed to the Illinois 
Central Railroad. For the Supreme Court to 
upset what was treated as settled title twenty- 
five years after the Civil  War was too damag­
ing to expectations, inserting uncertainty into 
land deals that the market considered certain. 
B osw orth and D unnington had the effect of rat­
ifying the status quo. To the extent that former 
rebels had sold the future interest in confis­
cated property, these sales were validated. To 
the extent that former rebels had not sold their 
reversionary interests, they were now free to do 
so.

Decades removed from the battlefield, the 
impulse to punish rebels so manifest in W allach 

gave way to the preservation of rebel property 
sales in B osw orth . As the century came to a 
close, the Court retreated in its confiscation 
opinions from its earlier stance of punishing 
rebels and preserving the property rights of 
individual heirs to one favoring a laissez-faire 
economic policy that favored the alienability 
of property, even by rebels. Justice Field, still 
on the bench, had long favored such a position; 
now, in these last confiscation cases, so did his 
colleagues.

Confiscation and Conquest

In 1877, the Court issued an important opin­
ion by Justice Field in the case of W illiam s 
v. B ruffy,w ‘ the only major confiscation rul­

ing considering the legitimacy not of Union 
confiscation but of Confederate sequestration. 
This was a case with broad implications, not 
just for property, but also for the determination 

of the legitimacy of Confederate law. Given 
its idiosyncrasy, W illiam s benefits from being 
considered last. In this case, unlike any other, 
the Court put aside for the most part the ideo­
logical balancing of commitments and instead 
speculated openly on the contingent relation­
ship of property and sovereignty.

In W illiam s, Pennsylvania creditors sued 
the estate of George Brufty of Rockingham
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Co u nty , in the She nando ah Valle y , fo r the co l­
le ctio n o f u np aid de bts afte r the Civil War. 
Lawyers for the estate claimed that the Seques­
tration Act had required them to pay the debt 
to the Confederate government, that they paid 
off  the debt—with interest—to a Confederate 
district court in January 1862, and that by the 

terms of the law they were discharged of fur­
ther responsibility for payment of the debt.

Up to this point, the Supreme Court had 

recognized the legal validity of commercial 
transactions inside the Confederacy. Four years 
earlier, in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD ay v. M icou, Justice Strong had held 
that confiscation did not destroy pre-existing 
mortgages on confiscated property.102 In the 
same term as W illiam s, Field wrote C onrad v. 
W aplesm and its companion case B urbank v. 
C onrad,104 in which he considered the valid­

ity of conveyances in Louisiana by a father to 
his sons of land and money before the Second 
Confiscation Act took effect. In confiscation 

proceedings against the father, Field held that 
the U.S. could confiscate and sell only property 
the father owned as of the passage of the Act, 
explicitly recognizing the validity of transfers 

before the Act and preventing the confiscation 
of property conveyed by the father to his sons 
before July 17, 1862. The plaintiffs claimed 
that the U.S was not bound to protect trans­
actions made by rebels inside enemy coun­
try, but they were rebuffed by the Court on 
the grounds that “ the character of the parties 
as rebels did not deprive them of the right to 
contract with and to sell to each other.”  In the 

Confederacy, the Court held, “all the ordinary 
business between people of the same commu­
nity in buying, selling, and exchanging prop­

erty, movable and immovable could be lawfully 
carried on.” 105

If  “ordinary”  legal transactions were valid 
inside the Confederacy, then were Confeder­
ate legislation or parts thereof also valid? Here 
Field drew a dramatic line. Federal legisla­
tion inside the Confederacy was null and void: 
There was “no validity in any legislation of 
the Confederate States which this court can 
recognize.” Legally speaking, there was no

Confederate States of America, and “whatever 
de facto character may be ascribed to Confed­
erate government consists solely in the fact that 
it maintained a contest with the United States 
for nearly four years.” Yet “when its military 
forces were overthrown, it utterly perished and 
with it all its enactments.” 106 The debt paid 

by Bruffy was legally meaningless, and his es­
tate was ordered to pay the debt again. The 

holding had immediate, harsh consequences 
for defeated Southerners who had obeyed the 
Sequestration Act: every debt sequestered and 
paid to the Confederate government remained 
due to Northern creditors.

The Court’s reasoning was striking, 
amounting to a nineteenth-century version 
of the ancient power of conquest. Field un­
abashedly said that the main reason for the 
invalidity of Confederate legislation was that 
they had lost. While he could not deny there 

was a power called the Confederacy, its legal 
enactments would only gain legitimacy with 
military victory. Victory, not natural law or in­

alienable rights, was, he claimed, the ultimate 
arbiter of the legitimacy of secession or rev­
olution. In the case of revolution, legislative 
acts were valid only when the opposition “has 
expelled the regularly constituted authorities 
from the seats of power” and “established its 
own functionaries in their places, so as to repre­
sent in fact the sovereignty of the nation.”  Thus 
“ the government of England under the Com­

monwealth” was “established upon the exe­
cution of the king and the overthrow of the 
loyalists.” 107

In the case of secession, or when “a por­
tion of the inhabitants of a country have sep­
arated themselves from the parent state” the 

validity of the de facto government’s acts “de­
pends entirely upon its ultimate success.” If, 
Field claimed, “ it fails to establish itself per­
manently, all acts perish with it. If it suc­
ceed and become recognized, its acts from 
the commencement of its existence are upheld 
as those of an independent nation.” This was 
the case in the American Revolution, when 
the colonists “made good their declaration
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“General Haupt” was the name given to this locomotive—after the first chief of the Union’s military railway 
service—when it was confiscated from the Confederates.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

o f inde p e nde nce .” Had the y faile d to de fe at 
King George, “no one would contend that their 
acts against him, or his loyal subjects, could 
have been upheld as resting upon any legal 
foundation.” 108

Normally the great explicator of inalien­

able rights maintained in the Due Process 
Clause, Field here seems to have bestowed 
legal legitimacy from the barrel of a gun. A 
sovereign is sovereign, he suggested, primar­
ily  because it can control what constitutes pro­
tected property inside a given community. Put 
another way, without the physical ability to 
define and set property relations, there is no 
sovereignty. The Union had no more intrinsi­
cally legitimate claim, whether under Locke’s 
natural law or Lincoln’s democratic theory, 
to exercise sovereignty over Southern prop­

erty than the South did to exercise sovereignty 
over itself. Instead, when the war was over, the 
Union controlled the land and therefore con­

trolled the types of property claims it would

protect and the types it would not. Williams’ 
claim to Bruffy ’s debt was legitimate for no 
other reason than that the sovereign could 
force Bruflfy  to pay. In this case, which turned 
on fundamental questions of state formation, 
even someone as ideologically committed as 
Justice Field argued that law and rights were 
not wholly natural but, like history, were 
written—or, more importantly, legitimated— 
by the winners.

*Note: I would like to thank Morton Horwitz, 
James Kloppenberg, Drew Faust, and the late 
William Gienapp for helpful comments and en­
couragement with this article and the larger 
dissertation from which it is drawn. I would 
also like to thank William Nelson and all the 

participants at the Golieb legal history collo­
quium at New York University for a produc­
tive and incisive reading. Finally, my thanks to 
Larry Kramer, Gordon Wood, Maeva Marcus, 

and the Supreme Court Historical Society
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work, T h e C on fisca tion o f P rop er ty  D u r in g  th e C iv il  

W ar  (Indianapolis, 1913). Foner and Randall both date the 

decline of the active pursuit of new property confiscation 

to roughly 1867. In that year, Foner argues, Republican 

setbacks in elections “marked the end of any hope that 

Northern Republicans would embrace a program of land 

distribution.”  Foner, R econ stru c tion , 316 .

4°See Charles Fairman, R econ stru c tion an d R eu n ion , 

1864 -1888 (New York: Macmillan, 1971), 776. Fairman’s 

book, part of the Oliver Wendell Holmes Devise series on 

the history of the Supreme Court, is a remarkable accom­

plishment. It is exhaustive and encyclopedic. However, 

Fairman’s account is doctrinally oriented, and does not 

consider confiscation in the context of property ideology.
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Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 1987), 151. 

47James W. Ely, Jr., T h e G u ard ian  o f  E very  O th er  R igh t:  
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48Paul Kens, Ju stice S tep h en F ie ld : S h ap in g L ib er ty  

from  th e G o ld  R u sh to  th e G ild ed  A ge (Lawrence: Uni­

versity of Kansas Press, 1997), 5.

49Charles McCurdy, “Justice Field and the Jurisprudence 

of Government-Business Relations: Some Parameters of
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Laissez-Faire Constitutionalism,”  in Lawrence Friedman 

et al. (eds.), ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAA m er ican L aw  an d th e C on stitu t ion a l 

O rd er :  H isto r ica l P ersp ectives, 2nd ed. (Cambridge, 

Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 1988), 246-66. 

McCurdy argues that Field was not “a handmaiden for 

business needs,”  hostile to governmental intervention and 

devoted to “ laissez-faire constitutionalism”  above all else. 

Instead, he was primarily concerned with ensuring that 

each individual was free to pursue what Field considered 

their “natural right”  to pursue the “ordinary avocations of 

life”  with minimal restraint. 246-47. UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASee a lso Michael Les 

Benedict, “Laissez-Faire and Liberty: A Re-evaluation of 

the Meaning and Origins of Laissez-faire Constitutional­

ism,”  Law and H istory R eview 3 (1985), 293-331. For the 

classic statement of the Progressive view, see Arnold Paul, 

C on serva tive C r is is an d th e R u le o f  L aw :  A ttitu d es  o f 

B en ch an d B ar , 1887 -1895 (Ithaca, New York: Cornell 

University Press, 1960).

soMorton J. Horwitz, T h e T ran sfo rm a tion  o f  A m er ican  

L aw :  T h e C r is is o f  L ega l O rth od oxy , 1879 -1960 (New 

York: Oxford University Press, 1992), 23.

5■See Kens, Ju stice S tep h en F ie ld , 256-65.

52Beth, “Stephen Johnson Field,”  in Hall, O xfo rd  C om ­

p an ion to  th e S u p rem e C ou r t,  292.

53Horwitz, T ran sfo rm a tion  o f A m er ican L aw , 1870 - 

1960 , 112.

5461 Ky. 385 (1863). 

ttlb id ., 29.

SH bid ., 32.

^Sem ple v. U .S., Fed . Case No. 12,661 (C.C.E.D. Va.). 

58Fairman, R econ stru c tion an d R eu n ion , 800.

5978 U.S. 268 (1870). Two other cases on the docket in 

that same Term could have served as test cases for consti­

tutionality. In G arnett v. U S., 78 U.S. 256 (1870), two lots 

belonging to A. Y. P. Garnett in Washington, D.C., were 

ordered seized in July 1863 by the District Court for the 

District of Columbia. Garnett appealed to the Supreme 

Court of the District of Columbia which, the Supreme 

Court made clear, exercised appellate jurisdiction over the 

District Court. Nevertheless, the D.C. Supreme Court dis­

missed the appeal on the grounds that it could not hear 

writs of error from the District Court. Justice Swayne ex­

plained that “ in coming to this conclusion the learned court 

fell into error,”  and he remanded the case. G arnett, 258. 

In the other case, M cV eigh v. U .S., 11 Wall 259 (1870), 

McVeigh’s Alexandria home and its contents had been 

confiscated by a Virginia district court during the war. 

McVeigh, living in Confederate Richmond, appeared in 

court through his lawyer and sought to answer the charge 

that his property was liable to confiscation. The judge re­

fused to admit the answer on the grounds that McVeigh 

was a rebel and an alien enemy with no standing to appear. 

Justice Swayne took the lower-court judge to task, stating 

that this ruling was “contrary to the first principles of the 

social compact and of the administration of Justice,”  and

sent the case back with instructions to admit McVeigh’s 

answer. M cV eigh, 266. With these cases remanded on juris­

dictional and procedural grounds, M iller  became the test 

case.

6°For a detailed discussion of the treatment of M iller  in the 

lower courts, see Fairman, R econ stru c tion an d R eu n ion , 

800-806.
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v. I llino is, 94 U.S. 113 (1876). Strong also wrote the opin­

ion in B igelow v. F orrest, 9 Wall 339 (1870) (see below), 

holding that confiscation was not constitutional except 

for the lifetime of the offender. See Michael B. Dougan, 

“William Strong,” in Hall, O xfo rd  C om p an ion to th e 

S u p rem e C ou r t,  846.

6278 U.S. at 306.
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L. Black, T h e L aw  o f A d m ira lty  (N ew York: Founda­
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72See In  re C onfisca tion C ases, 87 U.S. 92 (1873). In this 

case, Justice Strong saved the confiscation of John Slidell’s 

New Orleans property, even though the proceedings had 

been marked by “ formal defects.”  Slidell was a prominent 

Confederate diplomat and was quite wealthy, making for 

a high-profile case and increased public pressure to up­

hold the seizure of Slidell’s property. Field and Clifford 

dissented.
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mond. “Judges of the United States Courts” in His­
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789 Wall at 352. The issue of the duration of the confis­

cation was one of the only times the Court drew a sharp 

distinction between the interpretation of the First and Sec­

ond Confiscation Acts. In UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAK irk v. Lynd, 106 U.S. 305 

(1873), Chief Justice Waite made the argument that be­

cause the First Confiscation Act authorized the seizure of 

property actually employed in the rebellion, it was anal­

ogous to the seizure of property under the international 

laws of war. “ In war,” he wrote, “ the capture of prop­

erty in the hands of the enemy, used or intended to be 

used for hostile purposes, is allowed by all civilized na­

tions.” Absolute title to this hostile property passed to 

the government immediately, in the case of movable prop­

erty, and, unless otherwise provided by treaty, when the 

war was ended in the case of immovable property. Ib id ., 

298-300. Very little property was confiscated under the 

First Confiscation Act, and this ruling did not have any 

effect on the vast bulk of confiscated property touched by 

B igelow .

79McPherson, ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP o lit ica l H isto ry  o f  th e R eb ellion , 206. 

80 (7 ,S '. V . W ilson, 32 U.S. 150, 160-61 (1833).

81 Lincoln, “Proclamation of Amnesty and Reconstruc­

tion,” December 8, 1863, in Don E. Fehrenbacher (ed.), 

A b rah am  L in co ln ,  S p eech es an d W rit in gs  (New York: 

Library of America, 1989), 555-58. Lincoln exempted 

from his proclamation all civil  and diplomatic Confederate 

officers, as well as Confederate judges and high-ranking 

officers in the Confederate military and those who mis­

treated prisoners of war.

Lincoln’s Proclamation was also an initial step in set­

ting Reconstruction policy. He provided that in any rebel­

lious state, once the number of white male voters taking 

the oath equaled ten percent of the number of votes cast 

in that state in the 1860 presidential election, these voters 

could reorganize a state government that would be recog­

nized by the federal government. In opposition, Congress 

passed the Wade-Davis Bill on July 2, 1864. This bill  

had sweeping emancipation provisions and required fifty  

percent of white male voters to take a loyalty oath be­

fore a new state government could be organized. Lincoln 

pocket-vetoed the bill. For a full  discussion of presidential 

Reconstruction policies, see Foner, R econ stru c tion , 176- 

226; Donald, et al., T h e C iv il  W ar  an d R econ stru c tion , 

508-23.

82Lincoln, “Proclamation Concerning Reconstruction,”  

July 8, 1864, in Fehrenbacher, S p eech es an d W rit in gs,  

605-6.

83F on er , R econ stru c tion , 190.

8415 Statu tes at Large 711, December 25, 1868. 

^A rm strong 's F oundry, 56 Wall 766 (1867). This case 

arose under the First Confiscation Act. Attorney General 

Henry Stanberry argued that the in  rem proceedings were 

against the property itself and that a pardon for John 

Armstrong wiping away h is guilt had no bearing on the 

government’s attempt to confiscate a New Orleans foundry

used in support of the Confederacy. Chief Justice Chase 

argued that since the Act required the owner’s consent to 

the use of his property in aid of the rebellion as a condi­

tion of confiscation, forfeiture was a penalty against the 

offender, not his property alone. Hence, a pardon absolved 

the offender of his guilt and barred confiscation.

8<>In M rs. A lexander’s C otton , 69 U.S. 404 (1864), the 

Louisiana owner of 72 bales of seized cotton sued the U.S. 

for the proceeds. Roughly three weeks after the seizure, 

Mrs. Alexander took Lincoln’s December 8, 1863 loyalty 

oath and, claimed, among other things, that the pardon re­

stored her property to her. Chase rejected her claim, not 

reaching the question of whether pardons were retrospec­

tive, on the grounds that a condition of the pardon was 

continued loyalty to the Union, and that by remaining in 

enemy territory Mrs. Alexander herself remained an en­

emy. “Whatever might have been the effect of the amnesty, 

had she removed to a loyal state after taking the oath, it 

can have none on her relation as an enemy voluntarily re­

sumed by continued residence and interest.”  M rs. A lexan­

der’s C otton , 69 U.S. at 421.

8?Field was the author of the leading pardon case of the 

Civil  War, E x parte G arland, 71 U.S. 333 (1867). G arland 

was a congressional attempt to block former Confederates 

from appearing as lawyers in federal courts. Before being 

admitted to practice, all lawyers were required to take an 

oath swearing they had never supported the rebellion. It 

was, of course, impossible for former Confederates to take 

this oath, and so they were effectively barred from prac­

tice. Garland sued on the grounds that he had received a 

full  presidential pardon that entitled him to practice in the 

federal courts. Field, writing for a divided court, took a 

sweeping view of pardons and rebuked congressional at­

tempts to delimit them. He held that “a pardon reaches both 

the punishment prescribed for the offence and the guilt of 

the offender; and when the pardon is full it releases the 

punishment and blots out the existence of the guilt.” A 

pardon makes the offender “a new man, and gives him a 

new credit and capacity.” E x parte G arland, 71 U.S. at 

380.

8895 U.S. 149(1877).

v> Ib id .

w ib id ., 154-55.

9 'Ib id .

«99 U.S. at 377.

viSee C onrad v. W aples, 96 U.S. 279 (1877), in which 

Field, reversing a lower court, returned title to New Orleans 

real property to two sons whose father had conveyed the 

property before the Confiscation Act took effect.

9492 U.S. 202(1875)

95 /6 ,y , 210-15.

96133 U.S. 92(1890).
97/6,y, 103.

98 /6 ,y, 99-105. See a lso Jenkins v. C olla rd , 145 U.S. 546, 

holding that the Christmas amnesty removed any disability
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p re ve nting the o ffe nde r fro m exercising control over the 

future interest of confiscated property.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
99146 US. 338(1892).

100146 US. at 349.

10196 U.S. 176 (1877). Interestingly, one of the cases 

making up the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBALega l Tender C ases, 79 US. 457 (1870) 

(considering the constitutionality of “greenbacks,”  or non- 

redeemable federal paper money), arose out of the seques­

tration of a flock of sheep in Texas owned by a Mrs. Lee 

of Pennsylvania. The sheep were sold at auction to one 

Knox, who paid in Confederate money. After the war, Lee 

sued Knox and won, at which point Knox was ordered to 

pay her several thousand dollars in greenbacks. Because

of the demise of the Confederacy, Knox bought the same 

sheep twice—once under invalidated Confederate law and 

one under triumphant US. law.

102 )8 Wall 156 (1874). In D ay, the court recognized the 

validity a mortgage held against the confiscated Louisiana 

estate of Judah Benjamin, holding that the purchaser of the 

confiscated land inherited the mortgage.

10396 U.S. 279(1877).

10496 U S . 291 (1877).

^C onrad v. W aples, 96 U.S. at 286.

^W illiam s v. B ruffy, 96 US. at 192-93.

M Ib id ., 185.

iw ib id ., 185-86.
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The separation of powers in the Constitution of the United States has never been abso­
lute in either theory or practice. This is especially true in the quest for public office. At least 
one President, William Howard Taft, aspired to be a Supreme Court Justice. Several Supreme 
Court Justices seriously considered becoming President. These are a few stories about those 

ambitions.

Flirting with the Federalists, 1812

In 1812, a strong antiwar sentiment existed in 

the United States, especially in New England. 
Federalists called it an offensive war, sure to 
ruin America. Joseph Story expressed con­
cern that “ leading Federalists meditate a sev­
erance of the Union.” 1 Southern Federalist 

James McHenry of Maryland argued that only 
a change of administration could save the 
country. Another Marylander, former Secre­
tary of the Navy Benjamin Stoddert, suggested 
that Chief Justice John Marshall, a promi­
nent Federalist, should run for President. He 
wrote, “Marshall is a man in whom the Feder­
alists may confide—perhaps he is the man for 
crisis.” 2 Stoddert was not the only Federalist to 
support Marshall’s candidacy; many powerful 

members of Congress hoped he would run for 
President.

Within days after Stoddert’s public procla­
mation, Marshall wrote privately to Robert 
Smith of Maryland, who had just been dis­

missed as Secretary of State by President 
James Madison. Smith had engaged in a pub­
lic antiwar effort and had expressed admira­
tion for Marshall’s presidential qualifications. 
When Smith sent Marshall a copy of an attack 
he made on his former allies in the Madison 
administration, Marshall replied:

Although I have for several years for- 
born to intermingle with those ques­
tions which agitate and excite the 
feelings of party, it is impossible 
that I could be inattentive to pass­
ing events, or an unconcerned ob­
server of them. [But a]s they have 
increased in their importance, the in­
terest, which as an American I must 
take in them, has also increased; and 

the declaration of war has appeared 

to me, as it has to you, to be one of 
those portentous acts which ought to 
concentrate on itself the efforts of all 
those who can take an active part in
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Had Chief Justice Marshall chosen to be the Federalist party’s standard-bearer in the 1812 election, he might 
have fared better than De Witt Clinton (right), the Peace party candidate backed by the Federalists. James 
Madison (left) beat Clinton 128 to 89, but Marshall’s biographer believes that if the Chief Justice had entered 
the race, he might have prevailed over Madison.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

re s cu ing the ir co u ntry fro m the ru in it 
thre ate ns .

All  m ino r co ns ide ratio ns s ho u ld be 
waived; the lines of subdivision be­
tween parties, if not absolutely ef­
faced, should at least be covered for a 
time; and the great division between 
the friends of peace &  the advocates 
of war ought alone to remain. It is an 
object of such magnitude as to give to 
almost every other, comparative in­

significance; and all who wish peace 
ought to unite in the means which 
may facilitate its attainment, what­
ever may have been their differences 
of opinion on other points.3

This letter from Marshall to Smith, sent on 
July 27, 1812, is described by one of the 

Chief Justice’s biographers, Albert Beveridge, 
as one of “ the longest and most unreserved 
he ever wrote.” Beveridge concludes that “ the 
Chief Justice of the United States was at that 
very moment not only in close sympathy with 

the peace party, but was actually encourag­
ing that party in its efforts to end the war.” 4

A later biographer, Leonard Baker, goes fur­
ther, stating that the letter was a “declara­
tion of his readiness to become a presidential 
candidate.” 5 Most recently, however, Canadian 
historian Jean Edward Smith has brushed aside 
any interest that Marshall may have had in 
the 1812 Federalist presidential nomination.6 
Marshall’s conduct and writings seem to in­
dicate a very temporary and transitory temp­
tation, which he soon put aside. If  indeed a 
presidential bug had bitten Marshall, it did not 

cause any serious infection.
Marshall’s competition would have been 

the politically cunning DeWitt Clinton, a 
nephew of Vice President George Clinton 
and a “Peace Republican” from New York 
who assured Federalists that he favored an 
“honourable” peace with England. DeWitt 
Clinton, who ran under the label “Peace party,”  
was endorsed by the Federalist caucus as the 
antiwar standard-bearer, but not without some 
acrimony and dissension. Many Federalists 

preferred Marshall to Clinton.
The electoral vote was Clinton 89, 

Madison 128. It was the closest any Federalist 
candidate had come to winning a presidential
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e le ctio n s ince Jo hn Adam s in 1800, and the ir 
candidate wo u ld ne ve r ge t s o clo s e again. Op ti­

m is tically , Be ve ridge e s tim ate s that if  Mars hall 
had be e n nominated:

Marshall surely would have done 
better than Clinton, who, however, 
carried New York, New Jersey, 
Delaware, Maryland and all the New 
England States except Vermont. The 
mercantile classes would have ral­

lied to Marshall’s standard more en­
thusiastically than to Clinton’s. The 
lawyers generally would have worked 
hard for him. The Federalists, who 
accepted Clinton with repugnance, 
would have exerted themselves to the 
utmost for Marshall, the ideal repre­
sentative of Federalism. He was per­
sonally very strong in North Carolina; 
the capture of Pennsylvania might 
have been possible; Vermont might 
have given him her votes.7

In a footnote Beveridge adds “ the vote of 
Pennsylvania, with those cast for Clinton, 
would have elected Marshall.”

How would Marshall have acted if  nom­
inated? Would he instantly have resigned as 
Chief Justice, as Justice Charles Evans Hughes 
would do in 1916? Such a resignation was not 
a foregone conclusion in 1812. In 1794, Justice 
William Cushing ran unsuccessfully against 
Samuel Adams for governor of Massachusetts 
and did not resign from the Supreme Court. 
Later, during Marshall’s tenure in 1828, Justice 
Smith Thompson ran for governor of New York 

against Martin Van Buren and remained on the 
Court. Would President Madison have made a 
recess appointment—and if  so, who?

A Politician on the Supreme Court,ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

1832-1860

Another Justice who attempted to gain the 
presidency after his appointment to the 
Supreme Court was John McLean. Historian

Smith captures the elements of why Jackson 
appointed McLean to the Court in 1829:

Two days after the inauguration,
Jackson startled his more clam­
orous supporters by nominating John 
McLean of Ohio to fill  Trimble’s seat 
on the Court. McLean was a mod­
erate Whig who had served effec­
tively as post-master general under 
both Monroe and Adams. Before that 
he had been a judge on the Ohio 
[Sjupreme Court. A political rival of 

Henry Clay, he had remained on good 
terms with Jackson throughout the 
1828 campaign, and it was widely 
believed that he harbored presiden­
tial ambitions four years hence. He 
was also known to be opposed to the 
political spoils system. So long as 
he remained in the cabinet, it would 
be impossible to restaff the post 
office with reliable Democrats. By 
elevating McLean, Jackson demon­

strated the adroitness that made him 
so formidable. With one stroke, he 
was shelving a potential presidential 
opponent, opening the post office to 
his supporters, rewarding a foe of his 
old enemy Henry Clay, and disarm­
ing the Whigs with a judicial appoint­
ment they could only applaud.8

During the hotly contested presidential 
election of 1824, Postmaster General McLean 

had cleverly tried to stay in office in the 
Adams administration while engaging in back- 
channel communications with Jackson’s sup­
porters. McLean’s biographer describes how 
he tried to walk a political tightrope be­
tween Adams and Jackson and accuses him 
of duplicity.9 John Quincy Adams’ biogra­

pher uses “ traitorous” to describe McLean’s 
conduct, saying he “carried water on both 
shoulders,” performing with “Machiavellian 
adroitness.” 10 Jackson rewarded McLean for 
his allegiance by appointing him to the Court in
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1829, whe re he re m aine d fo r m o re than thirty 
y e ars .

Keenly aware of McLean’s Machiavellian 

tendencies, Jackson admonished him to refrain 
from dabbling in politics. A former judge on 
the Supreme Court of Tennessee, Jackson con­
sidered judges “as ministers of the Temple 
of Justice” who should remain separate from 
party politics.11 This tough talk apparently 
did not seriously affect McLean, perhaps be­

cause Jackson himself was such a thorough­
going politician. Indeed, the ink was hardly 
dry on McLean’s Supreme Court commission 
before he was making political moves to run 
against its signer. As early as 1829, there were 
rumors that McLean might join Henry Clay 
as a vice-presidential running mate in 1832. 
Friends of John Quincy Adams and Daniel 
Webster expressed some interest in this idea.12 
At one point, McLean was even suggested as 
the candidate instead of Clay and his name 
widely circulated as a possible opponent to 
Jackson. Within two years of his appointment, 
McLean, not surprisingly, had fallen out of fa­
vor with the Jackson administration. In addi­
tion to his political infidelity, McLean publicly 
opposed Jackson’s policies: He disapproved 
of the President’s actions regarding the with­
drawal of federal deposits from the Bank of 
the United States, and he openly supported 
internal improvements and the protective 
tariff.

When an anti-Masonic movement aimed 
primarily at Jackson emerged, McLean be­
gan to maneuver to gain favor with the 
anti-Masons. In September of 1831, anti- 
Mason delegates convened in Baltimore in 

one of the first political conventions in the 
history of the United States. Attendees in­
cluded such luminaries as Thaddeus Stevens 
of Pennsylvania, William Sprague of Rhode 
Island, and William H. Seward and Samuel A. 
Foote of New York. There was talk of McLean 
as the presidential nominee at the convention 
from such political powerhouses as Thurlow 
Weed and Albert Tracy. But Justice McLean, 
riding circuit in Nashville, Tennessee, wrote

to the anti-Masons to decline a potential 
nomination:

My situation on the bench imposes 
considerations of prudence and del­
icacy which do not arise, perhaps, 
from any other official station. Whilst 
no man can deny the right of the peo­
ple to select their chief magistrates 
from any of the branches of the gov­
ernment, it would seem that a mem­
ber of the judiciary should decline the 
contest, unless the use of his name 
would be likely to tranquilize the pub­
lic mind and advance the prosperity 
of the county. Without presuming that 
my name would be favorably consid­
ered by the convention... I most re­
spectfully decline the honor of being 
presented to that respectable body for 
nomination to the presidency.13

The anti-Masons eventually nominated 
William Wirt, Attorney General in the ad­
ministrations of Monroe and Adams. In the 
presidential election, Wirt received only the 

seven electoral votes of Vermont. Despite 
the letter from Nashville, McLean retained a 
“ flickering illusion” 14 that the various parties 
might give up on Wirt and Clay and agree on 
him as a moderate, compromise, anti-Jackson 
candidate.

Martin Van Buren became the Vice 
President in Andrew Jackson’s second admin­
istration, and the President’s heir apparent. 

This frustrated McLean’s not-so-latent pres­
idential ambitions during the run up to the 
1836 election. Undaunted, McLean worked 

with quiet diligence to secure the favor of 
the Whigs, particularly in his home state of 
Ohio. Millard Fillmore, the anti-Masonic con­
gressman from upstate New York, wrote to 
McLean that he was opposed to Van Buren and 
would prefer McLean to any other candidate. 
In Ohio, young Salmon P. Chase lent his sup­
port to McLean over William H. Harrison for 
the Whig nomination.15 From 1789 to 1891, 
Supreme Court Justices were required to hold
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co u rt o n circu it o u ts ide o f the natio n’s capital, 
and McLean’s early circuit included the states 
of Ohio, Kentucky, and Tennessee.16 McLean 
worked very hard as a judge, but he also used 
these travels for political contacts. On circuit 
in Tennessee, McLean consulted with James 

K. Polk, then a member of the United States 
House of Representatives, and found that fu­
ture President also to be unenthusiastic about 
the candidacy of Van Buren.

But, in a move that was becoming a re­
curring habit, McLean again took himself 
out of the race. Robert Remini describes 
McLean’s eagerness and withdrawal in the 
1836 campaign:

But some states in the West had al­
ready started looking at another can­
didate. With Clay seemingly out of 
contention—and he made no move 
to solicit a nomination—the associate 
Justice of the Supreme Court John 
McLean of Ohio indicated his will ­
ingness to become a candidate. This 
was not the first time he had appeared 
ready to run, only to step aside at 
the last minute. At this juncture he 
seemed prepared to go the distance, 
and before the end of the year a rump 
caucus in Ohio officially nominated 
him.17

A divided Whig party with William Henry 
Harrison on the ballot in some states, Daniel 

Webster on the ballot in Massachusetts, and 
Hugh Lawson White in Tennessee lost the 1836 
election to Van Buren.

The growing weakness of the Van Buren 
administration eventually rekindled McLean’s 
presidential ambitions. He made no serious 
moves in 1840,18 but he began to make over­
tures toward the Whig nomination in 1844. 
Ohio Congressman Joshua R. Giddings was 
one of several leaders organizing on McLean’s 

behalf to secure the Whig nomination. It was 
also suggested that McLean might run as Vice 
President on the ticket with Clay in 1844. But at 
the Whig Convention in Baltimore, McLean,

true to form, finally sent a letter declining a 
possible nomination.

The 1848 presidential election turned out 
to be a three-way affair, with Lewis Cass for 
the Democrats, General Zachary Taylor for 
the Whigs, and former President Martin Van 

Buren for the Free Soil party, a newly formed 
antislavery party. Once again, Salmon P. Chase 
pushed for McLean, lobbying for him to be 

on the Free Soilers’ presidential ticket at its 
convention in Buffalo, New York. But after a 

backroom deal with the so-called Barnburners 
was struck, Chase went before the conven­
tion and withdrew McLean’s name. McLean 
later complained that Chase acted without his 
authority.19

The Mexican War became an issue in the 
1848 election. Whig leaders Clay, John Quincy 
Adams and young Congressman Abraham 
Lincoln all opposed it. Safe on the Supreme 
Court, McLean had no obligation to speak on 
the subject, but he had expressed displeasure 
with the joint-resolution procedure by which 
Texas was annexed to the United States in 
1845. It had also become very difficult  for the 
Whig party to skirt around the issue of slav­
ery, an issue McLean could not duck because 
it often came before the Supreme Court. In his 
opinions, the Justice appeared uncertain as to 
the power of Congress to regulate slavery in 
the territories.

Yet there was still strong support in Ohio 
for McLean, who ranked just behind Whig 

leaders Clay and Webster. Chase noted that the 
final choice for the Whigs in 1848 was between 
Clay and McLean. In Indiana, Caleb B. Smith, 
later Secretary of Interior to President Lincoln, 
strongly supported McLean’s candidacy. But 
the Whig party decided to paper over its di­
visions on the slavery issue by nominating a 
Mexican War hero. McLean’s lack of military 
service made it impossible to compete with 
General Zachary Taylor.

McLean was also passed over by the Free 
Soilers in favor of Van Buren, but that party’s 
vice-presidential nomination UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAw as tendered to 
McLean. A letter to Chase from McLean
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SHOOTING THE CHRISTMAS TURKEY.

In this cartoon, while Democratic and Whig candidates Lewis Cass (facing front with rifle) and Zachary Taylor 
(facing left) debate strategies to win the presidency—or “shoot the Christmas turkey”—Free Soil candidate 
Martin Van Buren (far right, pictured as a fox) makes off with the turkey. But Van Buren’s support for the 
Wilmot Proviso, which forbade slavery in territories acquired by the Mexican War, cost him the 1848 election 
and allowed Taylor, a Mexican War hero, to gain the presidency.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

ke p t the do o r s lightly ajar in case there was 
a “general upheaval” in his favor. No such 
upheaval occurred. The venerable Free Soil 
operative in Massachusetts, Charles Sumner, 

said McLean as a Free Soiler would have easily 
swept Massachusetts. Sumner wanted McLean 

to make a public announcement in favor of 
the Free Soil ticket. Declining, McLean em­
phasized his by-then-well-known view that he 
was in opposition to the extension of slav­
ery. Charles Francis Adams ran instead as Van 
Buren’s Vice President in 1848, but war hero 
Taylor would carry the day.

The 1856 Republican Convention rep­
resented the last real effort by McLean to 
secure a presidential nomination. By then 
McLean was a member of the newly cre­
ated Republican party. Interestingly, McLean 

had the support of Abraham Lincoln, who 
had regularly practiced law before him in the

In the run-up to the election of 1848, Supreme Court 
Justice John McLean (pictured) was seriously consid­
ered as a possible candidate by both the Whig and 
Free Soil parties.
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fe de ral co u rts in Sp ringfie ld and Chicago . 
Orville H. Bro wning, a p o litical p o we rho u s e in 
Illino is , als o s u p p o rte d McLe an. So did Ohio 
lawy e r No ah H. Sway ne , who wo u ld e ve ntu­
ally fill  McLe an’s seat on the Supreme Court 
in 1861. The first ballot at the Republican 
Convention gave McLean 196 votes to John 
Charles Fremont’s 359, prompting McLean to 
withdraw his name yet again.

McLean’s finest hour on the Court came 
the next year when he, along with Justice 
Benjamin Curtis, dissented in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red Scott v. 
Sandford .20 At the age of 75, McLean got a 
few scattered votes in the Chicago Republican 
Convention that nominated Abraham Lincoln. 
He died in the first month of Lincoln’s admin­
istration, giving the President the first of his 
five Supreme Court vacancies to fill. ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The Presidential Maggot in His Brain21

A booster for Justice McLean in several elec­
tions, Salmon P. Chase was himself consid­
ered but passed over for the 1856 Republi­
can presidential selection. The Ohio governor 
made a run in the 1860 Wigwam Convention 
on the Republican ticket, but he managed his 
campaign poorly. While Chase had been the 
“ favorite son” candidate of Ohio, on the third 

ballot Ohio changed four votes from Chase 
to Lincoln, assuring the latter’s nomination. 
The presidential fires, however, continued to 
burn in Chase, whom President Lincoln named 
Secretary of the Treasury in 1860. In an at­
tempt to gain the presidency, he tried to under­
mine the renomination of President Lincoln 
early on in 1864, courting extreme abolition­
ists and other Radical Republicans to sup­
port his candidacy. When that attempt failed, 
Chase resigned his Cabinet position. Holding 
no grudge, Lincoln appointed Chase as Chief 
Justice on December 6, but not without reser­
vations. As Lincoln confided to Representa­
tive George S. Boutwell, “But there is one very 
strong reason against his appointment. He is a 
candidate for the Presidency, and if  he does 
not give up that idea it will  be very bad for

him and very bad for me.” 22 Lincoln’s fears 
about Chase’s relentless presidential ambitions 

proved prophetic:

Mr. Chase will make an excellent 

judge if  he devotes himself exclu­
sively to the duties of his office and 
don’t meddle with politics. But if  
he keeps on with the notion that he 

is destined to be President of the 
United States, and which in my judg­
ment he will  never be, he will  never 
acquire the fame and usefulness as 
Chief Justice which he would other­
wise certainly attain.23

Chase has received generally good marks 

for the careful way he handled the attempted 
impeachment of Andrew Johnson by assuring 
a fair trial in the Senate. But his sympathy for 
Johnson caused him to lose favor with mem­
bers of the Republican party. Since he had been 
one of the founders of that party in 1856, it 
would have been logical that he run for the 
presidency on that party’s ticket in 1868. But 
as the impeachment trial was winding down on 
May 5, 1868, Chase spoke of his earlier status 
as a Democrat.

I was a Democrat then, too demo­
cratic for the Democratic party of 

those days; for I admitted no excep­
tion, on ground of race or color or 
condition, to the impartial application 
of Democratic principles to all mea­
sures and to all men. Such a Democrat 
I am to-day.24

After the 1866 midterm elections, how­
ever, Ulysses S. Grant began to emerge as the 
likely Republican candidate. Historian James 
M. McPherson explains why Chase fell behind 
Grant:

For almost a year before the Repub­
lican Convention met in May, 1868, 

Ulysses S. Grant seemed sure to be­
come the party’s nominee. Grant’s 
only serious rival was Salmon P. 
Chase, a perennial candidate, whose
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Having split with the Radical Republicans over their insistence on maintaining a military occupation in the 
South, Chief Justice Salmon P. Chase (pictured right) encouraged the efforts of some Democrats to get him 
the presidential nomination in 1868. This cartoon shows Chase vanquishing the “Radicals” while Democrats 
remind viewers of earlier Democratic victories. Despite wooing Democrats by modifying his support of black 
voting rights, Chase did not win the nomination.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

am bitio ns we re no t s atis fie d by the 
chie f justiceship of the Supreme 
Court. Most radicals favored Chase 
in 1867 and distrusted Grant be­
cause of the general’s antebellum 
Democratic leaning and his early 
postwar identification with Johnson’s 
reconstruction policy. But several 
developments muted these reserva­
tions about Grant: his endorsement of 
the congressional program in 1867; 
the Democratic gains in the off- 
year 1867 elections, which convinced 
many radicals that they needed to 
nominate a war hero rather than 
one of their own in 1868; and 
Grant’s bitter break with Johnson in 
January 1868. Moreover, Chase’s 
conduct of the impeachment trial, 
in which he had made clear his 
sympathy for the President’s acquit­

tal, caused the chief justice virtu­
ally to be read out of the Republican 
party.25

Thus, the ever politically ambitious Chief 
Justice Chase began to speak of his Demo­
cratic origins. His nineteenth-century biog­
rapher, Albert Bushnell Hart, chalks up 
Chase’s political opportunism to his “unsatis­
fied ambition.” 26

The Democratic Convention was held in 
New York in the summer of 1868; politi­
cal operatives William Cullen Bryant, Samuel 
Tilden, and former Governor of New York 
Horatio Seymour participated. Others, such 
as August Belmont, a prominent New York 
banker, supported Chase. Three weeks before 
the convention, a committee for Chase was 
formed in Philadelphia, and Gerrit Smith cre­
ated a pro-Chase circular, which he mailed out 
by the hundreds.
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Despite this weighty support for Chase, 
all was not well with his candidacy. That effort 
“seemed to have drawn Chase down a perilous 
course where his principles of equal rights 
for all were being eroded,”  wrote John Niven, 
his biographer. “The bright side of his char­

acter, the oft-spoken belief in common hu­
manity, was swinging slowly to the dark side 
of political expediency and even cynicism.” 27 

Some found it embarrassing that Chase was 
receiving political support from the former 

pro-South “peace Democrats,” especially the 
infamous Clement Vallandigham, also from 
Ohio. In 1864, Chase had participated in the 
arrest of Vallandigham, a Confederate, and 
the effort to try him before a military tribunal 
for sedition. Because of his new supporters, 
Chase lost the support of former boosters and 
friends such as James A. Garfield, Samuel 
C. Pomeroy, John Sherman, and Jay Cooke. 
Chase waffled on issues weighing the needs 
of newly freed blacks and former Confeder­
ates. He supported voting rights for blacks, but 
he also favored a general amnesty for former 
Confederates.

The Democratic party had a two-thirds 
rule at that time, and their conventions of­

ten went into long multiple ballots. As late 
as the sixteenth ballot, Chase was still alive 
as a candidate. Biographer Willard L. King 

states:

He received only a few votes on 
the convention floor, but in midnight 
caucuses, with the convention dead­
locked, he came close to being cho­
sen. But the suggestion that he was 

‘dragging his silk gown in the mire’ 
deterred the delegates.. .” 28

When Tilden opted to support fellow New 
Yorker Seymour, the Chase bandwagon fell. 
The convention nominated Francis P. Blair, 
Jr., whom Chase detested, as Seymour’s run­
ning mate. Chase was disappointed by the out­
come of the convention, as was his daughter, 
Kate Sprague, who ran his campaign. His first

words when he learned of his defeat were, 

“Does Mrs. Sprague know, and how did she 
bear it?”

During the 1872 campaign, Chase was ill  
and near death. According to his biographer, 
“ [djespite his physical condition, Chase still 
flirted with a run for the presidency.” 30 His 

support for the Liberal Republicans that year 

was only halfheartedly expressed: He died on 
May 7, 1873, having been unable to seriously 
involve himself in the campaign.

Lincoln’s Convention Manager, 1872

While Chase was too ill  to be involved in pres­
idential politics in 1872, another member of 
the Court, Justice David Davis, did participate. 
Davis was disenchanted with the Republican 
party, whose members resented his opinion in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
E x parte M illigan  .3I Like Chase, Davis had 
also been displeased with the Seymour-Blair 
Democratic ticket in 1868. Davis’s moment 
in the sun came in 1872, when Republican 
factions were looking for a viable candidate 

against Ulysses S. Grant, who had become 
a disappointment to many in the Republican 
party.

In January 1871, a group of legislators 

from Illinois called on Davis in Washington 
and urged him to run for President. He thanked 
them and claimed that he was not fitted for 
the job. He later recalled the incident, saying, 
“ I give you my word. After they left, I had 
not walked six blocks before I had my entire 
Cabinet picked out.” 32 Friends from Illinois 
lawyering and judging days hired Leonard 

Swett and Jesse W. Fell to begin to turn 
the political crank for Davis. They contacted 
New York political operative Thurlow Weed 
about running a “Davis for President” cam­
paign. Some influential newspapers appeared 
favorably disposed toward the Illinois Justice. 
Powerful Illinois Senator Orville Browning 

disdained Grant and promised Davis support if  
the Democrats nominated him. Young Melville 

Fuller, then a Democratic leader in Illinois,
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In this Thomas Nast 
cartoon, Chief Justice 
Chase (left) counsels 
Justice Davis (right) not 
to follow his lead and be 
consumed by presidential 
ambitions.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

expressed an interest in a Davis candidacy. 
Davis’s Republican friends were aghast at his 
popularity with the Democrats.

Luminaries such as Lyman Trumbull and 
Charles Sumner in the United States Senate 
were also disenchanted with Grant and formed 
a party called the “Liberal Republicans,”  dis­
tinct from the “Radical Republicans.” In the 
meantime, in February 1872 in Columbus, 
Ohio, the National Labor Union, which in­

cluded labor leaders from seventeen states, 
held a convention. The group wanted to nom­

inate Justice Davis, and efforts were made 
to join forces with the Liberal Republicans. 
One problem with the platform of the National 
Labor Union was that it called for expansive 

paper currency without a metal base and ad­
vocated that the currency be issued directly by 
the government, instead of by banks. When 
the labor convention tendered its nomination

to the Illinois Justice, Davis responded, “ [T]he 
presidency is not an office to be either solicited 
or declined.” 33 The Liberal Republicans ended 

up choosing the eccentric Horace Greeley, who 
lost to Grant running on a liberal platform call­
ing for more honest government.

Four years after his abortive attempts to se­
cure a presidential nomination, Davis resigned 
from the Supreme Court in 1877 and became 
a member of the United States Senate from 

Illinois. In 1881, the Senate was equally di­
vided between Democrats and Republicans. 
Davis was the only Independent, unaffiliated 
with any party and a man of conscience. As 

such, he was elected president pro tempore of 
the Senate, making him third in line in the pres­
idential succession. For a brief time after the 
assassination of James A. Garfield in 1881, 
Davis was next in line for the presidency after 
Vice President Chester A. Arthur.34
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The Field Brothers and the Democrats,ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

1880 and 1884zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

It is ap p are nt that the s tandards fo r judicial 
recusal were not rigidly drawn in the nine­
teenth century. In UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAE x parte M illigan, one of 
the advocates was David Dudley Field. His 
brother, Stephen J. Field, was a member of the 
Court. In spite of Field’s advocacy for Lambdin 
Milligan, Justice Field remained in the case 
and concurred in the Davis majority opinion. 
He also sat on other cases where his brother 
was counsel and wrote the Court opinion in at 
least one.35 David Dudley Field used his pres­
tige at the bar and his political influence to 
secure the Democratic presidential nomination 
in 1880 for Justice Field. Appointed by Lincoln 
as the tenth Justice in an enlarged Court, Field 
was a “War Democrat”  who remained loyal to 
the Union and to the Democratic party. The 
story of how the brothers secured a presiden­
tial nomination for Field is revealing.

Carl Brent Swisher, Field’s biographer, 
has recorded talking points used for Justice 
Field in the run up to the 1880 Democratic 
Convention. They included: (1) his pluck 
shown in various contests; (2) his comparative 
youth and personal vigor; (3) his record as a 
War Democrat; (4) his states’-rights record; (5) 
his hard-money record; (6) his strict construc­
tion of the Constitution; (7) his antagonism to 

presidential election frauds; (8) his freedom 
from entangling party complications; and (9) 
his never having voted a Republican ticket.36 
At one point when Field was advancing him­
self for President in the Democratic Conven­
tion of 1880, the San F rancisco E xam iner sug­
gested that the Supreme Court should adopt a 
rule preventing its Justices from running for 
President.37

In 1877, Field authored an autobiogra­
phy titled ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP erson a l R em in iscen ces o f E ar ly  
D ays in  C a lifo rn ia .  His two brothers had thou­
sands of copies of it made and circulated as 
a campaign document, along with the nine 
talking points referred to above. It was diffi ­
cult to make Field’s substantive due-process

philosophy fit  the needs of a Democratic party 
dominated by Southerners in 1880. Field had 

voted in favor of the railroad business inter­
ests when he dissented in M unn v. I llino is.^ 
His dissent in the Slaughterhouse C ases39 also 
won favor with the railroads. He was a close 

friend of Leland Stanford and C. P. Huntington, 
both railroad magnates from California. Field’s 
brother, Cyrus, who had gained fame and for­
tune by laying the Atlantic Cable, also had a 
business relationship with Huntington.

Field tried to endear himself to the states’ - 
rights southern element by casting a dissent in 
Strauder v. W est V irg in ia ,40 in which he would 

have permitted states to exclude Negroes from 
serving on juries. His majority opinions in the 
test-oath cases were also popular in the South. 
The Chinese exclusion cases were more diffi ­
cult for him to make any use of politically. Field 
had acted on circuit in In  re A h F ong41 in 1874, 
granting a writ of habeas corpus on equal- 
protection grounds in the face of a California 

statute that prohibited Chinese immigrants ar­
riving by vessel from landing until a bond was 
given by the master of the ship that the im­

migrants would not become a public charge. 
Field chose to use some colorful language in 
his opinion:

I have little respect for that discrimi­
nating virtue which is shocked when 
a frail child of China is landed on our 
shores, and yet allows the bedizened 
and painted harlot of other countries 
to parade our streets and open her 
hells in broad day without molesta­
tion and without censure.42

Field’s brother Cyrus had a business rela­
tionship with Tilden: Both owned a substantial 
interest in the elevated railways in New York 
City. At a key moment, Tilden sold his stock, 
leaving Cyrus high and dry. Cyrus never for­
gave him, which may explain why Tilden, who 
remained a power in the Democratic party in 
1880, was cool toward Justice Field as a pres­
idential candidate. Despite the Fields paying
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the way to the Democratic Convention for a 
number of delegates,43 Field was not selected 
for the ballot. California political operatives 
aborted any Field presidential effort in 1884 
before it even got off  the drawing board.

From the Supreme Court to theZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Presidency, 1916

Unlike most Justices, Charles Evans Hughes’ 

quest for a presidential UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAnom ination was a suc­
cess. This is because he did things right that 
his predecessors did not. Hughes got his start 
by leading an investigation into insurance cor­
ruption and then being elected Governor of 
New York in 1906. While Hughes had se­
rious designs on the Republican presiden­
tial nomination at the end of his first term 
as Governor in 1908, he chose not to chal­
lenge Theodore Roosevelt’s effort to nomi­
nate his Secretary of War, William Howard 
Taft. He did, however, decline a nomination 
to be Taft’s Vice President. At the end of 
his second term as Governor, Hughes was 
in the prime of his life, and people consid­
ered him an excellent administrator. Edmund 
Morris calls him a “coldly brilliant Republican 
lawyer.”44 In 1910, Taft, now President, ap­
pointed Hughes to the Supreme Court, where 
his service was exemplary.45 Some members of 
the Court, including Oliver Wendell Holmes, 
Jr., were very close to him. Others—including 
Edward Douglass White, whom Taft elevated 

to Chief Justice despite expectations that he 

would choose Hughes—were not.
What prompted this talented man to give 

up the relative security of the Supreme Court 

to run for President? He is the only Supreme 
Court Justice to have taken the risk of resigning 
from the Bench to make a bid for President. Yet, 
in stark contrast to Justices McLean, Chase and 
Field, Hughes was dragged into this presiden­
tial effort and did not initiate it. Prominent peo­
ple in the Republican party enlisted a reluctant 
Hughes to heal the schism in the Republican 
party created in 1912 when Roosevelt ran as a 
Progressive against Taft.

In 1916, it was said that only Hughes had 
a real chance of harnessing the Elephant and 
the Bull Moose to a victory chariot and defeat­
ing President Woodrow Wilson. It would not 
be easy, however, especially given the antipa­
thy between Hughes and Roosevelt. Roosevelt 
remembered and did not appreciate how polit­
ically independent Hughes, whose first guber­

natorial term overlapped with his last two years 
in the White House, had been as Governor 
of New York. “ I despise Wilson,” Roosevelt 
declared, adding “Hughes is not an attrac­
tive personality... for he is a very selfish, 
very self-centered man.”  At yet another point, 
Roosevelt said of Hughes, “ I thoroughly dis­
like him.” 46 Despite his distaste for Hughes, 
however, Roosevelt hated Wilson more, so he 
swallowed his pride and signed on to the 1916 
Hughes campaign. Roosevelt sent William 
Noble to tell Hughes that he considered him the 
“brainiest man now in public life in the United 
States” and “ the best-equipped man” for the 
presidency. Roosevelt also believed Hughes 
to be “sane, safe, and progressive.”47 As he 

had done twice previously, however, Hughes 
refused to allow his name to be used in the 
primary.

On April 11, 1916, former President Taft 
sent Hughes a long, pleading, and confidential 
letter, which is set forth in full  in his biography 
by Merlo O. Pusey. The penultimate paragraph 

of the letter reads:

In view of all this, my dear Justice
Hughes, I appeal to you not to de­
cide the question [about running for 
President] until the Convention acts. 
Then approach its decision, as you 
will,  with a solemn sense of the re­
sponsibility on you and with the will ­
ingness to make the sacrifice if  your 
duty to accept appears clear.

Taft added a postscript:

I have written without any one’s 
knowledge. I have not copied this let­
ter. I do not expect an answer. Indeed 
I would rather not have one.48
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Hu ghe s did no t re p ly to the Taft letter, and 
they did not meet again until after the Republi­
can Convention. Senator William E. Borah of 
Idaho opined that Hughes would carry every 

Republican presidential primary in 1916 if  his 
name were on the ballot. The polls showed that 
Hughes was a much more acceptable Repub­
lican candidate than Roosevelt. While he ex­
pressed a wish to remain on the Bench, Hughes 
could not bring himself to refuse point-blank 
to run. Vice President Thomas Marshall pub­
licly praised Hughes before the Chicago Bar 
Association for not seeking the presidential 
nomination.

President Wilson dangled the Chief 
Justiceship before Hughes in an apparent at­
tempt to dissuade him from entering the cam­

paign. Franklin K.. Lane, Secretary of the Inte­
rior, dropped a hint to Hughes at a dinner party 

that if  he stayed on the Court, he would be ap­
pointed as Chief Justice. Hughes never gave the 
tacit Lane offer any credence, but he did give 
a remark made by Chief Justice White serious 
thought, concluding that White must have been 
speaking at the suggestion of President Wilson 
when he told Hughes that he would soon retire 
and that Wilson would then appoint him Chief 
Justice.49

Unlike the situation with Field, when the 
content of some opinions became a political 
issue, nothing that Hughes had written on the 
Supreme Court and none of his votes on cases 
ever became a liability. When some operatives 
in the Wilson camp suggested making an issueZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

When Justice Charles Evans Hughes 
(pictured) reluctantly accepted the invita­
tion to be the standard-bearer for the Re­
publican party in 1916, he resigned from 
the Supreme Court the same day, thereby 
setting a precedent for leaving the bench 
before launching a political campaign. “I 
have not coveted its powers," he said of 
the presidency, “nor do I permit myself to 
shrink from its responsibilities."
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Hughes (on the left stan­
dard) lost to President 
Wilson (on the right 
standard) in a very close 
race. He was eventually 
re-nominated to the Court 
in 1930 to be Chief 
Justice.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

o u t o f “dragging the Su p re m e Co u rt into the 
m ire o f p o litics ,” 50 the y we re re m inde d that 
in 1904, Alto n B. Parke r, the n a judge on the 
Court of Appeals in New York, was the Demo­
cratic candidate for President. Wilson never 

made an issue out of Hughes being on the 
Court.

While the Republican Convention in 
Chicago was in session and beginning to vote, 
Hughes asked Robert H. Fuller, who had been 
his secretary and political advisor in Albany, 
to come to Washington. This was probably 

a signal that Hughes had made up his mind 
to accept the nomination. By the end of the 
second ballot, however, Hughes believed that 
he would not be nominated. He consulted with 
Fuller and continued to profess to his office 
staff “ if  they will  only choose some one else at 
Chicago today and let me go out West with my 
family this summer, I ’ ll  be the happiest man in 
the world.” 51 But that did not happen.

On the third ballot, the Republican nom­
ination was tendered to Hughes, who, on the 
very same day—June 10—submitted his res­
ignation to President Wilson. He wired his ac­
ceptance to the Republican Convention, say­

ing “ I have not desired the nomination, I have 
wished to remain on the bench. But in this crit­
ical period in our national history, I recognize 
that it is your right to summon and that it is 
my paramount duty to respond.” 52 Hughes set 
an important precedent in resigning from the 

Court in order to run for office. Oliver Wendell 
Holmes, Jr., expressed his regret and admira­
tion for Hughes’ sense of duty to his country:

DEAR HUGHES

Your first thought was of duty. I must 
confess that pretty near the first view 
here was the loss to the Court and es­
pecially to me. I shall miss you very 
much in every way—so much so that
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I wis h the ne e d o f the co u ntry co u ld 
have be e n p o s tp o ne d u ntil I am o u t o f 
this bu s ine s s . As it is I s hall lo o k back 
with affe ctio nate re gre t at the e nding 
o f the tim e du ring which we s at (and 
s to o d) s ide by s ide .53

They would serve together briefly again in 
1930-32.

Hughes fell short of the presidency by 
a handful of votes in the State of California. 
After his defeat, he became one of the super­
lawyers in the country until his appointment 
as Secretary of State in 1921. Hughes was the 
acknowledged leader of the American bar in 
1930 when President Herbert Hoover named 
him to succeed Chief Justice Taft, the man 
who had first placed him on the Court. The 
best summation of Hughes’s tenure as Chief 
Justice came from President Harry S. Truman: 
“There never was an abler man or a more eth­

ical one than Chief Justice Hughes.’ ’54ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Douglas v. Truman, 1944

Tommy “The Cork” Corcoran, a New Deal 
operative, once said that Justice William O. 
Douglas “wanted the presidency worse than 
Don Quixote wanted Dulcinea.” Like Justice 
Davis, Douglas would have been happy gain­
ing the presidency through the “back door”  
by inheriting it upon the death of the current 

President. In the 1944 election, his strategy was 
to be chosen as Vice President by Franklin 
D. Roosevelt. According to UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT im e magazine 

writer Eliot Janeway, Douglas wanted this po­
sition because “he knew the situation with 
Roosevelt’s health. Everyone did.” 55 Simon 
Rifkind once remarked, “ I had two classmates 
who wanted to be President in that class— 
one [Thomas Dewey] who ran for the office, 

and one [William O. Douglas] who didn’t. 
[Douglas] just wanted the office handed to 
him, but he wanted it just as much as the 
other.” 56 Becoming FDR’s running mate was

Vice President Henry A. Wallace greeted delegates at the Democratic Convention in Chicago while seeking 
another term as Vice President. Roosevelt turned against Wallace, however, and chose Harry S. Truman as his 
running mate. Justice William 0. Douglas had also harbored vice presidential aspirations, but he, too, was 
passed over.
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no t an e as y tas k. First, Douglas would have to 
gain favor over Henry A. Wallace, Roosevelt’s 

current Vice President. Then he would have to 
face an equally daunting task: winning favor 
over Truman. Douglas succeeded in the first 
endeavor, but not the second.

Historians have recently examined 

the political machinations that resulted in 
Truman’s nomination as Vice President at the 
Chicago Democratic Convention in 1944, and 
there are some essentials upon which they 
agree.57 When Wallace served as Roosevelt’s 
Vice President in his third term, he was 
considered the darling of the left wing of the 
Democratic party, especially with the leaders 
of the Congress of Industrial Organizations 
(CIO), Sidney Hillman and Philip Murray. In 

the Cabinet, Harold Ickes, the Secretary of 
Interior, affectionately known as “The Old 
Curmudgeon,” was also a stalwart Wallace 
supporter. So were Eleanor Roosevelt and 
Attorney General Francis Biddle. Wallace’s 
personal and political conduct, however, 
caused concern for many of the more practical 
political operators in the Democratic party, in­
cluding National Chairman Robert Hannegan 

of Missouri, California’s national committee­
man Edwin Pauley, and Postmaster General 
Frank Walker. There was a behind-the-scenes 
effort by Hannegan, Pauley, and Walker to get 
Wallace off the ticket. These and many other 
operators in the Democratic party were keenly 

aware of the fragile health of the President and 
realized that in selecting the Vice President, 
they were also likely selecting a President.

Roosevelt was never one to dwell on 
his own fallibility  and was indirect in han­
dling this sensitive political question. Some 
have described his dealings in this situation 
as “devious.” 58 James MacGregor Burns said 

FDR never pursued a more Byzantine course 
than in his handling the question of the vice 
presidency in 1944.59 The President sent a let­
ter to Senator Sam Jackson, the convention 
chair, stating that if  he were a delegate to the 
convention he would vote for Wallace, a good 
friend, but that he did not want to tell the con­
vention what to do. Roosevelt also told his

Chief of Staff, former South Carolina Senator 
and former Supreme Court Justice James F. 
Byrnes, that Byrnes had the most comprehen­
sive knowledge of how government worked. 

But Roosevelt raised questions about Byrnes’ 
former Catholicism, stance on the poll tax, and 
standing with Negro voters. Byrnes later com­

plained that FDR resorted to outrageous sub­
terfuge in selecting a Vice President.60

But the key event, which is still the sub­
ject of considerable discussion and dispute, 
was a meeting held by Hannegan, Walker, 
Pauley, Chicago Mayor Ed Kelly, Bronx boss 
Ed Flynn, and others in the White House with 
Roosevelt before the Democratic Convention 
on July 11, 1944. That meeting produced a 
handwritten note, now in the Truman Library:

At a later time, the note, postdated, was typed 
and signed by the President in the following 

form:

The White House 
Washington 

July 19, 1944 

Dear Bob:—
You have written me about Harry 
Truman and Bill  Douglas. I should, 
of course, be very glad to run with 
either of them and believe that either
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o ne o f the m wo u ld bring re al s tre ngth 
to the ticke t.

Alway s s ince re ly ,
/s/Franklin D. Roosevelt
Honorable Robert E. Hannegan
Blackstone Hotel,
Chicago, Illinois.61

This note seemed to eliminate one roadblock 
from Douglas’s path to the vice presidency: 
namely, it made it appear that Wallace was now 

out of the picture. Douglas’s future still looked 
good. He was one of FDR’s poker-playing bud­
dies and a loyal supporter of the New Deal. 
The President also seemed enthusiastic about 
Douglas as a running mate because Douglas 
was from the West and had a Boy Scout image. 
Moreover, Roosevelt was less than enthusiastic 
about Truman and had raised questions about 
his age. He was also quoted as saying that he 
did not know Truman well.62 Jimmy Roosevelt 
later said, “Although Father did not commit 

himself, I came away with the distinct impres­
sion that he really preferred Justice William O. 
Douglas as the vice-presidential nominee.” 63 
Douglas’s biographer Bruce Allen Murphy 
brings forth evidence that Douglas was very 
much involved and was being kept informed 

by a coterie of Democratic political operatives 
working on his behalf. These included a man 
named Teddy Hayes (one of the key people 
working for Ed Flynn, the Democratic boss in 
the Bronx, who was in touch with Douglas on a 

regular basis), as well as New Deal operatives 
such as Eliot Janeway, the economics editor of UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
T im e, Leon Henderson, a wartime price admin­
istrator, Abe Fortas, assistant to Interior Secre­
tary Harold Ickes, and Lyndon Baines Johnson, 
a young Congressman from Texas. New Deal 
operative Corcoran was also in on the Douglas 
effort. Ickes and Attorney General Homer S. 
Cummings now supported Douglas as well.

Unfortunately for Douglas, the road was 
not as smooth as he had hoped. It is not com­
pletely clear how Truman advanced ahead of 
Douglas. One possibility is that the note writ­
ten by Roosevelt to Hannegan was doctored or 
distorted. Some sources suggest that Hannegan

put his thumb over Douglas’s name, or that 
in coordination with the President’s Secretary, 

Grace Tully, he transposed the names to put 
Truman’s name first.64 Historians Robert H. 
Ferrell and Bruce Allen Murphy are both 
emphatic that there is no credence to the 
switched-names story, which was advanced by 
Corcoran.65

Roosevelt himself may also have been di­
rectly responsible for jilting Douglas. Ferrell 
has concluded that the events show “President 

Roosevelt elevated untruthfulness to a high 
art.” 66 As the Democratic Convention was be­
ing held in Chicago, FDR met with Hannegan 
on the train called the Magellan, which was se­
cretly parked on a Chicago siding, and tacitly 
approved the nomination of Truman.

Despite Roosevelt’s apparent dismissal of 
Wallace, many at the convention still sup­
ported him, including the leaders of the CIO 
and the permanent chairman of the conven­
tion, Senator Jackson. According to Ferrell, 
there came a point when “Roosevelt... turned 
against Wallace.” 67 But events unfolded so fast 
in the convention that the Truman nomination 

for Vice President was a done deal before there 
was any opportunity for Wallace’s people to 

gather around a Douglas nomination. Douglas 
was in the mountains, but he was at a location 
where he could be reached by telephone. If  not 
overtly involved, he was intensely interested. 
When the final roll call for Vice President was 
called, Douglas ended up with only a small 
handful of votes and seemed distressed when 
Hayes called to give him the bad news. When 
Hannegan and Douglas saw each other later at a 
party, Douglas asked how Hannegan had stage- 
managed the Truman nomination and killed off 
his and Wallace’s renomination in the process. 
Hannegan replied to Douglas that there might 
be something for him in 1948.

Truman  and  Douglas,  1948: A SecondZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Fiddle to a Second Fiddle

By early 1948, many in the Democratic party 
had become disenchanted with the presidency 
of Harry S. Truman. He had replaced almost
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all o f Ro o s e ve lt’s Cabinet. In most instances 
he did it gently, but in the case of Francis 
Biddle, Attorney General, there was not much 
gentle about it: The man from Independence 
and the Philadelphia aristocrat just did not 
get along. The newly formed Americans for 
Democratic Action (ADA), led by persons 
such as historian Arthur M. Schlesinger, Jr., 
began to openly complain about Truman. 

Representative Franklin D. Roosevelt, Jr., a 
New York Congressman at the time, was also 
critical of Truman. He persuaded his mother, 
Eleanor Roosevelt, to join the ADA. A candi­
date who appealed to many of the leaders of 
the ADA  was army general Dwight D. Eisen­
hower, now president of Columbia University. 
However, Eisenhower declined to become in­
volved in running for President on the Demo­
cratic ticket.

To many of the leaders of the Demo­
cratic party, William O. Douglas was still 
an appealing alternative, and Douglas took 
his candidacy seriously for a while. Long­
time Washington insider Clark Clifford said, 
“Douglas wanted to be President, of that I 
had no doubt.”68 It appears that President 
Truman was genuinely interested in having 
Justice Douglas on his ticket as Vice President, 
prompting former Senator Burton K. Wheeler 

of Montana, an erstwhile political enemy, to 
say that the Democratic vice presidential nom­
ination in 1948 would be a second fiddle run­
ning with a second fiddle.69

Douglas was certainly tempted to run with 
Truman, but not tempted enough to ignore 
the problems that his nomination would cause 
in other areas of his life. His marriage to 
Mildred Douglas was on the rocks, but she wasZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Justice Douglas (left, 
back row) considered 
running against President 
Truman (front, center) in 
the Democratic primary 
in 1948 but did not 
want to take the risk of 
resigning from the bench 
to campaign because his 
finances were precarious. 
President Truman sent 
emissaries to persuade 
Douglas to be his run­
ning mate, but Douglas 
declined, in part because 

he was not sure Truman 
would win the election.
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adam antly o p p o s e d to his le aving the Co u rt. 
The Douglases did not have significant fi ­
nancial resources, and they needed the Court 
salary just to make it day to day. Douglas was 
aware of the precedent set by Charles Evans 

Hughes in 1916, and he knew that if  he were 
nominated he would have to resign immedi­
ately. In addition to his financial concerns, 
Douglas may have also doubted Truman’s abil­
ity to win the election. He certainly would 
not have been alone in doing so, since early 
in the race few people thought Truman had 
a chance. Truman sent several emissaries to 
entice Douglas, including Clifford, Fortas, 
Hannegan, and Eleanor Roosevelt. Eventually, 
in a somewhat tense telephone conversation, 

Douglas declined the opportunity to be on 
the ticket, telling Truman that he chose to 
remain on the Bench. His desire to become 
President—or even Vice President—went un­

satisfied.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Robert H. Jackson ’s 
Presidential Ambition?

Judge Richard Posner has argued that William 

O. Douglas was not the only member of his 
Court with an eye on the presidency: Robert 
H. Jackson also had such ambitions.70 But ev­

idence of any presidential ambitions by Justice 
Jackson is minimal, especially during the time 
he spent on the Supreme Court, from 1941 to 
1954. Jackson scholar John Q. Barrett suggests 
that any such ambitions on the part of Jackson 
would predate his Supreme Court tenure.71

In the run up to the 1940 presidential elec­
tion before President Roosevelt announced for 
a third term, Jackson, then in the Justice De­
partment, was put forth to make the case for 
the New Deal in a major 1939 nationwide ra­
dio debate with Wall Street lawyer and future 

GOP candidate Wendell Wilkie. Jackson was 
considered a rising star with some potential 
for the 1940 Democratic presidential nomina­

tion, and at that point he probably did have 
presidential aspirations.72 Certainly Jackson

would have been considered a strong can­
didate in 1940 if  Roosevelt had declined to 
run, but Jackson was an all-out supporter of 
Roosevelt and would never have challenged 
him. Any vice-presidential aspirations Jackson 
might have had in 1940 and 1944 could not 

have been acted upon, because he and FDR 
were both from New York and subject to the 
“same state provision”  in Amendment XII  of 
the Constitution.

There is a remote possibility that Jackson, 
whom Roosevelt appointed to the Court in 

1941, harbored presidential ambitions in either 
1948 or 1952. He would have had a motive 
to run for President after Roosevelt died be­
cause, according to Barrett, he did not consider 
Truman a worthy successor to Roosevelt. Even 
Truman viewed Jackson as a Democrat with 
presidential potential, and he considered him a 
possible competitor in 1948. But Jackson took 
no action in that direction after his wrenching 
and exhausting experiences as the American 
prosecutor at Nuremberg. Eugene C. Gerhart’s 
extensive writings on Jackson in A m er ica ’ s 
A d voca te make no mention of any presiden­
tial ambitions while he was on the Supreme 
Court.73

Conclusion

Some of the most talented Justices of the 
Supreme Court have considered seeking the 
presidency. For some of them, the desire was 
brief and minimal. Chief Justice John Marshall 
indulged in only a fleeting and private flirta­
tion with the presidency, rather than a dalliance 
that evolved into a political engagement. Like­
wise Justice Jackson, while he may have con­
sidered the presidency, certainly took no overt 
action to attain it. For others, the dream of 
becoming President was ongoing, substantial, 
and occasionally even consuming. Although 
Justices Douglas and Davis tried to seize the 
presidency indirectly, by becoming the Vice 
President or president pro tempore under a 

sickly President, both men had their heart set 
on becoming President.
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Othe r Ju s tice s we re m o re dire ct in the ir 
ro u te . Ju s tice McLe an invo lve d him s e lf in 

p re s ide ntial p o litics fo r o ve r a quarter of a 
century; no other Justice before or since has 
invested so much time in seeking the White 
House. Chief Justice Chase’s preoccupation 
with the presidency began long before he was 
appointed to the Court, making his committ­
ment to judicial service a concern to Presi­
dent Lincoln and others. Chase’s lust for the 
presidency manifested itself in many ways, in­
cluding an attempt to sabotage Lincoln’s 1864 
renomination. Justice Field’s presidential pre­

occupation was limited to the time surrounding 
the Democratic Convention of 1880, but his in­

volvement may have influenced several impor­
tant Court decisions during this time. Justice 
Hughes was the most successful in his quest: 

after being drafted as the Republican candi­
date against his wishes, he resigned from the 
Supreme Court and lost a very close race to 

President Wilson.
Whether a Justice thirsted for the presi­

dency or merely considered it in passing, it is 
clear that the Supreme Court Bench has been 
a perch from which it is very difficult  to fly  to 

the Oval Office.
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Recollections  of  a Supreme  

Court  Page ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

F R A N K  L Y M A N ,  IN T E R V IE W E D  B Y  D A R R Y L  J . G O N Z A L E Z zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Frank Lyman was 13 years old when he was selected as a Supreme Court page. He served 
five years, from September 1923 until the spring of 1928, when he became too tall and was 
forced to leave the page corps. Mr. Lyman served his last two years at the Court as Head Page, 
supervising the other three pages he worked with.

This interview reveals a part of Supreme 
Court history that is rarely talked or written 
about, including pages’ interactions with the 
Justices, their daily behind-the-scenes lives, 
and what mischief they got into during those 
times when official duties had been completed. 
It is an insider’s view of the Court that nor­
mally receives little, if  any, attention in print, 
even in official government documents. How­
ever, pages have a long tradition of serving the 
Court, and it is time that their stories are told 
before they are lost forever. We see in this ar­
ticle that Mr. Lyman, as a young teenager, had 
daily contact with some of the most illustrious 
men who have served on the Supreme Court 

Bench: Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr., Louis D. 
Brandeis and William Howard Taft, among 
others.

The following is a compilation of a se­
ries of conversations that I had with him in the 
past year, and includes a small portion from 
his personal memoirs. Although Mr. Lyman 

was ninety-two years old when these inter­
views took place, his memory of events that 

occurred more than seventy-five years ago is 
remarkable. This article is taken verbatim from 
the conversations whenever possible, although 

small portions of it have been edited for read­
ability and cohesiveness.

D arry l  G on za lez Can you tell me how you 
became a page at the Supreme Court?

F ran k  L ym an  Well, a friend of the family 
was the Head Page at the Supreme Court 
at the time and he happened to know about 
my family’s situation, so he asked me.
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Head Page Jan Lamar (right), a great-grandson of Justice Lucius Q. C. Lamar, recommended Frank Lyman 
(left) be hired as a Supreme Court page in 1923. The Court ignored patronage letters written by Senators and 
Congressmen and hired pages based on one criterion: financial need. In a tradition dating to the Civil War, 
all the pages were the sons of widows. Lyman’s father, a Navy veteran, had just died of tuberculosis. Tom 
Cunningham (center left) and Sam Caldwell (center right) were the other two pages that Term.

D G  zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAWhat was your family’s situation?

F L  In January of 1922, my brother died at 
the age of 17. He died in the Knicker­
bocker Theater, when the roof collapsed 
from Washington’s biggest snow storm 
ever... along with ninety-six others, and 
then my father died of tuberculosis right 
at the beginning of 1923.

D G  Your father died of tuberculosis, and then 
how much time passed before you became 

a page?

F L  About a year.

D G Do you remember when this friend of the 
family asked you to be a page?

F L  Sure, sure. Jan Lamar, he was my brother’s 
friend, came over one evening, and he 
knew the family situation, and he said, “ I 
just thought I would mention the fact that 
there’s going to be a vacancy on the page 

boys,”  and he said, “ I can’t put in a good 
word,” he said, “but if  you go ahead and 
apply for that, you might stand a chance. 

I ’  11 just tel 1 them that your father died, and 
he was in the Navy.”

D G How did Jan Lamar get to be a page?

F L  His great grandfather was an Associate 
Justice of the Supreme Court, Lucius 
Quintus Cincinnatus Lamar (1888— 
1893). My grandmother knew him, as



310srqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJOURNAL  OF SUPREME COURT HISTORYZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Frank Green, the Marshal (far right), interviewed and hired Lyman for the $110-a-week page job after as­
certaining that he knew how to read. The responsibility for supervising the pages, however, fell to Thomas 
Waggaman, the Crier of the Court (partially obscured, fourth from left in back). This photo shows the Justices’ 
visit to the White House on the eve of the Court’s opening session in 1924.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

a matter of fact. I always remember her 
saying that he always had tobacco juice 
in his beard... UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA{ laughs') Now, isn’ t tha t 
romantic? At any rate, Jan came over and 
said there was an opening, that one of the 

pages had gotten a little too big, and they 
shooed him on the way. They didn’t want 
big fellows in there, they wanted boys, 
and he said there’s an opening there.

D G Do you remember going to the interview?

F L  The Marshal, Frank Green, as it turned 
out, he was from Georgetown in 
Washington, and my family, well, that’s 
where they settled when they came from 
the South. My family, in the early days, all 
lived in Georgetown, and my uncle hap­
pened to know Frank Green as a young 
man, and 1 think that pleased him to 
be able to go back a little bit and re­
member the old times at the interview. 
I think that helped a lot. So, he put me 
on, at $110 a month—a lot of money 
in those days. Like Jan though, I had 
a famous great-grandfather, too: George 
Alfred Trenholm, who was Treasurer of 
the Confederate States of America from 
July 1864 to April 1865, and maybe the

richest man in the country at the time. 
Supposedly, he was the inspiration for 
Rhett Butler in G one w ith the W ind. So 
maybe that helped too, I don’ t know.

D G Do you remember the conversation with 
Frank Green? Do you remember what he 
talked about?

F L  Well, he didn’t go into any real details, 1 
think he talked more about the old days, 
with knowing my uncle in Georgetown, 
and all that sort of thing, and he had heard 
of my mother and my father, and so forth. 

1 didn’t experience any problem, no real 
in-depth cross-examination from him at 

all; we mostly just talked. He did ask me 
if  I could read—that was one of the re­
quirements. So, I landed the job, he told 
me when to report, and that was really it.

D G Did he show you around the Capitol at all, 
or did you just go to his office?

F L  No, no, he just told me to report in, and 
he turned me over to Thomas Waggaman, 
who was the Crier of the Court. And he 
sort of had charge, I suppose he would be 
our supervisor of the pages. And he just 
turned me over to him and let me go.
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D G  zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBACan you describe that Waggaman fellow? 
What was he like?

F L  Well, he was tall, rather handsome. And, 
uh... he knew it! He attracted a little 
attention in his frocktail coat with the 
women that were coming there. He’s 

somebody that was all full of knowl­
edge. He might seem a little stiff, but 
he traveled around a lot, and the com­
pany he traveled with were all well-to- 

do people, I think, and the Waggaman 
family was well-known in Washington, 
you know. His family owned a lot of land 
in Washington. He was a likeable, easy­

going fella, and he put up with us... And 
we didn’t give them much to worry about. 

Frank Green didn’t worry about us any­
way, he let Waggaman do all that; that was UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
h is job. He was just a heck of a nice fellow. 
He knew how boys are, but he was easy, 
and he kept us straight, and we all liked 

him. He kept a good supply of candy in his 
top drawer, which we always enjoyed...

D G  Can you talk about Frank Green for a 

minute? What was he like?

F L  Well, it ’s sort of hard to describe him. He 
was rather bald, he didn’t have much hair. 
He had a red face. Just a pleasant looking 
fella, you know. Always had a smile.

D G  Since your friend, Jan, was already the 
Head Page, did he tell you much about 

the job?

F L  A little bit, but not much, no. I remember 
in detail this one thing, he said, “ I don’t 
have any real advice for you, except to 
be yourself, and you can’t get smart up 
here, particularly of your own hand. Why, 
you’ ll  end up the wrong alley. Just do what 
you’re told and you’ ll  impress everybody 
and find everybody very pleasant, very 
nice,” which they were. And, that was 
about all. He had a sense of humor and 

he was a good guy.

D G  Do you remember your first day of being 

a page?

F L  Yes, I do. The Court wasn’t in session at 
the time. So, I had plenty of time to be 
broken in and kicked around and fooled 
with, all that sort of thing, and so I felt a 

little bit like a page by the time they did 
arrive. Let’s see, they hired me in early 
September, and Court comes in about the 
first of October as I remember....

D G  What were the first few days like, being 
the new boy?

F L  Well, I was just sort of numb with it, I sup­
pose. I was obviously interested too, but 
having Jan there helped out tremendously. 
He had a great sense of humor, and he in­
troduced me to Sam Caldwell and to Tom 
Cunningham, the other pages, and he told 
me, he said, “ I ’ ll  tell you about these char­
acters right now,”  and he gave me a run­
down on Tom, a rundown on Sam. I don’t 

know, they had a lot of inside jokes, or sto­
ries about them; it made me feel at home 
very quickly. So I was very happy with 

them. When I went home after that first 
day, my mother asked me how it went, and 
I said, “Fine.”  And that’s about the extent 
of it.

D G  Can you talk about what you did as a 
page?

F L  Well, we would be behind the Bench, be­

hind the Judges’ chairs, and if  they wanted 
something, why, they would snap their 
fingers, and one of us would hurry and 
go see what it was they wanted. Now, I 
won’t say that’s all we did, I mean, we had 
to make sure that the Court was in per­
fect order, the quill pens and everything 
was all set up and ready to go. After the 
Crier was finished with his, “Oyez, oyez, 
oyez...” all the Judges would sit down 

and we would have to push in their chairs 
for them. But because there were only four 

of us and nine of them, we’d have to do it 
pretty quick. So, when they came in, we 
stood behind their chairs, these great big 

chairs, and occasionally we would have a 
little premature push, and we’d catch them
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in the back of the knee and bam! down 
they’d go! But, we were just messengers; 

that’s all we were, back and forth, off  the 
desk, back to the desk, all of the time...

D G  Tell me what you had to do with the quill 

pens.

F L  Well, just make sure they were in good 
supply, and all the desks were ready 
for them. We’d go in the Judges’ cloak­
room sometimes, where they would tell 
us if  they wanted anything, why, then, we 
would be there to help them out. And there 
really wasn’t very much for us to do.

D G  Did you ever have to go to the Library of 
Congress to get books?

F L  No, books that they referred to, generally 
speaking, were all right behind the Bench.

D G  They kept them right there?

F L  Yeah. So we just walked around the side 
and picked them out and brought them 
right back to them.

D G  What kinds of things did you have to do?

F L  Well, I was a server... for the Head Page 
for awhile. You know, he’d say, “ I want 
some chewing gum”  and other things, and 
I ’d be the one to have to go get it for him. 
They said it was a tradition, and every­
body does what the Head Page says. So, 
it was just a few weeks of that. I knew what 
was going on, but there was no real hazing 
of any kind; it settled down pretty quick, I 
guess because I knew Jan. But then when 

I became Head Page, I was sure to carry 
on that tradition.

We had a boy come in when 1 was 
Head Page, I ’ ll never forget him, Merritt 
Chance. I don’t know that I picked onZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

As the new page in 1924, Merritt Chance (left) got sent out to buy cookies and snacks until his mother came 
in and complained to the Marshal that the older boys (left to right: Lyman, John Kelton, and Sam Caldwell) 
were using him to run their errands.
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him too much, but when he came, we had 
to initiate him, and there was this under­

standing that the new boys were the er­
rand boys for the others. If  we wanted 
cookies or candy or anything, why, they 
would go and get them. So, it was al­
ways, “Hey Merritt, time for candy!” So 
Merritt would have to go down to the 
Senate place, or wherever it was, down 
to the candy stand down there and bring 
us back candy, you know. He didn’t ob­
ject too much, but we didn’t do it too 
long either; we didn’t want to be stupid 

about it. But he must have complained 
to his mother, because one day Merritt’s 
mother came down to the Supreme Court 
to the Marshal’s office and complained 
about her son being made a slave to the 
others and UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA(laughs) that straightened us 
out for awhile. But there wasn’t a great 
deal of that, you know, there wasn’t much 
occasion for it.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

D G  How did you get to work every day?

F L  I suppose mostly by streetcar, but I had 

a bicycle, and I would pedal down there 
sometimes, too. If  I had any errands to 
run, the Marshal would give me streetcar 
tokens, but I usually kept them and I used 

my bike to run the errands. Then I could 
use the tokens whenever I wanted to go 
other places. Traffic wasn’t very heavy, 
obviously.

D G  What else did you have to do day-to-day?

F L  The pages’ duties while sitting behind the 
judges on the Bench were really quite sim­
ple. There were requests for water and law 
books, which were both close at hand— 
just any errand required of us. I was Head 
Page for my last two years, and the title 
was purely a seniority situation although 
some supervision was expected of you, 
and your place on the Bench was directly 
behind the Chief Justice, and I might add 
staying awake was quite important.

D G  Did pages ever fall asleep during 
proceedings?

F L  Well, there was one place, one chair, that 
went back pretty far, no one could see you 
back there and I had a bad habit when I 
was Head Page, and so did Jan when he 
was Head Page, we used to get back there 
and snooze a little bit. I ’ ll  blame that one 
on Jan though, because when he was Head 
Page, he showed me how to do it. I hadn’t 
been there very long on the Bench and 
he changed places with one of the pages, 
one of the young pages, and went down 

there, and leaned way back and fell sound 
asleep. The Head Page was assigned to the 
Chief Justice, so when I was Head Page, 
I ’d be in the center, sitting right behind 
Taft, and that was between two posts, but 
the next page down below was between 
two big pillows, and he could put his chair 
way back and put his head back and catch 
a little sleep. But, it  wasn’t wise to do that.

If  we snored, I think Jan snored a 
little bit, why, we heard about it. Judge 
McReynolds, he was a sorta harsh fellow. 
I liked him, he was as bright as he could 
be, but he didn’t have much patience with 
us. I remember, he could always hear boys 
chewing gum. He’d snap his fingers and 
snap at us, “Spit out that wax, boy!” Oh, 
my... Now, think about it: here’s a man 
on the United States Supreme Court, with 
a big case going on, and he can take time 
out to reach back, snap his fingers and 
say, “Boy, spit out that wax!” It wasn’t 
ever “chewing gum,”  it  was “wax.”  I  never 
chewed any gum while I was there.

D G  What other kinds of mischief did you get 
into?

F L  A little craps-shooting was in order some­
times when Court wasn’t in session. In 
fact, we were back by Attorney General 
Harlan Stone’s office one time, down on 
the long carpet, it was a very nice place 
to roll the dice, you see, you didn’t have
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to slide them on the slippery floor, you 
could use the carpet, and I thought there 
was somebody standing behind me, and 
I looked back there and there was the 
Crier, our boss, Waggaman. He looked at 
us and said, “This is not a very good place, 
fellas!” ...

DG Do you remember other times that you 

had to find things to do?ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

F L  Oh, bowling. Yeah, when they weren’t in 
session, we had a bowling set, and we’d 
set it up on the long carpet by the Attorney 
General’s office. We would bowl, shoot a 
little dice here and there...

DG Did you ever pay attention to the cases 
that were being argued, or the legislation 

in Congress?

F L  When we weren’t in session, we were 
pretty much on our own. If  the House or 
Senate was in session, I would spend time 
in the galleries and listen to the debates, 
and on occasion would find it all very in­
teresting. In the Courtroom, though, some 

of the cases, the tax cases and some others, 
were way over our heads. They were for 
people who really knew what law meant, 
but there were others that were pretty 
much down to earth, and the Justices 
would loosen up once in awhile. Usually, 
I had an autograph book with me and any­
one that looked important would be asked 

for their signature....

DG When you were alone with Chief Justice 
Taft, would there be any conversation?

F L  No, he wasn’t all that talkative with us. 
He didn’t communicate too much with the 
boys or with me. Maybe a “How are you 
today, young fella?” or something, you 
know, this type of thing. But he was al­
ways pleasant, always a smile, a big smile, 
and we liked him very much. Personality- 
wise he was great....

DG Did you have the occasion to ever meet 

Mr. Coolidge?

F L  I didn’t meet him, but I was at his in­
auguration. His inauguration was at the 
Capitol. They asked the Marshal to turn 
the four of us pages over to do duty 
for the inauguration—turn us into service 
guides, and help with the people getting 
seated, and so forth. And so we did what­
ever we were told to do. We stood there 

and we had a sign on our chest that said 
“Guide” or whatever, and we just seated 
people and helped them. And then when 
the curtain closed and they were getting 
ready to go on, why, we were first to go 
through the procession, and that’s when I 
came back into the Court and I went in the 
back there, sat up and watched it happen. 
I felt badly about it too because I thought 
someone in my family would love to get 
up there and watch the procedures.

DG Can you describe where you were, where 

you sat?

F L  Yes, it was directly behind the middle of 
the Bench. There was a big double win­
dow, and three settees, and there’s a win­

dow on both sides. That’s where I was, 
sitting on that small settee looking out 
the window onto the East side of the 
Capitol. We didn’t go back there much, 
except when we sat there when we did 
any studying and things like that. I was 
all by myself.

DG And when you looked through the win­

dow, what did you see?

F L  Well, I could see what was going on. I 
couldn’t hear what was going on, but I 
could see Coolidge and the swearing-in 
procedure, and all that sort of thing. And 
just the fact that the crowd was so big, and 
the band was playing, and all the singers 
were there; that was really stimulating.

DG Any cases that you remember spe­
cifically?

F L  No. But there wasn’t much excitement on 

the floor. It was very cut and dry. And
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The Supreme Court pages were asked to help out as guides at President Coolidge’s inauguration. Lyman 
watched the swearing-in ceremony from a settee in the Courtroom (then lodged in the Capitol building), 
through a window looking down onto the crowds.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

I only wished at the time, several times, 
that I could understand what was going 
on. I know John W. Davis was a famous 
lawyer in those days, in fact Charles Evans 
Hughes wasn’t on the Bench yet at that 

time, but Hughes, he was on a case op­

posite John W. Davis, and they attracted 
a lot of attention, and to listen to them 
and in many instances, not understanding 
them in their language was still a pleasure. 
We thoroughly enjoyed them. And I ’ ll  tell 
you, the judges seemed to straighten up 
with them too, and it attracted a lot of at­
tention inside the Courtroom. I know the 
number of people watching would grow 
during that period when a big case like 

that was going on...

D G  Can you remember any funny things that 

happened during sessions?

F L  We had several amusing things that hap­
pened. It broke up the days, you know. 
For example, one time, Judge Brandeis 
snapped his fingers and he wanted some­
body to go back and put back a book, and 

he snapped his fingers, and one boy, Sam 
Caldwell, stuck his head in between the 
chairs, right through there to get the book, 
and as he did, Brandeis had picked up the 
book and handed it back to him, and it 
hit him right in the face. He gave him 
a black eye! It was tremendous. He and 
Judge Brandeis were friends after that!

D G  And did that disrupt what was going on 
in the Court?

F L  No, no it didn’t, I mean, it was just done 
very quietly, and Sam didn’t yell or any­

thing, and we administered to him and
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that was it. Another time, we had one of 
the big cases, I remember, there was si­
lence because the judges wanted to talk 
among themselves, or pay special atten­
tion to, I don’t know whether it was to 

Judge Holmes or Judge McKenna. Judge 
McKenna was on the Bench the first year 
I was there, but he left that following year. 
If  he wanted to know something, he turned 
either to Brandeis or Holmes all the time 
I was there. If  you wanted to know any­
thing, you always got the answer from 
either one of those two. Taft would al­
ways move his head to the right or left 
and listen to Holmes or McKenna when 

he wanted to know something. And, so 
that’s where they were, they were con­
ferring, you see, everything was deadly 
silent, and in comes a big lawyer, walks 
through the little gate, picks out an arm­
chair, sits down and spreads his legs, and 
then he leans back and the chair tips back­
wards, and his feet go up in the air, and 
the big guy falls over and, of course, that 
broke us up, you know, and we had to go 
down and ask him if  he was all right. Sev­
eral little things like that happened to sort 

of break the monotony. And the biggest 
one I wouldn’t want to necessarily pub­
lish because it would spoil the dignity of 
the Court, but I can remember it well.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

D G  Do you want to tell it?

F L  The Crier, Thomas Waggaman, was sick 
this day, and the Marshal took his place, 
Frank Green. Now, Frank Green was a 

little rusty, but he used to be the Crier 
himself. As a matter of fact, he was even 
a page at one time. He went up the lad­
der. So, the Marshal was a little hazy. Of 
course, it ’s supposed to go, I can remem­
ber, “Oyez, oyez, oyez, all persons hav­
ing business before the Honorable, the 
Supreme Court of the United States, are 
admonished to draw near and give their at­
tention, for the Court is now sitting. God 
save the United States and this Honorable

Court!”  and bam! goes the gavel, and ev­
erybody sits down, and let’s get on with it. 

But this day, the Marshal, as I say, was a 
little hazy on it, and he says, “All  persons 
having business before the Honorable, the 

Supreme Court of the United States, are 
admonished to draw near and give their at­
tention, for the Court is now sitting. God 
save the United States UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAfrom this Honor­
able Court.” And we just all gasped and 
looked at each other, but everything car­
ried on. You know, he couldn’t go back 

and fix  it.

D G  How did everyone else react?

F L  I think that there wasn’t too much reac­
tion. Well, Taft, being the friendly, gallant 
guy that he was, had put his head down, 
and I was particularly interested in his re­
action to it because the pages realized the 
mistake as soon as it happened and we all 
looked at each other, like, “Ooooo, listen 
to him!” And I watched Taft, and after 
we sat him down, he looked over at Frank 
Green and smiled and shook his finger 
at him. And that shows you what kind of 
man Taft was—he was a good guy. Poor 

Frank Green, his face was as red as a beet. 
But he couldn’t go back and say, “No, I 

didn’t mean that!”

D G  Because the Supreme Court was in the 
Capitol at the time, did you have much 
contact with House and Senate pages?

F L  We used to go over to the House and the 
Senate. I used to go over to sit in the 
gallery in either one of the places when 

things were a little dull. And we could 
come and go as we please, as far as that 
was concerned, and I knew some people 

over there in the House because my cousin 
was a House page, Gus Meade. The 

Senate and the House pages used to have 
a little competition going about who was 
superior—you know, talking all the time 
like they were better than the next. They 
used to play basketball against each other.
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D G  zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBABut, Supreme Court pages were left out 
on stuff like the basketball games?

F L  No, we didn’t have any athletics at all. We 
just didn’t, I remember that. Now, I had 
a couple of friends over in the House and 
Senate, and I spent a lot of time over in 
those other places. Of course, we spent 
time sightseeing, too, and doing stuff we 
weren’t supposed to be doing...

D G  Like what?

F L  Sometimes we’d get the key to the Dome 

in the Capitol. In order to get up there, 
you’d have to go ask the man, “Let me 
have the key.”  And then you’d go up the 
big metal steps, up the back way, up into 

the top of the Dome and look down into 
the Rotunda, and also go out on the out­
side of the Dome, and we could go out 
there and look over the city....

D G  Were there other places that only you 
could get to because you were a page?

F L  Well, sure. I don’t know whether you’re 
interested in a little story about the 
House—what the House pages did. Now 
that I think of the initiation stories, I can 
remember one thing that Gus told me they 
did. I think under the House Floor—of 
course, there is a tremendous basement 
there, with pipes and everything running 
all over the place, all the wires and just 
whatever, and there’s a couple of trap­
doors on the Floor up near the Speaker’s 
desk as I remember, and because I  ’ve been 
in there, I ’ve seen it....

D G  Can you tell me about the uniforms that 

you had to wear?

F L  Oh, well, it was just regular trousers 
with stockings. We changed clothes down 
there in the basement. I  wore long trousers 
to work, but I changed into black stock­
ings and knickers and just a regular clean 
shirt, and that’s about all. We didn’t want 
to be seen in short pants running around. 

I had to hide from the girls because I

didn’t want them seeing me in stockings! 
We were embarrassed to have to wear the 
stockings. That’s a little exaggerated, but 
these young schoolgirls would come in, 

sit down before Court started or when we 
weren’t in session and ask us questions 
sometimes. When we had an opportunity 
to talk to them, we would. I ’m just jok­
ing about hiding from them because they 
probably didn’t give two cents what we 

looked like, but any rate, it went through 
our minds.

D G  Where did you change clothes—in the 
Justices’ Cloakroom, or did pages have 
a separate dressing room?

F L  Well, I had a dressing room down there 
in the basement. The engineer had an of­
fice in the basement—the fella that had to 
do with all the heating and everything in 
the Supreme Court, and take care of any 
mechanical problems, he had a little of­
fice down there. I don’t know what House 
and Senate pages did, but this was strictly 
for Supreme Court pages because he was 
the engineer for the Supreme Court area, 
you know. So they assigned us there to 
hang our clothes; if  we wanted to change, 
we could. Now, I didn’t change there the 
first two years, I think, but then I began 
wearing long trousers down to work, and 
I would change them down there into the 
stockings.

D G  Was there a locker down there, or a 
shower, or was it just a space that you 
changed?

F L  It was really just a basement, and he had 
his own office down there, so to speak... 
Not much of an office. He was a nice 
guy...

D G  Can you tell me about the other pages?

F L  John Kelton was very nice. He seemed 
more like college than high school. John 
was very straight. Any old nasty conver­
sation, he would stay clear of things like 

that. You know, he didn’t do things like
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Although they worked in the same building, the Supreme Court pages were not invited to participate in the 
athletic games of the House and Senate pages, who played basketball, baseball, and marbles and were invited 
by politicians for weekend retreats. Above, Senator George W. Pepper enjoys a game of baseball with the 
Senate page boys in front of the Capitol in 1924. Below, Congressman R. Walton Moore entertains a group of 
House of Representative pages at his Virginia estate in 1922. (Lyman’s cousin Gus Meade sits in the second 
row, just to the left of the center column.)
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that. I think he put up with us; that’s about 
the extent of it. I mean, boys did stupid 
things, but he wasn’t involved in any of it. 
It ’s too bad that he died while he was still 

a page....ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

D G  How did the pages get along with the 
Justices?

F L  Well, we never had any conversation in 

depth, really. One or two occasions, they 
would say, “Hey, how are you getting 
along? Do you find school difficult at 
night?” and things like that. “Have you 
always lived in Washington?” Just any­

thing they could think of. Small talk. They 
didn’t go into any depth about anything 

with us.
Now, Judge Brandeis was a bit dif­

ferent. One of the pages with me, Sam 
Caldwell, he and his mother used to go to 
the opera a bit and the big shows, and he 

ran into Judge Brandeis a couple of times 
there, and this boy, well, he made him­
self known to Brandeis at the opera. Well, 
Brandeis was tickled to death. And when 
Brandeis would come around, he would 
stop and talk to Sam for quite awhile 
about such-and-such an opera, and this 
Sam was a very intelligent, well-educated 

little boy, and so they were good friends. 
I think Brandeis lived with his sister in 
an apartment and she was very, very nice 

too. All  of them were, as far as I ’m con­
cerned. Judge Brandeis was a wonderful 
fellow.

D G  Can you tell me what you remember about 
some of the Justices?

F L  Well, I mentioned Judge McReynolds. 
There was an article in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAL ife magazine 
a few years ago saying that Justice 
McReynolds was a cantankerous and big­
oted individual. I don’t know that I could 
refute that statement, but somehow I re­
sent it. Of all the judges, he was by far the 
most brusque with everyone, and many 
times I was embarrassed by his treat­

ment of the lawyers. Taft, Holmes, and 
Brandeis were my favorites, and I am sure 
this stems from observing their attitude to 
others, including the people around them, 
as well as the attorneys they faced each 
day.

D G  How about him? {Show s M r. Lym an a 
p ictu re of Justice V an D evanter.)

F L  Van Devanter, yeah. He was a great guy. 
I ’ve been to his house. He was a man of 
few words. He would say, “Good morn­
ing”  or “Good evening,”  and that’s about 
the extent of it. And that pretty much ap­
plies to all of them. Mr. Van Devanter was 
very nice, he was a little distant.

Now, Oliver Wendell Holmes, he was 
a little different. He would stop and talk 
to us going into conference, stop and talk 
to us, stop and ask us questions. He knew 
Sam Caldwell pretty well, like Brandeis, 

he was the same. He was really nice to 
be around. You felt his presence on the 
Bench; he was some man.

D G  Here’s Justice McKenna. He was there 
only a short time while you were there. 
{H ands h im  p ictu re of Justice M cK enna.)

F L  Yeah, now I guess he left soon after I got 
there. I was there with him a year. He was 
quite elderly, very brainy, but I didn’t get 

to know him very well.

D G  You must remember him. {H ands M r. 
Lym an a  p ictu re of C hief Justice Taft.)

F L  All  I can say about this William Howard 
Taft was that he was so pleasant—big 
smile, always friendly, we all liked him. 
Just a jolly  man. I don’t think he spent any 

time with the pages. There wasn’t much 
time for it as far as that goes. Well, they 
could’ve made time, but you know...

Speaking of Taft, Taft was a tremen­
dous man as you know, big man, heavy, he 
was a jolly  man, and on the Senate side of 
the Capitol, there’s marble steps coming 
up to the Supreme Court Marshal’s office.
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Because of his large size, Chief Justice Taft (right) had trouble climbing the marble steps to the Marshal’s 
office and his Chambers in the Capitol building. So they built a two-man elevator to carry him up and one of 
the Supreme Court pages accompanied him. Pictured are (left to right) Justices Brandeis, Clark, (President 
Wilson,) Butler, McReynolds, Day, Holmes, and McKenna on a visit to the White House.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The Marshal’s office is at the top of the 
steps. It was an awful climb for Taft, so at 
the top of the steps they built a two-man 
elevator—only about two people could be 

on it, a boy and Taft. So, when it ’s time for 
the judges to start making their appear­
ance, we’d keep an eye out the window 
for him, and, we’d say, “Here he is.”  Then 
one of the boys would go run down, take 
the elevator down to the first floor, and 
they’d be waiting for him. Then we’d get 
on up the elevator, and into his room, and 
it worked very nicely. But I ’ve been told 
that elevator’s been closed over.

They came to work every day in dif­
ferent ways. I remember Judge Holmes 
would come in a horse and buggy and we 
would run out and greet him at the curb 
and help him with his stuff.

D G How about Justice Sanford? UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA{H ands 
M r. Lym an a  p ictu re of Justice Sanford .)

F L  Sanford. He was another one of these men 
who was quiet and kept pretty much to 
himself as far as I could see. I don’t know 
how I could describe that, but I mean, he 
came in and he went out. That was about 
the extent of it. He was pleasant to us, in 
fact, they all were. I mean, every now and 
then, you’d get a pat on the head, or the 
shoulder or something and that was it, but 
I have no experiences to relate.

One of the later judges, Judge Stone, 
who was the Attorney General, was very 
nice. He gave me a written recommenda­
tion for a job at the State Department.

D G Is it true that they didn’t have offices in 
the Capitol?

F L  That’s right, they didn’t. I don’ t remem­
ber them having offices, at least. Their of­
fices were in their homes, most of them. 
I don’t know if  there were exceptions to
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that rule. Somebody may have had an of­
fice somewhere—downtown, but I never 

heard of it.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

D G  So would you go to their houses in the 
evening?

F L  Their secretary would call, and say that 
one of them would need a certain book 
that they didn’t have a copy of, or some 

papers that the Marshal had, and we would 
hustle just as fast as we could and go and 
take it out to them. Yeah, we’d go to their 

houses, and fortunately most of them all 
lived right up close together.

D G  Where did they live?

F L  Taft was on Wyoming Avenue, and 
Brandeis was the street below it, off 
Connecticut Avenue, and I think Holmes 
was down on I Street for a little while. 
Judge McReynolds lived in an apartment 
house in northwest Washington, just an 
average hotel-type place.

D G  You met their wives and their families?

F L  No. Had no close relationship with them 
at all...

D G  Were there any women who worked at the 
Supreme Court?

F L  There wasn’t a lady involved in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAany fea­
ture of the Court. The Marshal himself 
didn’t even have a lady secretary.

D G  What were you doing for school the whole 

time you were a page?

F L  It was strange to tell the eighth-grade 
teacher goodbye after being in her room 
a week or two when I started. I was com­

pletely involved in school, friends and 
outdoor activities at the time, and I missed 
out on it all. On the other side, I rather 
looked forward to the challenge. The fact 

that I was making money for the family 
didn’t hurt either. Each year we reported 
to the Court on October 1, and were re­

leased June 30, so that didn’t leave a lot 

of time for school.

I was in junior high at that time, but 
school was very sketchy from there on.
I was 13 in the fall of 1923, and I at­
tended Adams Elementary School; it  went 
up to eighth grade. One or two weeks after 
school started, that’s when I quit and went 
to the Supreme Court. So my education 
was interrupted, but I did pretty well with 
it. For about two years, I went to a night 
school in Georgetown three nights a week 
at the Devitt Prep School. Dr. Devitt was 
a professor and he started the school and 
taught there.

D G  Where was Devitt? I know it was in 
Georgetown; do you remember where?

F L  I ’  m not too sure. I think it was on 36th 
Street, is there such a thing in George­
town, I don’t know. He had two or three 
houses—they were joined together—and 
quite a few pages were there. The 
Supreme Court, the three of us went, the 
three of us boys were there. And he moved 
down to Connecticut Avenue later on.

I took the streetcar each night and I 
must say my heart wasn’t in it... I ’m not 
sure that I learned anything. Just ordinary 
high-school stuff. I read about George 
Washington and Abe Lincoln in elemen­
tary school, and what little grasp of the 
English language I had was obtained at 
the Supreme Court and home. I went to 
several schools after that. I attended busi­
ness schools off and on for three years; 

a little bookkeeping, shorthand, which I 
never used, and typing. That probably was 
the extent of my public education. See, my 
education was quite limited. I went to the 
Woodward School for Boys after Devitt. 

I didn’t go away to college anywhere.
On the other side, I stayed close to 

my friends and participated in most sports 
on weekends and didn’t miss out on night 

activity as engaged by high school kids. 
To sum up this experience as a page, there 
was an advantage: consider the company 
I kept, and anyway, there was plenty of 

spare time to read and study if  you wanted
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to. I got most of my education through the 
Supreme Court. I really couldn’t qualify 
that but I think it was the atmosphere and 
the dignity of it and that sort of thing.

DG Well, not many people can say that. How 
did you decide when it was time to leave 
the Supreme Court?ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

F L  Well, I didn’t decide. I just knew from 
experience that my height and everything 
else had increased to the point where they 
weren’t going to need me any longer. But, 
I didn’t go in and quit. No, sir, I didn’t 
go in and quit. I went in and sat with 
the Marshal near the end of the year and 
talked to him. And I said—well, I made UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
h im say something about it first. “You 
know,”  I said, “ I  just came in to... I hope 
you have a nice whatever... summer.”  He 
said, “Yeah, Frank, about next year...”  I 
said, “Yeah, that’s what I want to discuss 
with you,” because I knew that I ’d been 
there five years, I didn’t want it  to come as 
a surprise. He said, “Well, I was going to 
let you know.”  That was the end of it. So, 
he let me go, all right; I had to move over, 
let somebody else come in. But when I 
was married, then I got a temporary job 
there in the Marshal’s office just to tide 
me over until my other job turned up.

DG You said earlier that they wanted boys as 
pages. Why do you think that was?

F L  In those days, and I don’t know how it 
was later on, but you couldn’t get a job 
as a page with a congressional backing at 
all; there was no patronage that I knew of. 
They just decided to hire a boy, but it had 
to be someone who needed the money. I 
think it stemmed from maybe back after 
the Civil War, the boys who were put on 
the Bench were sons of widows. That’s 
what I was told by someone who worked 
in the Marshal’s Office a long time. That’s 
not a fact necessarily, but, I mean, it  makes 
sense, because I was asked only after my 
brother and father had died, and the other 
boys I worked with didn’t have fathers ei­

ther. They had to need the money. Like
I said, I worked for a short while in the

Marshal’s Office after I was a page when
I was first married, and we had in the
Marshal’s Office a whole cabinet full of 

letters from Senators and Congressmen. 
A little exaggerated, I guess, but there 
were lo ts of requests for their state to be 
recognized and have a page boy in the 
Supreme Court, but they were never rec­
ognized because they always chose a boy 
who needed the money.

DG Do you think being a page helped you 
later in life?

F L  I think it did in associations-wise and the 
people I met and knew and talked to. I 
was never involved or never around any­
thing that might send me off on a tan­
gent someplace. It taught me how to be 
a good worker. But as far as my time in 
the Supreme Court, I can’t think of any­

thing except that it was a wonderful expe­
rience, and I made myself known around 
the Capitol, like with William Tyler Page, 
and I was in with the doormen of both 
Houses, so I could go in either Chamber 
without any problems when we weren’t in 
session; I ’d go up and sit in the balcony 
and listen to what was going on.

There is one thing for sure: that the 
memory of sitting within arm’s reach 
of William Howard Taft, Oliver Wendell 
Holmes, Louis Brandeis, and the others 
has never left me.

A school was set up in the late 1920s in 
the basement of the Capitol for House, Sen­
ate, and Supreme Court pages. Today, both the 
House and Senate administer their own school 
for pages.

The Supreme Court began phasing out the 
use of pages in 1974, when it replaced one of 
the four pages with a night law student. The 
Court did the same in 1975. By 1976, pages 
were no longer being used.
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and What They Meant for MeZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

H A R R Y  A . B L A C K M U N *

I . P re lim in a ry zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

There are those who have said I should write a book, and there are those—about the same in 
number—who have said I should not write a book. Those in the negative assert that my “book”  
already is written in the several hundred opinions (majorities, concurrences, dissents) I have 
filed over the years, and in my public utterances. There are valid arguments, I suppose, on both 
sides. I certainly do not wish to write anything that merely seeks to explain further my vote in 
decided cases, or to comment—supportively or adversely—on colleagues’ votes, or to express 
little more than after-the-fact criticism. In that context, what might be said belonged in the 

decisional process itself. But there are other things in Supreme Court experience. Law students 
are inclined to ask questions. Example: “Tell me, how does one come to be a federal judge?”  
Justice Tom Clark had a direct response: “One has to be on the corner when the bus comes by.”  

One federal appellate judge plaintively said to me: “The only reason I am on the federal bench 
is because I was a close friend of a United States Senator.” (He had served for a time as the 
Senator’s administrative assistant.) It may perhaps be said that every federal judge comes by his 
status in his own way. Of course, there are things one must not do, but I doubt that there is a 
specific path one must follow to be eligible and seriously regarded as a candidate for federal 

judicial service.

I took my first federal judicial oath on 
November 4, 1959, more than thirty-six years 
ago. That was a day with emotional overtones 

for me. One reason for this was the respect and, 
indeed, almost reverence I felt for the federal 
bench, having had the good fortune to be the 
recipient of a Court of Appeals’ clerkship in 
1932-1933 and having seen firsthand the re­

sponsible work of most federal judges of that 
time, their devotion to duty, their integrity, and 

their concern for the positions they occupied.
But a more intimate reason for me was that 

my clerkship was with a newly elevated federal 
appellate judge whom I greatly admired, and 

whom I had the privilege to succeed. He, rather 
than some of us lesser figures, deserved to be
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This photograph shows Harry Blackmun (standing second from the right) with the other associates at the 
Minnesota law firm of Junell, Driscoll, Fletcher, Dorsey & Barker.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

o n the Su p re m e Co u rt. Bu t the p o litical s itu­
atio n at the tim e , and fo r s e ve ral y e ars the re­
afte r, was o u t o f s te p fo r him . That fact did not 
lessen my respect for John Benjamin Sanborn, 
Jr., an able, fair-minded, hard-working jurist of 
Minnesota who came to his years of influen­
tial service in the late 1920s and the 1930s. 
I was extraordinarily fortunate in having met 
him, in having worked as a clerk for him, and 
in having profited so much from his strikingly 
correct mentorship.

II. Getting There

I suppose I first should say something about 
how I landed on the federal bench. Much of 
what I say at this point contains elements of 
speculation, for at the time I actually knew little 
of what was happening. Nevertheless, I believe 
that most of what I recite did take place.

After I left a pleasant private practice with 
a large and influential Minneapolis law firm 
that had afforded me many instructive pro­
fessional moments, we moved in late 1950 to 
Rochester, Minnesota, to join the Mayo staff. I 
had two primary reasons for making regular re­
turn visits to the Twin Cities. The first was the 
fact that my mother and my sister were there. 
Mother had become a widow in 1947 and lived 
in that status for more than three decades. My 
only living sibling, a sister, resided at White 

Bear Lake, an eastern suburb of Saint Paul. 
The second reason was Judge Sanborn, espe­
cially after Mrs. Sanborn’s death, when he was 
living alone in Saint Paul. I remained in touch 
with him, and every few weeks I would tele­
phone him or he would telephone me and we 
would have an evening dinner together. Then, 
on the night drive back to Rochester, 1 would 
tell myself that I should do this more often.
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On o ne o f tho s e o ccas io ns e arly in 1959, whe n 
the Ju dge had as ke d m e to co m e u p , he we nt 
dire ctly to the p o int. He s aid he wo u ld like to 
s e e m e o n the fe de ral be nch and inquired as 
to whether I would be interested. He observed 
that he was getting older and had been think­
ing about assuming retired status. He said he 
would be pleased if  I could succeed him on 
the Court of Appeals. My response was a sur­
prised and a somewhat hesitant affirmative. He 
then went to Washington and, I believe, saw 
Attorney General William P. Rogers and ad­
vised Rogers that he was thinking of retiring. 
Apparently, he made it clear that he was inter­
ested in the identity of his successor and inti­
mated that if  he did not like the selection there 
would be no vacancy to fill.  He submitted for 
consideration at least three Minnesota names 
that he favored, including mine.

All  of this astonished me, for I had as­
sumed that a federal judge could claim no in­
put whatsoever in the naming of his successor. 
Judge Sanborn’s stature, however, was such 
that he could not be brushed aside, politely or 
impolitely. And so, after the necessary interval, 
along came the nomination.

Senator Hubert H. Humphrey of Min­
nesota telephoned me on Saturday, September 
12, 1959. I well remember that call. It was a 
beautiful day. Over Mrs. Blackmun’s persistent 
objection, I was on the roof of our Rochester 
house removing accumulated leaves and paint­
ing gutters, all in anticipation of winter snow. 
She called to me and said the Senator was on 
the phone. I struggled down, convinced that 
one of my “so-called”  friends was playing an­
other practical joke and misidentifying him­
self as the Senator. I was prepared to make 
an appropriate caustic remark, but then that 
distinctive voice came on the line: “This is 
Senator Humphrey.” I refrained from my in­
tended “You don’t say.” He asked if  I would 
come to Washington as soon as possible for 
a hearing before a subcommittee of the Ju­
diciary Committee of the Senate. I complied 
with that request, not really knowing what to 
expect or how to prepare. I found myself before

a panel chaired by Senator William Langer of 
North Dakota. The other members were Sena­
tor Roman Hruska of Nebraska and Senator 
Christopher Dodd of Connecticut. Someone 
had warned me that if  Senator Langer presided, 
he would ask me to state the rule in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAShelley’s 
C ase.1 And, sure enough, the Senator’s first 

and almost only question to me was to state 

that rule. Why it was important, I do not know, 
but it seemed to be the opener in his routine. 
The subcommittee voted favorably, and in due 
course my nomination went to the floor of the 
Senate. I was in the gallery when confirmation 
was considered. Judge William H. Timbers’ 
nomination for elevation to the Second Circuit 
was on the agenda. There was some temporary 
difficulty for him, however, and his confirma­
tion was delayed. The Senate seemed anxious 
to recess, for at the time Mr. Khrushchev was 
in Washington and had let it be known that he 
wished to address the Congress. Indeed, the 
Senate did adjourn shortly after my nomina­
tion and the nominations of a few others were 
confirmed two days later on September 14.2 
Thus, rather suddenly—and certainly without 
much pain—I found myself accepted for fed­
eral judicial service.

The Eighth Circuit’s October calendar al­
ready was in place, so I was told to prepare for 
the November session. There was much to be 
done in winding up pending duties at Mayo’s. I 
arranged to be sworn in on November 4,1959, 
before a small gathering of friends and ac­

quaintances in Judge Sanborn’s chambers in 
Room 304 in Saint Paul’s old Federal Building, 
now called the “Landmark Center.”  Of course, 
I asked the Judge to administer the oath. He did, 
and there I was, a United States Circuit Judge, 
taking office in the very room in which I had 
worked as a clerk twenty-seven years before. I 
cherish the photograph I have of the occasion.

III. The Court of Appeals

The first day I sat on the Eighth Circuit was 

my 51st birthday, November 12, 1959. Judge 
Sanborn presided for the panel. The other
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judge was Martin D. Van Oosterhout of Orange 
City, Iowa. Archibald K. Gardner of Huron, 
South Dakota, who then was the “senior judge”  
(as the status was called at the time) of the cir­
cuit at an advanced age of close to 90, thought­
fully  had arranged for me to be on a different 
panel each argument day. This enabled me to 
sit with every other judge who attended that 
session. It was helpful.

My years on the Eighth Circuit generally 
were pleasant. One reason for this was the 
fact was that we all lived in the field and, as 
a consequence, looked forward to our gath­
ering for the next session in Saint Louis or 
Saint Paul. Our statutorily prescribed sessions 
at Kansas City and Omaha3 customarily were 

pretermitted.
Of course, that court, like most courts, 

was bound by tradition. In those days, the out- 
of-town judges stayed at the Mayfair Hotel 
in Saint Louis, where Julia King, its pleasant 
and efficient manager, anticipated our coming 
and always had rooms for us. We assembled 
in the lobby each court day about 8:15 a.m. 
after breakfast and walked the several blocks 
to the Federal Courts Building as a body, two 
by two in order of seniority. So long as I was 
junior, I brought up the rear. I early learned 
not to interfere with what was to take place. 
We went out the door, turned left for half a 
block, turned left again for a few blocks, and 
only then crossed the street to continue on our 
way. One time the light was green to the right. I 
knew we must cross that street somewhere and 
suggested that we take advantage of the green 
light. The judges turned and silently glared at 
me. No one moved. We waited for the light to 
change the other way and continued down the 
same side of the street to the place of traditional 
crossing. A junior judge may be seen but not 
heard.

The routine always was the same. We 
lunched together, dividing our custom between 

two hotels and two restaurants. We walked to­
gether to lunch, and we walked together from 

lunch. This promoted a sense of camaraderie 
and enabled us to learn what was happening

before the other panels that were sitting at the 
same time. It also seemed to isolate us from 
members of the bar. Whether that was good I 
do not know.

One day, when we returned to the build­
ing for afternoon arguments, Judge Van 
Oosterhout, whom we all admired and re­
garded affectionately, was presiding. About 
2:30 p.m., he leaned over to me on his right 
and said: “Harry, I am feeling a bit of pressure. 
Do you mind if  we take a short recess?”  I indi­
cated that I would not mind at all. He asked the 
judge on his left the same question and then an­
nounced to counsel: “Judge Blackmun needs 
to take a recess.”  He almost ran over me as we 
escaped to the anteroom.

Once, when a lawyer was arguing, he 
slipped to the floor in a faint. It was the last 

case of the day, so we stopped at that point and 
resumed the next morning. On that day, the 
lawyer stood and continued as though noth­
ing at all had happened. “As I was saying 
yesterday when we adjourned...”  He won my 
admiration.

On still another occasion, when Judge 
Sanborn was presiding in Saint Paul, an old 
and persistent criminal defendant rose in open 
court to interrupt and ask for some unusual 
relief. It was denied from the bench. As he de­
parted, he stood at the door and said in a loud 
voice: “Judge Sanborn, once a man, but now a 
high-up judge.”  The marshals moved quickly.

I feel that our Eighth Circuit calendars 
were substantial. We had our share—perhaps 
more than our share—of important and inter­
esting cases, many of which moved on to the 
Supreme Court. One comes to expect occa­
sional reversals. That is the way of life in the 
judiciary, and new judges should not resent or 
feel hurt by it. I cover this point whenever I 
speak to newly appointed federal judges. It was 
always helpful to reveal to them my own record 
by way of reversals and affirmances on certio­

rari from the Eighth Circuit to the Supreme 
Court. Of course, a crowning annoyance was 
when we were affirmed “but for reasons other 
than those stated by the Court of Appeals.”
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The Eighth Circuit had the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT inker case.4 
We heard it en banc with eight judges.5 The 

issue was the right of elementary school chil­
dren to wear black armbands in protest against 
the Vietnam War. We knew that the expressed 
views usually were those of the parents and not 
of the children. Our initial vote was 5 to 3. A 
judge who was one of the five then announced 
that he would change his vote. Thus, it would 
become 4 to 4, and the case would be affirmed 
“by an equally divided court.” We would is­
sue no opinion, and the case could be decided, 
as one judge said, “by those jokers down in 
Washington.”  There is comfort in not being at 

the end of the line.

IV. 1970

The events surrounding my nomination to 
the Supreme Court and confirmation were 
different.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

A

On the morning of Thursday, April 9, 1970, 
a telephone call came to my chambers from 
Attorney General John N. Mitchell. When I 
reached the phone, he was waiting on the 
line. He asked me to be in Washington by 
mid-afternoon. I observed that this command 
had come without notice and that I could not 
cover the thousand miles from Rochester to 
Washington before evening. I asked if  there 
was anything I was to prepare for the occa­
sion. His answer was in the negative. I also 
told him that the timing was difficult, for 
Mrs. Blackmun’s father had died the day be­
fore. His response was that I nevertheless 
should come to Washington and call his of­
fice for instructions immediately on arrival. I 

learned that I could get a late afternoon flight 
from the Twin Cities, and further found that 
a club in Washington, where for some years 

I had had nonresident status, could provide a 
room. I reached the airline’s counter at the ex­
act time the plane was scheduled to leave, but 
it had been delayed for a few minutes, and 1 
was the last to board.

The flight was quiet and pleasant enough. 

I spent the time trying to think through the situ­
ation that confronted me. 1 listed the negatives 
that might be important for executive and sena­

torial consideration: my lifelong acquaintance 
with the new Chief Justice; my political inac­
tivity;  criticism to the effect that I took too long 
to get opinions out; an absence of eagerness on 
my part for unknown Washington living; and 
my lack of any connection with Washington 
power. These wandering notions fortified me 
for what lay ahead.

I was signing the register at the club when 
a hand touched my shoulder. It proved to be 
that of a man who displayed FBI identification 

and said he had to speak with me “at once.”  He 

and I went to my assigned room where, before 
I could unpack, he insisted on interviewing 
me. This took almost three hours. He was thor­
ough, polite, and comprehensive. He inquired 
in depth about my childhood, birthplace, and 
relatives, our children and their activities and 
attitudes, my own habits and hobbies—really, 
everything that conceivably could be regarded 
as pertinent. Despite its length, it was not a dif­
ficult interview. It was an interview and not an 
interrogation.

Friday, April 10, proved to be a full day. 
I placed the requested call to the Attorney 
General. His secretary said that he was in con­
ference but that they had expected to hear from 

me. Would I  call again in half an hour? I  did and 
more than once, but he was still in conference 
each time I called. Finally, rather than remain 
at the club, I walked to the Statler Hilton. I 
called again and was told that I should go to 
the 16th Street entrance, that I should wait near 

the door, and that someone would come for me. 
I  went there and sat. In about fifteen minutes, a 
small car arrived with two men in it. One came 

in, identified himself as being from the FBI (it 
was obvious), escorted me to the automobile, 
and opened the rear door. In I went. The car 
door was locked, and I sat there alone.

I was driven directly to the Department 
of Justice building and down into the base­
ment garage. We stopped before an elevator
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that to o k u s u p to the Atto rne y Ge ne ral’s suite. 
He was not there, but soon entered with his fa­
miliar pipe. He said, “ I admire your courage.”  
I asked, “What courage?” He said, “For be­
ing willing to be nominated after what has 
happened with Judge Haynsworth and then 
with Judge Carswell.”  We talked generalities. 
He said he knew a good bit about me. He 
mentioned the names of my colleague, Judge 

Pat Mehaffy of Arkansas, and Chief Justice 
Burger. He said “we” had an appointment at 

the White House at 2:00 p.m. Two others en­
tered. One was Johnnie M. Walters, head of 
the Tax Division. The second was William H. 
Rehnquist, Jr., then chief of the Office of Legal 
Counsel. They and I went to another room 
where the two questioned me at length. We 
reviewed my meager investments and they in­
quired whether I had ever sat in a case involv­
ing a corporation in which I held shares. They 
asked about our daughters. That gave me an op­
portunity to bring out my photographs. I was 
asked whether I was free to stay for lunch. I 
had the feeling that there was not much free­

dom about it: I was there and was to stay. After 
lunch, the questioning continued. They went 
over my outside income. Did I have with me 

copies of my income tax returns? No one had 
suggested this. The Attorney General observed 
that it would be desirable for Mr. Walters to go 
to Rochester to review my returns in detail. I 
had a 5:00 p.m. reservation for Minneapolis. 
Mr. Walters called and obtained one on a differ­
ent flight that left about fifteen minutes later.

It seemed to me that the three were spend­
ing a vast amount of time on me. It became 
apparent, however, that all three were sensi­
tive about the Haynsworth/Carswell nomina­
tions, were especially disappointed about the 
Haynsworth rejection, and were annoyed by the 
Carswell fracas. Several references were made 
to the fact that the President had ordered a thor­
ough FBI investigation of me to be completed 
overnight and that it was difficult to perform 
that substantial task in such a short time. There 
was newspaper speculation that an announce­
ment would be made within the week.

About 1:45 p.m., General Mitchell, two 
agents, and I took the small elevator down 
to the garage. The limousine and driver were 
waiting. We were taken to the southwest en­
trance of the White House where the pres­
ence of the Attorney General was announced 
to the guards. They were satisfied with his 
identity but looked somewhat disparagingly 
at me. Nonetheless, they waved us in. We 
were taken to the Cabinet Room off the 
Rose Garden. After about fifteen minutes, the 

Attorney General and I were escorted through 
the secretaries’ room into the Oval Office. The 
President was behind his desk. He stood, came 
over, and shook hands. He directed me to sit in 
a chair on the left side of his desk and asked 
General Mitchell to sit across from him.

The conversation, to my surprise, was 
fairly formal. The President obviously wanted 
to see this person whose name had been sug­
gested to him. We were there about forty-five 
minutes. It was clear that Mr. Nixon was irked 

about the Carswell event.
He asked me directly: “Judge Blackmun, 

what are you worth?” My hackles rose at 
this point, and I must have shown it. I told 
him that, apart from our home, my net worth 

probably was not even $70,000. The response 
was: “We have reached the point where we 
have to put paupers on the Supreme Court.”  
I must have flushed and indicated annoyance, 
for he then said: “Do not misunderstand me. 
What I mean is that anyone with substantial 
wealth is under a disadvantage from the start.”  
He stated that when he left the vice presi­
dency he was worth $42,000, and observed 
that many in subordinate positions departed 
from Washington with substantial means. Cof­

fee was served. On occasion, the presidential 
feet went to the top of the desk. What came 
through to me was that Mr. Nixon was forceful, 
hard-nosed, and tough. Finally, he said: “Well, 
Mr. Attorney General, do you have a recom­
mendation, and, if  so, what is it?”  The response 
was: “Mr. President, we recommend that Judge 
Blackmun be nominated as an Associate Jus­
tice of the Supreme Court.”
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Chief Justice Burger (left) and new Associate Justice Blackmun (right) visited President Nixon at the White 
House on June 9, 1970, shortly after Blackmun took the oath of office. (Nixon had not been able to attend 
the ceremony.) Blackmun had found Nixon “forceful, hard-nosed, and tough” when he first met him, prior to 
being nominated.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Then followed some discussion between 
them as to when the announcement should be 
made. The Attorney General wanted to com­
plete his investigation. Far more important, 
there was at the time great concern about the 
safe return of astronauts on the crippled mis­
sion of Apollo 13. It was hoped that this would 
be resolved successfully by Monday. “Very 
well, the announcement will  be Tuesday.”  The 
President then led me over to the doors look­
ing out on the Rose Garden. He observed that 
when one comes to Washington, one would be 
completely independent, but that the “social 
crowd will  do their best to elbow in. Can you 
resist the cocktail party pressure?” He asked 
whether Mrs. Blackmun could resist it. I told 
him that I was certain that she could.

As General Mitchell and I reached the 
door, Mr. Mitchell was called back into the 
Oval Office. I must assume that they were dis­
cussing the situation and me. At least fifteen 

minutes elapsed. Time was short, and I was

thinking of leaving on my own in order to catch 
my plane. This was awkward, for I had left my 
file in the limousine. General Mitchell, how­
ever, finally emerged looking somewhat har­
ried. 1 suspect the President had gone over the 
Carswell case again with him. We drove to the 
club where he left me without offering to take 
me to the airport.

Fortunately, I was able to find a cab and, 
with my bag, was on my way. The connection 
at the airport again was close, but I made the 
plane and dropped into a vacant aisle seat. As 
I was placing my case under the seat ahead, I 
discovered, somewhat to my amusement, that 
standing in the aisle speaking to a man in 
the seat directly across from me was Senator 
Walter F. Mondale of Minnesota. The man 
asked the Senator, “Who is this guy Blackmun 
whose photograph is on the front page of to­
day’s paper?” The Senator replied: “Oh, he’s 
just another old conservative.” I wondered, 
while I was bent over, whether I should let him
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kno w that I was the re s o that he wo u ld no t be 
e m barras s e d late r o r whe the r I s ho u ld just keep 

quiet.
At this point, the Senator turned and saw 

me and said “Oh, Judge, I ’ve just been telling 

Ed what a great guy you are.”  “Ed”  turned out 
to be a Mr. Kelly who was in the transportation 
business and evidently was a contributor to the 
Senator’s campaign fund. The three of us joked 
a little and Kelly showed me the paper. The 
Senator asked specifically whether I had seen 
the President. I felt an obligation to tell him 
that I had. I also told him that I sensed the 
political situation and did not want him to feel 
embarrassed in any way. He said that when 

we landed in the Twin Cities we undoubtedly 
would be confronted by the press and that he 
proposed to make no comment. He stated he 
did not want me to misunderstand. I told him 
I would not. The Senator then returned to his 
seat in the first-class section. After dinner, he 
came back and visited and was cordial.

At the Minnesota airport, I telephoned 
my mother. The Senator waved as he went 
by. After that call, I went to the other con­
course and found Mr. Walters, who was just 
arriving. We went out to the parking lot, lo­
cated my VW Bug, and drove the eighty- 
five miles to Rochester. He did not seem to 
mind too much riding in the Bug. Mr. Walters 
was most pleasant. He talked about his North 

Carolina tax practice and his friendship with 
the Haynsworth family. I took him to his hotel, 

saw that he was registered and settled, and 
arranged to meet him at my office the next 
morning. To my relief, Dottie had returned 
from Mora, Minnesota, where her father was 
when he died, but she planned to return there 
Monday for the funeral. All  this was further 
complicated by the fact that I was to go to Saint 
Louis late Saturday afternoon for the April  ar­
gument session there.

Saturday morning, Mr. Walters came 

promptly to the office. He spent two or three 
hours reviewing my income tax returns and 
files. He seemed generally pleased about what 
he found and noted my reporting in one year

the last six cents I received in distribution from 
my former law office. Finally, he observed: 
“Those are the cleanest returns I think I have 

ever seen.” Arrangements were made to get 
Dottie back to Mora. I caught the five p.m. 
plane for Saint Louis, and Mr. Walters, I be­
lieve, took another plane about the same time 
for Washington. It indeed had been a long day.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

B

On Monday, April 13, in the afternoon, we 
heard en banc the Little Rock school case. 
The 14th was the usual full  morning. Our regu­

lar Circuit Council meeting was scheduled for 
2:00 p.m. About 3:30 p.m., while the meet­
ing continued, there was an audible rumble in 
the hall. Our efficient clerk, Robert C. Tucker, 

went out and returned to say that the hall was 
filled with reporters and television people. I 
was able to get to my office through adjoining 

chambers of other judges without going into 
the hall, but the media people burst in. Sud­
denly, I was surrounded and literally backed 
against the wall. I initially  stated that I had no 
comment because no information had come to 
me. Someone said: “But it has just been an­
nounced that you have been nominated for the 

Supreme Court.”  I remember Chris Condon, a 
popular Saint Louis announcer, on his knees 
before me holding a microphone and staying 
out of the way of cameras. After much talk back 
and forth, I finally agreed to meet the press in 
Rochester on Friday.

Judge Van Oosterhout stopped in to say 
that I should not try to sit the rest of the week. 
This kindly gesture was typical of him. We 

found places for my secretary, Mary O’Marro, 
my clerk, Daniel B. Edelman, and me on a 
Braniff flight due out the next afternoon.

Early on Wednesday morning, the 15th, I 
returned to my Saint Louis office to clear my 
desk. I already had received calls from Justice 

Clark and Justice White in Washington. Each 
was most cordial. I got away in late morning. I 
walked alone back to the place where we had 
rooms but stopped at a doughnut shop on the 
way and felt lonely and mildly depressed. I also
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s to p p e d at the air line o ffice to p ick u p m y 
ticke t. The clerk there seemed to know all that 

was going on. I decided to take a taxi to the air­

port for once rather than the scheduled limou­
sine. It gave me a chance to be alone.

It was wet and cold when we landed at 
Rochester. As we approached the terminal, 
Dan noted that there were photographers on 
the ramp. Mary and Dan preceded me off  the 
plane. Inside the terminal building I found 
Dottie and many others. It was at this point 
that a certain photograph that later was given 
much publicity was taken of the two of us. With 
Dottie was a reporter, none other than Nina 
Totenberg, then with the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ationa l O bserver. 

We managed to get home only to be deluged 
that evening and the next day with calls from 
kindly intentioned people. The Chief Justice 
called and advised me to have nothing what­
soever to do with the press. This concerned 
me somewhat, for I already had set up the 
Friday meeting. The press conference, as I rec­
ollect, was a strain. I am sure I let the reporters 
carry on too long. It was one question after an­
other about me and my life. The death penalty, 

among other things, was raised, and I stated 
that I  personally was opposed to capital punish­
ment and had said so in published opinions.61 

tried to stress, however, that I regarded this pri­
marily as a matter of legislative prerogative.7 

But headlines the next day emphasized the 
capital-punishment inquiry. For the most part, I 
thought the press was kind. One somewhat dis­
turbing aspect related to Ms. Totenberg. She 
had interviewed my mother in Minneapolis. 
The tenor of her ensuing article seemed to be 
to the effect that I might endeavor to exert in­
fluence on the Chief Justice. The Chief did 
call to reprove me about making the capital- 
punishment comment. I reminded him that I 

already was on the public record on that issue. 
This seemed to appease him somewhat.

In summary, I thought the press confer­

ence went off  acceptably well. As matters came 
into better focus later, I became convinced that 
this was so. I am further persuaded that it was 
the thing to do and was unavoidable. It gave

the media something they felt they had a right 
to have, and it got them out of town.

That weekend, the correspondence and 
telephone calls proved heartening but over­
whelming. I need not go into detail about them. 

I was advised that the Senate hearing would be 
on April 29. Mr. Rehnquist told me it would 
be well for me to come to Washington on the 
weekend and spend a day in preparation. An 
American Bar Association delegation consist­
ing of Charles A. Horsky of Washington and 
Robert Harry of Denver stopped by. They al­
ready had done a good bit of digging and inter­
viewing in Rochester, but they spent two hours 
with me and reviewed my life and opinions and 
general philosophy. The third member of the 

committee, Albert R. Connolly of New York, 
did not arrive, due, I was told, to some diffi ­
culty with travel reservations.

Dottie and I talked about her going to 
Washington with me. I feared that she would 
be confronted by a hostile press and that the 
media would give her a difficult time. I con­
cluded that I should walk this last mile alone.

I flew to Washington the afternoon of 
Sunday, April 26. The next morning, I called 
Mr. Rehnquist. I was told that a car would be 
around at 10:00 a.m. It arrived and took me di­
rectly to the Department of Justice. Time was 
spent with Rehnquist and Johnnie M. Walters. 
Walters took me to lunch. It was a pleasant 
interlude. I met John T. Duffner, executive as­
sistant to the Deputy Attorney General. I was 
taken in to see Richard Kleindienst for about 
forty-five minutes. He gave me the well-worn 
advice not to answer more than I really had to. 
We called upon Dean Griswold, whom I was 
delighted to see. Kleindienst referred to him 
as “Decanus.” I was asked whether I would 
be willing  to call upon those members of the 
Senate Judiciary Committee who might indi­
cate a desire to have me stop by. I was told 
that perhaps two or three would wish to do 
this. Late in the afternoon, Duffner returned 
and said that the next day would be a long one, 
for every member of the committee wanted to 
see me. Mr. and Mrs. Walters drove me to the
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clu b whe re I was s tay ing. As I go t o u t o f the ir 

car, I he ard a r ip and dis co ve re d a r ight-angle 
te ar in m y co at jacket. It was the one I planned 
to wear at the hearing, for it was the only dark 
suit I had with me.

Tuesday the 28th was a bit of a day. 
Mr. Duffner arrived at 9:20 a.m. He handed me 
a typed agenda. It began with an appointment 
to see Senator McClellan of Arkansas and went 
through to 5:00 p.m., with additions possibly to 
made as the day went on. There was no time for 
lunch, and I had none. Senator McClellan was 

his usual self: positive, direct, and blunt. He ex­
pressed concern about the Court. We went one 
floor below to see Senator Eastland, whom ev­

eryone referred to as “The Chairman.”  On the 
wall of his secretary’s office were photographs 
of Jefferson Davis, Stonewall Jackson, and 
others—reminders, I suppose, of our rich her­
itage. Then on to Senator Hruska’s office. 
Duffner was with me constantly but did not 
go into any inner office except when specif­

ically invited. I was given a copy of a report 
with comments about me from members of the 
general public. One labor lawyer suggested I 
was biased against labor. Some questioned the 
length of my opinions.

Then on to Senator Tydings of Maryland 
and to Senator Cook of Kentucky. Here, for 
the first time on these rounds, we encountered 
press and television personnel. Then upstairs 
to Senator Mondale’s office with the press at 
our heels. That was the pattern for the rest of 
the day. He called Senator Eugene McCarthy 
and went with me to the latter’s office. Then 
on to see Senator Mathias of Maryland.

Although it was 12:45 p.m., we went to see 
Senator Kennedy. This meeting was not at his 
Senate office, but in his suite as Senate major­
ity whip. As we entered the anteroom, I sensed 
an atmosphere of distinct coolness from those 
present there. The Senator, however, immedi­
ately came out and invited me into the inner 
chamber. On the window well was a photo­
graph of the three Kennedy brothers. I com­
mented about it. He explained that the photo­
graph had been taken on the day his brother

was nominated for the presidency. We vis­
ited for a half hour and talked primarily about 
young people. I mentioned that Nancy, our el­
dest daughter, was one of his constituents. He 
seemed genuinely interested.

We went on to see the minority leader, 

Senator Hugh Scott of Pennsylvania. He had 
not supported the Haynsworth nomination. 
Then on to Senator Griffin of Michigan, the 
minority whip, and to Senator Fong of Hawaii. 

The secretaries in his office wore leis of small 
orchids. I was told they were flown in each day.

From there we went to Senator Thur­
mond’s office. This interview, in contrast to the 

others, had no aspect of privacy. His secretary 
had a desk in his inner chamber. He called in 
his entire staff, some of whom sat on the floor. 
Next was Senator Ervin of North Carolina. I 
found him to be knowledgeable; he gave every 
evidence of being an astute lawyer. Then to 
Senator Byrd of West Virginia. This, perhaps, 
was the most difficult conference of the day. 
He believed strongly in capital punishment and 
was disturbed by my comments that I did not 
regard the death penalty to be a deterrent. Then 
to Senator Burdick of North Dakota, who was 

a friend of my colleague Charles J. Vogel. He 
was pleasant and told me he would support 
the nomination. It was now toward the end of 
the afternoon. At 4:30 p.m., I was taken to see 
Senator Hart of Michigan and Senator Bayh 
of Indiana, one of the leaders in the rejection 
of the Haynsworth nomination. This marked 
the end of a day of conferring. I was tired and 

hungry. Mr. Duffner had been unable to get 
any sustenance in to me, but he personally was 

always able to have a bite at each stop as he 
waited outside.

That night, I again reviewed my material 
and did what I could to prepare for the follow­
ing day. I placed my torn jacket in the hands 

of the doorman, who said he would do the best 
he could with it.

I slept poorly but was ready to go in the 
morning. The limousine came at 9:30 a.m. 
Erwin N. Griswold entered and I greeted him. 
Then, to my surprise, I discovered that he
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Blackmun at his hearings before the Judiciary Committee in 1969, flanked by Minnesota Senators Walter F. 
Mondale and Eugene McCarthy.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

had acco m p anie d Jo hn Duffner and intended 
to ride back with us. I was touched. I later 
learned that he had been present throughout 

the morning hearing on the previous day. We 

drove to the building where James W. Ziglar, 
Senator Eastland’s young assistant, met us. 

We were escorted to the elevator and went 
up to the Chairman’s office. It was evident 
that the corridors were closely guarded by the 
police. I was told that today’s hearing was 
scheduled for 10:45 a.m. We entered through 
a small conference room in which most of the 
Senators on the Judiciary Committee were as­
sembled. We then entered the Hearing Room, 
which, to my distress, I found filled with 
photographers and television people. All  the 

seats were occupied. Senator Mondale and 
Senator Eugene McCarthy were gracious, as 
were Congressmen Quie and MacGregor. I 

was surprised, and pleased, to have Senator 
Burdick make a preliminary remark of ap­
proval. He was followed by the president of the 
Minnesota State Bar Association. It was rather

overwhelming as one by one the Senators 
present, or most of them, seemed to announce 
that they would vote to approve my nomina­
tion. When they finished, it was 12:35 p.m., 
and they recessed. As I turned to head for the 
door, I saw Mrs. Charles J. Vogel standing with 
another woman. I had not realized she was at 
the hearing. I stepped over to her and kissed her 
cheek. I noticed with amusement that some of 
the photographers immediately went to her on 
the assumption that she was Mrs. Blackmun. 
After lunch, I indicated it would be nice to 
have a walk. The hall was still packed and 
guarded, but two from the staff and, as I re­
call, the Solicitor General himself reached an 
elevator and walked with me around the build­
ing. It was warm, but the walk was welcome.

The hearing continued until 3:45 p.m. We 

returned to Senator Eastland’s suite. He came 
out of his private office to announce that they 
had decided not to put the matter to a vote 
that day. He asked whether I could stay over 

another night. I shall always remember the
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Se nato r s itting the re with his lo ng cigar and 
with his fe e t o n the de s k. He as ke d m e whe the r 

I co u ld take s o m e advice . I to ld him that it de­
p e nde d u p o n the advice . He s aid that his advice 
was that I go back to whe re I was s tay ing and 
have fo u r, no t thre e , and no t two , bu t fo u r go o d 
“be lts”  o f s co tch whis ky and a big dinne r, and 
the n go to be d. Erwin and Mrs. Griswold, how­
ever, had invited me to dinner at the Cosmos 
Club. I wondered whether I was up to it, but 
I accepted the invitation. Their guests were 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Rhyne (he was later pres­
ident of the American Bar Association) and the 
Solicitor General of New Zealand and his wife. 
It was a happy evening and just what I needed.

The next day, I again was escorted to 
Senator Eastland’s office. I then was told that 
the matter had gone over to Tuesday, May 5, 
and that I could return home.

I caught an early plane the next morning. 
A number of people, primarily our neighbors, 
were at the airport to welcome me. It was a 
pleasant surprise.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

C

On Tuesday, May 5, word came that the Judi­
ciary Committee had voted 17 to 0 to approve. 
This unanimous vote was gratifying, of course. 
I was told that the matter would come up on the 
Senate floor on May 12. That day came along, 
and I was concerned to see photographers out 
in the hall near the room in the Rochester hotel 
where I was having lunch. I told them I would 
meet them near my chambers, a few blocks 
away. They accepted this suggestion and were 
there equipped with tapes and cameras. We en­
tered and went upstairs. One of the local re­
porters called shortly to say that the Senate 
had voted and that it was 94 to 0 to confirm. 
The President called. That conversation was 

brief but to the point. He seemed relieved that 
it was over. I told the press I had no oral ob­
servation to make, but I did distribute a short 
written statement. They took photographs of 
Dottie and me, and she made a brief comment. 
That night and the next day the calls and corre­
spondence continued. The Chief Justice tele­

phoned and indicated that it  would be desirable 

for me to examine some twenty pending certio­
rari petitions that the Court had been “holding 
for nine” and were to be voted upon before 
the end of the Term. I therefore should come 
to the court sworn in and to participate in the 
vote on those matters. I was to be concerned 
about pending Eighth Circuit cases that had 
been assigned to me. He said that I should as­
sign them out to others. I did so in an effort to 
get those responsibilities off  my desk. Every­
one was gracious about relieving me. There 
was another call from the Chief Justice. He 

suggested that I be sworn in on June 8 or 9. 
He indicated that he thought the Court would 
finish within the week. June 9 was chosen.

Then came the pleasant task of discover­
ing who would attend what and how. I was sur­
prised to learn how many really seemed to be 
interested in going to Washington. I arranged 
for rooms at the Dupont Plaza and turned down 
graciously proffered complimentary accom­
modations at a downtown hotel. A lifelong 
friend called my mother and offered to accom­

pany her. This kind gesture was a great relief 
for me.

Dottie and I flew down on June 6 and be­

gan a two-week period trying to get ideas for 
our ultimate place of residence. Dottie worked 
hard at this. Finally, an apartment at 1701 
North Kent Street in Arlington was located, 
and we signed a year’s lease beginning Septem­
ber 1. People who were to be with us at the 
Dupont Plaza began to arrive on Sunday. The 
Chief Justice sent his limousine and driver on 
Monday the 8th. We went to the airport to meet 
the flight that brought mother and my sister. 
That night we all gathered at the hotel. Mother 
was surprised to see there some relatives from 

her old hometown of Nashville, Illinois.
The next morning everyone was driven to 

the garage in the Court building. We were taken 
to what were to be my Chambers. At 9:30 a.m., 
we were escorted to the courtyard, where pho­
tographers were present.

The Chief Justice, the Governor of 
Minnesota, and Congressmen Quie and
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MacGre go r ap p e are d. Eventually, the Marshal 

took me into the courtroom to be seated near 
the Clerk’s desk on the “John Marshall chair.”  
I was surprised to see how full  the room was. 
The proceedings were brief. I took the judi­
cial oath at the center of the bench. I was then 

robed and sat down at the far left, and that was 
it. Good old Number Three.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

D

The members of the Court were cordial. After 
the short ceremony, there was a reception in 
the West Conference Room. The receiving 
line consisted of Chief Justice and Mrs. Burger, 
Dottie and me, and Chief Justice and 
Mrs. Warren. Our three daughters stood apart.

The first person through the line was Senator 
Thurmond. It was a long but pleasant occa­
sion. Later, I had my first lunch with the Court. 
Our daughters and Dottie went with Doctor and 
Mrs. Howard P. Rome of Rochester to the Cos­
mos Club for lunch. That night my old Min­

neapolis law firm hosted a dinner for us at the 
Madison. It was a very special event. Henry 
Halladay took charge and made some remarks 
that were touching to me because they came 
from him. Judge Pat Mehaffy spoke. So did 
the Chief Justice. And then I tried to respond.

That was the day. When we returned to 
the hotel and were sitting in the small parlor, 
Nancy, our oldest daughter, announced: “What 

a lovely day!” It was, indeed.ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

'w e l c o me a b o a r d , HARRY!'

Blackmun’s appointment brought the Court up to full strength after the nominations of conservative South­
erners Clement F. Haynsworth, Jr., and G. Harold Carswell were rejected. Blackmun would leave his mark with 
his opinions on abortion and his strong stand against capital punishment.
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E zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
Friday was my first conference, and it was an 
enlightening one. The Court was struggling to 
complete the Term’s business. It  turned out that 
they did not finish on the 15th and also did not 
finish on the 22nd. By that time, I was a little 

tired of living out of a suitcase. Dottie left on 
the 24th, and I finally got away on the 29th. It 
was good to get home.

In retrospect, I am glad that I had the June 
experience. It gave me insight into the methods 
of the Court and some acquaintance with its 
personnel. My stay there was complicated by 
the need to select a secretary and a messen­
ger. My sessions with the various Senators on 

the Judiciary Committee probably were more 
valuable for me than they were for them. It en­
abled me to sense their personalities and their 
concerns and the questions they were likely to 
ask.8

Among the many letters and messages I 
received during those weeks was one from 
Chief Judge Clement F. Haynsworth, Jr. Its 
warm and congratulatory tone tells the mea­
sure of a fine person and jurist. He assured 

me that “ the wounds of last fall are all scarred 
over” and that his “eyes are on the future 
and [his] emotional health quite unimpaired.”  
Obviously, it was a difficult  period for him and

for Mrs. Haynsworth. I do not relish the fact 

that his misfortune led to my eventual place­
ment on the Supreme Court.

*Justice Blackmun wrote this reminiscence in 
1995 after his retirement from the Court. He 
intended to continue with it, but poor health in­
tervened. The Society is grateful to his daugh­
ter Sally Blackmun, who provided this memoir 
to us, and to Luther T. Munford for his help in 
preparing it for publication.
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With the rarest of exceptions, when Supreme Court Justices leave the Court, they are soon 
all but forgotten.1 Constitutional law is unrelentingly presentist, so closely intertwined with 
politics and society that sitting (or recently departed) Justices necessarily speak to the issues 
more directly than those from another era. If  that were not enough, being forgotten is virtually 
inevitable for those whose careers are short. One of those men was Wiley Rutledge who served 
from February 1943 until his death at age 55 from a cerebral hemorrhage, six and a half years 
later. Until John M. Ferren’s recently published and marvelously researched S a lt o f  th e E ar th ,  
C on sc ien ce o f  th e C ou r t, 2 Rutledge even lacked a true biography.3 That has been a shame, 
because the two dominant themes of Ferren’s book show that Rutledge is worth knowing: He 
was a good man and a good judge. Indeed, on what probably was the most fractious Court 
in American history,4 Rutledge was the sole member both personally liked and intellectually 
respected by every other member.5

Religion and kindness were important fac­
tors in Rutledge’s life. His father was a loving 
man who instilled a strong sense of security 
in his son. Rutledge grew up to be friendly, 
empathetic, unpretentious, honest, with a good 
sense of humor—a man who loved being with 

people.
His father was a Southern Baptist min­

ister who took the Bible literally, but by col­
lege Rutledge was moving toward a faith in a 
kind God who revealed himself through nature. 
As this view matured he believed in “an ulti­
mate, creative force in the universe [that was] 
benevolent, inspiring human aspiration and 
yearning [for] freedom, community, justice.” 6

Eventually Rutledge’s Christian humanism 
caused him to cease going to church, but in 
Washington, D.C. he found his religious home 
in All  Souls Unitarian Church, where the min­
ister, A. Powell Davis, preached against witch- 
hunting and in favor of civilian control of 
atomic energy. Those were positions Rutledge 
believed in.

On his nomination of Rutledge to the 
Court, Franklin D. Roosevelt noted that “you 
have a lot of geography.” 7 How true: Rutledge 
went to college in Tennessee and Wisconsin 
and taught high school in Indiana, New 
Mexico, and Colorado. He spent time in the 
state sanitarium in North Carolina getting over
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John M. Ferren's new biography of Justice Wiley Rutledge is the first real biography of the Justice. Rutledge 
and a friend are shown photographed on a camping trip in 1945 two years after he had joined the Supreme 
Court.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

tu be rcu lo s is . Then he taught law at Colorado, 
Washington University, and Iowa. He was a 
solid, but not great teacher, and he taught 
“around the curriculum”—that is, everything. 
He had trouble writing and was not a scholar 
at all, but he loved giving speeches. He was 
good at it, so he did it as much as possible, 
to virtually any group that asked. He cared 
about law reform and was an ex officio mem­
ber of the American Law Institute and a com­
missioner from both Missouri and Iowa for 
the National Conference of Commissioners on 
Uniform State Laws.

The previous paragraph describes the at­
tributes of a dean, and Rutledge became one, 
beginning at age 37 at Washington Univer­
sity and then moving on to Iowa as its dean. 
The deanships came naturally.8 Rutledge was 

someone who could and always did give un­
divided attention to the person he was with, 
and he was the type of dean faculty could re­
spect. When it appeared that Rutledge might

be called to testify before the Senate in favor of 

Roosevelt’s Court-packing plan, Iowa’s presi­
dent, reflecting the state’s sentiment, warned 
him to “watch [his] step.”9 Rutledge instead 
found the “ issue was too clear for me to dodge 
and the ultimatum too degrading for me to 
accept.” 10 So he determined to submit his letter 
of resignation the day he boarded the train for 
Washington, but he was never asked to testify.

It is well known that Rutledge got to the 
Court because of the lobbying of Irving Brant, 

the editor of the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASt. Lou is Star T im es and 
one of the few national editors who supported 
Roosevelt. But Rutledge had other assets. He 
was a thorough New Dealer, having taken pro­
gressive positions that included hard work to 
prevent child labor and the previously men­
tioned professionally unpopular backing of the 
Court-packing plan. He was safe on both civil  
liberties and labor issues. And, of course, he 
had great geography. But first there was a con­
solation stop at the D.C. Circuit when Brant’s
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lo bby ing faile d to p u s h Ru tle dge ahe ad o f 
two far s u p e rio r Ne w Deal academics that 
Roosevelt knew personally—Felix Frankfurter 
and William O. Douglas.

On the D.C. Circuit and at the Court, 
Rutledge found writing opinions “extremely 
hard,”  a problem never alleviated and one ex­
acerbated by the fact that his opinions were 
too long and ponderous.11 He began with the 

record and his legal hunch, backed by the belief 
that the Constitution was a living (and basically 
unconstraining) document, but the test came in 

whether the opinion would write. He believed 
in the dignity of each individual, and this car­
ried over into his judging, where he held that 
a judge must be able to fully  explain why the 

case was to be decided as it was.
Rutledge showed his judicial indepen­

dence early. Less than a year into his time on 
the D.C. Circuit, he received a Doctor of Laws 
at Colorado. The Supreme Court had just de­
cided UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM inersville Schoo l D istr ic t v. G obitis, 
the first flag-salute case.12 Rutledge criticized 

the eight-Justice majority that had just up­
held the salute: “We forget that it is [in]  
the regimentation of children in the Fascist 
and Communist salutes that the very free­

dom for which Jehovah’s Witnesses strive has 
been destroyed.” 13 Four months after Rutledge 
took his seat on the Court, Justice Robert H. 
Jackson’s majestic opinion in W est V irg in ia v. 
B arnette  ̂overruled G obitis.

Rutledge was not a cloistered Justice. A 
clerk noted that “everyone who ever lived in 
Iowa came through those chambers.” 15 Rut­

ledge complained in 1942 that “we talk, eat, 
drink and sleep law! It ’s too narrow for my 
taste, without leavening from other areas.” 16 

He believed that isolation hurt both judges and 
the law, so while on the Court he went to din­
ners, judged moot courts, and—as always— 
gave speeches. They addressed the war, the fu­
ture peace, and the appropriate postwar foreign 
policy, issues dear to his heart (if  not necessar­
ily  his expertise).

The candor that Rutledge demonstrated 
attacking G obitis was also a part of his private

correspondence. After receiving criticism for 
a recusal decision, he wrote to Brant: “About 
all I can say is that whatever one does here, 
whether to sit or not to sit, decide or not to 

decide, and how he decides, inevitably brings 
criticism, very often groundless, sometimes 
perhaps justified. The only way to survive it 
is to have a thick skin and move on to the next 
mistake.” 17

There are five areas of constitutional law 
in which Rutledge’s opinions merit acknowl­
edging: state taxation of interstate commerce, 

religion, incorporation of the Bill  of Rights, 
equal protection, and the war and its after­
maths. In the first, he became the law almost 
three decades after his death. In the last, he 
may prove to be the most instructive jurist for 
problems we will  face for some time.

State taxation was a principal area for 
working out dormant Commerce Clause prob­
lems. The more conservative Justices, led by 
Frankfurter, took a formalistic approach based 
on the label a state gave the tax.18 The liberals 

wanted a hands-off approach, allowing states 
to do as they pleased.19 Rutledge attempted 
to craft a functional approach, looking at the 
economic effects of the taxes.20 He would have 

maximized state taxes while preventing double 
taxation of the same transaction. No other Jus­
tice joined his approach then, but it was unan­
imously adopted in C om plete A uto Transit v. 
B rady in 1978.21

When Rutledge came to the Court, he 
gave Harlan Fiske Stone, Hugo L. Black, 
Douglas, and Frank Murphy the fifth  vote to 
overturn Jones v. O pelika12 and the imposi­
tion of local license fees on the distribution of 

Jehovah’s Witness literature. But in P rince v. 
M assachusetts,13 Rutledge wrote for the Court 

upholding application of the child labor laws to 
the selling of that literature. Ferren argues that 
Rutledge saw P rince completely as a labor case 

(because the nine-year-old child was so young 
that one could not be sure selling the litera­
ture was a sufficiently knowing religious act). 
He had fought so hard against child labor that 
he could not see P rince as “a free exercise case
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Rutledge dissented in Everson v. Board of Education (1947), agreeing with the majority's wall of separation 
but willing to find it breached by letting children ride city buses free to Catholic schools. These parochial 
schoolchildren in Pittsburgh were able to walk home from school in 1941.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

at all.” 24 On the e s tablis hm e nt s ide , Ru tle dge 
wro te a dis s e nt in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAE verson v. B oard of E duca­

tion2- ' agre e ing with the majority’s high wall 
of separation but willing  to find it breached by 
letting children ride city buses free to Catholic 
schools. This is about as extreme an Establish­
ment Clause conclusion as can be found,26 and 
at its best it seems to be an unblinking appli­
cation of a contested Protestant theory of the 
relation of church and state.27

Like Black and Douglas, Rutledge be­
lieved that the entire Bill of Rights applied 
to the states,28 but with Murphy he believed 
that “ [ojccasions may arise where a proceed­
ing falls so far short of conforming to funda­
mental standards of procedure as to warrant 
constitutional condemnation in terms of lack 

of due process despite the absence of a specific 
provision in the Bill of Rights.”29 Rutledge 
was the leader in attacking the Kafkaesque 
post-trial labyrinth that the Illinois Supreme 
Court erected.30 He eventually prevailed.31 Be­
cause of his opinions, the Illinois State Bar

demanded the necessary procedural reforms 
and pushed them through the legislature.32

Prior to the Warren Court in the 1960s, 

the Equal Protection Clause was “ the usual 
last resort of constitutional argument.” 33 
Rutledge was willing  to use it, however, most 
interestingly in gender-discrimination cases, 
where he was far ahead of his time. His dis­
sent in G oesaert v. C leary2’ 4 had an easy time 

with the outrageous Michigan statute that for­
bade any female to tend bar unless she was 
the wife or daughter of the male owner of the 
bar. As Rutledge noted, a “ female owner may 
neither work as a barmaid herself nor employ 
her daughter in that position, even if  a man 
is always present in the establishment to keep 
order.” 3’ But his views went far beyond that. In 

a speech titled “Women’s Rights—Barometer 
of Democracy,” he noted the discrimination 

against women in the “ learned professions”  
and the lack of women in public office. He 
believed in equal treatment for both men 
and women. “There is danger in seeking an
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Rutledge dissented in Goesaert v. Cleary (1948), which upheld a Michigan statute that forbade any female to 
tend bar unless she was the wife or daughter of the male bar owner. He supported equal treatment for both 
men and women and, in a speech, noted the discrimination against women in the “learned professions.”zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

abs o lu te le gal ide ntity in dis re gard o f bas ic 
p hy s ical diffe re nce s [, bu t] the re is equal dan­
ger in permitting specific social and economic 
discriminations, unjustified by such relevant 
differences and at war with the fundamental 
conception of equality and the status of free­
dom, to go unchallenged and unrectified.” 36 

For a man, he was way ahead of his time. The 
one area where Rutledge was reluctant to use 
equal protection was in voting cases, where he 
placed an overemphasis on potential disruption 
of the electoral process.37

Rutledge came to the Court in time to 
participate in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH im bayash i v. U nited States?* 

General John DeWitt’s imposition of a cur­
few on Japanese-Americans on the West Coast. 
When K orem atsu v. U nited States*9 came up, 
he informed the Brethren “ that when swallow­

ing the curfew order he knew that he would 
have to stomach detention for a reasonably 
necessary time.”40 However inconsistent this

was with his normal stance, with its demand 
for fairness, he never questioned his votes.41 

The reasons were war and FDR. Rutledge ex­
claimed to his law clerk: “Pearl Harbor was 
attacked and more may happen. Who are we 
to question this? ... [The] generals have said 
this is necessary for the preservation and secu­
rity of the country.” 42 Like Douglas, Rutledge 
had supreme faith in the leadership of the 
President, both domestically and abroad, and 
was unwilling to challenge him on such an 
important issue.

The war was over and Roosevelt 
dead when the Court decided D uncan v. 
K ahanam oku?* involving martial law in 
Hawaii where the civilian courts were replaced 
by military tribunals. Subsequently, the courts 
were allowed to resume civil  trials, while crim­

inal trials continued with the military. The 
Court held that Hawaii’s Organic Act did 
not give the Governor power to supplant the
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Rutledge came to the Court 
in time to participate in 
many of the landmark World 
War II cases. This photo 
shows the wreckage of the 
USS Arizona at Pearl Harbor 
on December 7, 1941.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

civilian co u rts . This was an implicitly  constitu­
tional holding, and one that hardly squares with UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
K orem atsu, given that Hawaii was truly within 
the theater of war. With peace, it was time 

to re-establish constitutional control over the 
military—at least on American soil.

As the war was ending, Japanese troops in 
Manila committed extensive atrocities against 
the civilian population. Their commander, 
General Tomoyuki Yamashita, was captured 
and put on trial in the Philippines before a 
military commission—with no lawyers on the 
panel—that convicted him and sentenced him 
to death. It was unclear whether Yamashita ac­

tually knew that the atrocities were being com­
mitted. There was also uncertainty regarding 
whether the charges against him were specific 
enough, and there was no doubt that his lawyer 
lacked adequate time to rebut the charges, 
since fifty-nine new counts were added just 
three days before the trial. It was payback 
time, and there was a powerful feeling that 
justice should be swift. Yamashita had surren­
dered September 3; his trial began October 29 
and ended six weeks later. His habeas petition

reached the Court two weeks later, oral argu­
ment came the first week of January 1946, 
and the Court handed down its opinion the 
first Monday in February.44 Yamashita was ex­
ecuted that month.

Chief Justice Stone wrote for the majority, 
denying (among other issues) that the Due Pro­
cess Clause—and therefore the Constitution— 
had any applicability to the proceedings. 
Rutledge, by contrast, found that Yamashita 
had not received a fair trial as required by the 
Constitution. In the chaotic aftermath of a great 
war, it was quite a stretch to hold that the ju­
diciary could supervise an American military 
tribunal prosecuting an enemy combatant on 

foreign soil for war crimes. Acknowledging 
that “ [w]e enter untrodden ground,” Rutledge 
nevertheless entered therein.45 From his per­
spective, the rule of law had to be applica­
ble in the new world order, and the “proceed­
ings in this case veer so far from some of our 
time-tested road signs” that he could not ac­
cept the outcome.46 Indeed, Rutledge wrote a 
friend that the “decision was the worst in the 
Court’s history, not even barring D redScott."4 '1
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Rutledge bristled at Winston Churchill's “Iron Curtain” speech, because he thought a confrontational stance 
with the Soviet Union could undo the United Nations and perhaps provoke a new war. Here, Churchill and 
President Truman arrive at Westminster College in Fulton, Missouri on March 5, 1946.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Ultim ate ly , he co nclu de d that all war-crim e s 
tr ials we re “p e rve rs io ns o f the le gal p ro ce s s .”48 
As he wro te to a friend: “ 1 think the Nurem­
berg and other proceedings like it and the sub­
sequent administration by the [allied military 
government] in Germany have done more to 
destroy any conception of democracy among 
the German and other European peoples than 
almost any course we could have pursued.”49

Rutledge would have liked to extend the 
Court’s review to the war-crimes tribunals in 
Nuremberg and Tokyo. According to Murphy’s 
notes, Rutledge stated that “ [t]his is an inter­
national tribunal but if  I get over that hump I 
would act.”50 He “passed” at Conference and 
began to write a dissent. It would not write, but 
he never voted in the case.51 As Ferren notes, 
Rutledge “had finally come upon a decision 
where his head and his gut were so irreconcil­
able that his decision-making ability had be­
come paralyzed.” 52

Rutledge was looking to extend the 

Court’s jurisdiction, but he also believed that

America’s jurisdiction should be limited. 
Thinking about the postwar world, he saw 
the United States as the leader to “establish, 
through an international organization, the ‘ba­
sic rights’ of ‘men of all races, all colors, all 
creeds, all nationalities’ to think and speak 
freely, to believe in God in one’s own way 
and to earn a ‘decent living.’ ” 53 The United 

States would necessarily have to “surrender 

a portion of its sovereignty... of limited au­
thority, equal to the essential task [of  assuring 
peace and the rights of man] and no more.” 54 
It was quite a mouthful for a sitting Justice. 

Rutledge claimed to be conscious of the nec­
essary limitations on what he could say, but 
there is no evidence that the “ limitations”  ever 
limited him—much as the Constitution failed 
to do.55

Rutledge bristled at Winston Churchill’s 
“ Iron Curtain” speech in Fulton, Missouri. 

He thought a confrontational stance with the 
Soviet Union could undo the United Nations 
and perhaps provoke a new war. Rather than
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Lucile Lomen, Justice Douglas’s law clerk in the 1944 
Term, thought highly of Justice Rutledge. “If I were 
a defendant being tried by a single judge,” she said, 
“I'd rather have Justice Rutledge than any judge I 
have known."zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

ado p t Chu rchill’s call, Rutledge hearkened to 
that of Secretary of Commerce Henry A. 

Wallace, who condemned an English-speaking 
alliance and believed the U.S. owed an “undy­
ing debt of gratitude” to the Soviet Union.56 
Eventually, in the speech that got him fired, 
Wallace claimed that the United States had 
no more business in the political affairs of 
Eastern Europe than “Russia has in the politi­
cal affairs of Latin America, Western Europe, 
and the United States.”57 Rutledge agreed, 
worrying that the United States was doing 
its best “ to set up a situation which may 
make war almost inevitable.” 58 Thus, he op­
posed aid to Greece and Turkey, holding 
that their problems—communist-backed civil  
war—should be worked out through the United 
Nations. He refused all efforts by his son to 
determine whether he voted for Wallace or 
Truman in the 1948 election. He told a friend 
“ I did not desert what I considered the sinking 
ship.” 59 Ferren thinks that means a Truman 

vote, but for most of the race both Wallace 
and Truman would have been thought to be 
sinking.

We can feel fortunate that Rutledge was 
not in a foreign-policy-making position in the 
postwar era. He believed too deeply in the 
goodness of all men to see the world as it was. 
But we can feel equally fortunate that he left his 

mark on serious constitutional issues, ones that 
remain with us today. Late in her life, Justice 
Douglas’s law clerk for the 1944 Term60 stated: 

“If  I were a defendant being tried by a single 
judge, I ’d rather have Justice Rutledge than any 
judge I have known.” 61 On a Court of great 
Justices, he was a great judge.62 1 knew 
Rutledge from a handful of his opinions. 
Thanks to John Ferren, I wish 1 had known 
him in person.
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Decisions by the Supreme Court that are accorded “ landmark” status are chiefly remem­
bered for their holdings and effects. Such cases are also typically linked to a particular era of 
judicial history, as UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM arbury v. M adison1 was to the Marshall Court and Jefferson’s presidency, 
as Youngstow n Sheet &  Tube C o. v. Saw yer2 was to the Vinson Court and Truman’s presidency, 
and as M iranda v. A rizona3 was to the Warren Court and the tumultuous 1960s. But probably 

only serious students of the Court will  recall that M arbury was decided in 1803, Youngstow n in 
1952, and M iranda in 1966. And fewer still will  know, without first consulting a reference, that 
M arbury came down on February 24, the Steel Seizure Case on June 2, and M iranda on June 
13. Scholars typically associate decisions with years, not the day of the month.

Yet there are a few exceptions to this gen­
eralization. Activists on both sides of the abor­
tion controversy gather outside the Supreme 
Court Building each January 22nd, the anniver­
sary of the 1973 decision in R oe v . W ade.4 Stu­
dents of the presidency associate the transfer 
of executive power from Richard M. Nixon 
to Gerald R. Ford with July 24, 1974, when 
the Watergate tapes case5 was decided. And 
probably no date link is stronger than May 
17, 1954, the day that B row n v. B oard of 
E ducation (I) 6 came down.7 That decision a 

half-century ago not only erased constitutional 

approval for state-enforced racial segregation 
in public schools (and, by implication, in all 
other official settings) but invigorated—jump- 
started, some would say—the modern civil-  
rights movement.

Among other major decisions, neither R oe 
v. W ade nor B row n v. B oard would ever have 
happened, however, without the Fourteenth 

Amendment. Ratified in 1868, this constitu­
tional legacy of the Civil  War opened the door 
to substantial change in the relationship be­
tween the national and state governments. In 
combination with the Thirteenth Amendment 
of 1865, which abolished slavery, and the Fif­
teenth Amendment of 1870, which formally 
removed race as a criterion for voting, the Four­
teenth Amendment has been called the “second 
American Constitution.” 8 In particular, B row n 

was the end of a journey (and the start of 
another) that began with that amendment. In 
different ways, five recent books intersect the 
story of the Fourteenth Amendment at various 
points along the way.
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The major question surrounding the new Fourteenth Amendment in 1868 was the legal status of four million 
African Americans who had been slaves before December 1865 and the legal status of nearly half a million 
people of color, many residing in the middle Atlantic states, who had never been slaves or who had gained 
their freedom prior to the war. This photo depicts an Alexandria, Virginia slave pen in the 1860s.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

In co ntras t to the s ingle objectives of 
the Thirteenth and Fifteenth Amendments, the 
Fourteenth was actually six amendments rolled 
into one. The first sentence of Section 1 ad­
dressed citizenship: “All  persons born or nat­
uralized in the United States and subject to 
the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the 
United States and of the State wherein they 
reside.” Those twenty-eight words constitu­
tionally consigned to the trash heap of history 

Chief Justice Roger B. Taney’s conclusion in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
Scott v. Sandford9 that the framers of the Con­
stitution never intended African Americans to 
be included within the meaning of the word 
“citizens” and so they could “claim none of 
the rights and privileges which that instrument 
provide[d] for and secure[d] to citizens of the 
United States.” 10

The second sentence of Section 1 pro­
claimed new, broad, but undefined restrictions 
on state power:

No State shall make or enforce any 
law which shall abridge the privi­
leges or immunities of citizens of the 
United States; nor shall any State de­
prive any person of life, liberty, or 

property, without due process of law; 
nor deny to any person within its ju­
risdiction the equal protection of the 

laws.

The first clause borrowed language from 
Article IV  of the Constitution: “The Citizens of 
each State shall be entitled to all Privileges and 
Immunities of Citizens in the several States.”  
The second clause drew verbatim from the due
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p ro ce s s lim itatio n o n the natio nal go ve rnm e nt 
in the Fifth Amendment. The words of the 
third clause were new to the Constitution and 
seemed to tweak the guaranties of the first and 
second clauses. Taken together, the three evi­
denced a strong antidiscriminatory purpose.

That second sentence of Section 1 has 
long been responsible for making the amend­
ment routinely the most litigated part of the 
Constitution as measured by the number of 
cases on the Supreme Court’s docket. Its words 

have been practically a full employment pro­
vision for the legal profession. More imme­
diately, both parts of Section 1 erased any lin­
gering doubts about the constitutionality of the 
Civil  Rights Act of 1866. This comprehensive 
statute, designed to augment the abolition of 
slavery five months earlier, declared all per­
sons born in the United States to be national 
citizens and, as such, to possess certain basic 
rights of citizenship:

[S]uch citizens, of every race and 
color, without regard to any pre­
vious condition of slavery or in­
voluntary servitude... shall have the 
same right, in every State and 
Territory..., to make and enforce 
contracts, to sue, be parties, and give 
evidence, to inherit, purchase, lease, 
sell, hold, and convey real and per­
sonal property, and to full and equal 
benefit of all laws and proceedings 
for the security of person and prop­
erty, as is enjoyed by white citizens, 
and shall be subject to like punish­
ment, pains, and penalties, and to 
none other, any law, statute, ordi­
nance, regulation, or custom, to the 
contrary notwithstanding.11

Constitutionalizing as well as codifying both 
these guaranties and a new relationship be­
tween national and state governments greatly 
reduced the chance that lawmakers of a later 
day might textually undo Congress’s work.

Section 3 of the Fourteenth Amendment 
politically disabled former Confederate lead­
ers, Section 4 foreclosed any attempt by na­

tion or state to assume the Confederate debt 
or to pay compensation to ex-slave owners, 
and Section 5 (in language taken verbatim 
from Section II  of the Thirteenth Amendment) 
empowered Congress to enforce the terms of 
the amendment through “appropriate legisla­
tion.” Only in Section 2 was there an oblique 
and curious reference to the politically touchy 
subject of nationally protected voting rights. 
In addition to eliminating the Three-Fifth’s 
Compromise, which counted three-fifths of 
the slave population for purposes of determin­
ing representation in the House of Represen­
tatives and votes in the electoral college,12 
Section 2 dictated that a state’s representa­
tion in Congress would be reduced in pro­
portion to the number of “male inhabitants”  
21 years of age and older who were denied 
the right to vote. Although that penalty was 
never exacted from a state, the amendment 
directly anticipated—and indirectly allowed— 
racially based disfranchisement. The origins of 
the Fifteenth Amendment thus rested in what 
Fourteenth did UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAnot do.

But as of 1868, the major question sur­
rounding the new Fourteenth Amendment 
concerned, not voting, but the meaning and 

breadth of the protections enshrined in the sec­
ond sentence of Section 1. A broad reading 
would create for everyone a national shield 
against encroachments by the states for a host 
of basic rights. Echoing ideas from the pre­
war abolitionist movement, some claimed dur­
ing debates in Congress over the amendment 

in 1866 that it would even make provisions 
of the Bill of Rights as applicable to the 
states as they had always been operable against 
the federal government.13 A narrow reading 

would confine the amendment to the emer­
gency at hand: the legal status of four million 
African Americans who had been slaves be­
fore December 1865 and of nearly half a mil­
lion other persons of color, many residing in 
the middle Atlantic states, who had never been 
slaves or who had gained their freedom prior 
to the war.

Not quite five years after the ratification 
of the Fourteenth Amendment, the Supreme
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Historian Jonathon Lurie and political scientist Ronald M. Labbe have written a new book telling the story of 
the Crescent City Livestock Landing & Slaughter-House Company, which the Louisiana legislature chartered 
in 1869 with a monopoly on the slaughtering of animals in the city of New Orleans.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Co u rt co nfro nte d it fo r the firs t tim e in 
the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASlaughterhouse C ases,the subject of a 
book of the same name by political scien­

tist Ronald M. Labbe, emeritus of the Uni­
versity of Louisiana at Lafayette, and histo­
rian Jonathan Lurie of Rutgers University.15 
Their thoroughly researched volume is the 
first modern book-length study of this land­
mark litigation and the most revealing anal­
ysis of it since an article written by politi­
cal scientist Loren Beth ninety years after the 
decision.16

Their book tells the story of the Crescent 
City Livestock Landing & Slaughter-House 
Company, chartered by the Louisiana legisla­

ture in 1869 with a monopoly over the slaugh­
tering of animals in the city of New Orleans 
and the surrounding area. The Crescent City 
stockyards and abattoir were situated east of 
the center of the city, not far from the site of the 
famed Battle of New Orleans of 1815. Crescent 

City’s monopoly adversely affected hundreds 
of butchers. Barred from slaughtering on their 
own premises, they had to use the Crescent 
City facilities for a fee.17 In three separate 
cases, the Butchers’ Benevolent Association 
and others unsuccessfully sought an injunction 
in the state courts to block the monopoly. When 
the cases reached the Supreme Court, their 
attorney, former Justice (and ex-Confederate) 
John A. Campbell, argued that the legislation

was constitutionally defective on four counts: 
that it created “an involuntary servitude forbid­
den by the thirteenth article of amendment” ; 
that it abridged “ the privileges and immunities 
of citizens of the United States” ; that it denied 
them “ the equal protection of the laws” ; and 
that it deprived them “of their property without 
due process of law; contrary to the provisions 
of the first section of the fourteenth article of 
amendment.” 18

The circumstances of the litigation 
seemed about as remote as could be from the 
presumed purpose of the amendments: racial 
justice. As Labbe and Lurie characterize the 
irony-rich situation,

A Reconstruction amendment in­

tended to secure the civil rights of 
black Americans had been used to 
secure the property rights of white 
butchers. The statute they sought to 
defeat by the amendment had been 
enacted by a reconstructed, racially 
integrated legislature. Counsel for the 
butchers, John Campbell, had a well- 
earned reputation as an advocate of 
states’ rights. Yet now he called for an 
expansive interpretation of the rights, 

privileges, and immunities to be pro­
tected as never before by the federal 

courts.
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Cam p be ll’s opponents—including
Matthew Carpenter, who had par­
ticipated in the congressional delib­
erations leading to the Fourteenth 
Amendment, and Thomas Durant, 
whose efforts to help the liberated 
blacks in Louisiana had resulted in a 
self-imposed exile from that state— 
found themselves in a similarly ironic 
position. To win their case, they had 
to argue for a narrow interpretation 
of an amendment cast in very broad 
language.19

The tight 5-4 decision20 against the butch­
ers and for the state symbolized the lack of 

consensus over precisely what the Reconstruc­
tion amendments were intended to accom­
plish. “This court,” Justice Samuel Freeman 
Miller momentously observed for the major­
ity, “ is thus called upon for the first time to 
give construction of these articles.” 21 “On the 

most casual examination of the language of 
these amendments,”  Miller  continued, “no one 
can fail to be impressed with the one pervad­
ing purpose found in them all,... and with­
out which none of them would have even been 
suggested; we mean the freedom of the slave 
race, the security and firm establishment of 
that freedom.... It  is true that only the fifteenth 
amendment, in terms, mentions the negro by 
speaking of his color and his slavery. But it is 
just as true that each of the other articles was 
addressed to the grievances of that race, as de­
signed to remedy them as the fifteenth.” 22

As for the constitutional objections al­
leged by the aggrieved butchers, Miller  
thought counts one, three, and four mer­
ited only the briefest attention. To regard the 
Louisiana regulation as “ involuntary servi­
tude” within the meaning of the Thirteenth 
Amendment “ requires an effort, to say the 
least of it.” 23 Ignoring Chief Justice Taney’s 

arguably analogous use of Fifth Amendment 
due process in UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD red Scott and Chief Justice 
Salmon P. Chase’s similar use of it in the 
first round of the legal-tender litigation in 
H epburn v. G risw o ld?4 Miller perfunctorily

dispensed with the butchers’ due-process ob­
jection. “ [Ujnder no construction of that pro­
vision that we have ever seen, or any that we 

deem admissible, can the restraint imposed 
by... Louisiana... be held to be a depriva­
tion of property within the meaning of that 
provision.” 25 Not clear was whether he meant 
that no “deprivation” had occurred or that no 

“property” was involved. In either event, he 
closed the due-process door. As for the equal- 
protection claim, Miller  “doubt[ed] very much 
whether any action... not directed by way of 
discrimination against the negroes as a class, 
or on account of their race [neither of which 
applied in this instance], would ever be held to 
come within the purview of this provision.” 26

Regarding the second count, Miller  seized 
on the first sentence of Section 1 as a means of 
virtually dispatching the privileges and immu­
nities clause from the Fourteenth Amendment. 
That sentence spoke of state citizenship and na­
tional citizenship. The second sentence spoke 
of “ the privileges and immunities of citizens of 
the United States,”  leading Miller  to conclude 
that one possessed certain privileges and im­
munities by virtue of state citizenship and oth­
ers by virtue of national citizenship. The lat­
ter consisted of rights created by the national 
government. The remaining (and larger) cat­
egory of rights either flowed from state citi­
zenship or pre-dated formation of the national 
government. These were “ fundamental”  rights 
that belonged “ to the citizens of all free gov­
ernments,”  as Justice Bushrod Washington had 
written in an 1823 circuit court opinion con­
struing the privileges and immunities clause of 
Article IV. While declining to enumerate them, 
Washington suggested “several general heads: 
protection by the government, with the right to 

acquire and possess property of every kind, and 
to pursue and obtain happiness and safety, sub­
ject, nevertheless, to such restraints as the gov­
ernment may prescribe for the general good of 
the whole.” 27 Accordingly, Miller  insisted, any 
liberties claimed by the butchers—such as a 
right to pursue a lawful calling—derived from 

state citizenship and so fell outside the pro­
tection of the Fourteenth Amendment. To read
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the clau s e m o re ge ne ro u s ly , Mille r co nte nde d, 
wo u ld m ake the Su p re m e Co u rt “a p e rp e tu al 
ce ns o r u p o n all le gis latio n o f the State s” and 
“ radically change [] the who le the o ry o f the re­

latio ns o f the State and Federal governments 
to each other and of both these governments to 
the people.” 28ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

T h e Slaughterhouse Cases is rich in its 
descriptions of life, politics, and commerce in 
south Louisiana in the immediate post-Civil 
War years, as well as in its account of the com­
plex monopoly litigation itself.29 But there is 
more. Labbe and Lurie challenge appraisals 
that have consigned either the slaughterhouse 
statute itself or the Supreme Court’s decision 
to the bin of ill  repute.

Part of the unsavory reputation of the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
Slaughterhouse C ases lies in the widely held 
belief that the law challenged in the litigation 
“was the result of a corrupt group of carpet­
baggers with no legitimate reason to support 
the new law, other than their own financial 
interests.”30 Labbe and Lurie devote consid­
erable space to demonstrating that corrective 
action directed at the slaughtering of animals 
was sorely needed. There were some 300,000 
animals butchered annually in the city and 
its environs during the 1860s. With no pub­
lic sewer systems, “wastes were either dumped 
into uninhabited areas of the city, such as the 
broad levee of the Mississippi River, or simply 
emptied into open gutters, as was the practice 
of the large hotels. Similarly, the offal from 
the slaughterhouses was thrown either into the 
river or onto city streets.” If  one combines 
those images with the humidity and swampy 
environment of the area, there is no surprise in 
learning that physicians “branded it the dirti­
est and most unhealthy city in the country.” 31 

Thus, especially in view of the fact that other 
cities had sought to rectify such evils through 
the use of a central facility, the authors con­
clude that the record amply supports the so­
lution the legislature devised. “ [T]he widely 
perceived linkage between the slaughterhouses 
and ill  health provided the energy to reform, 
the development of the centralized abattoir 
elsewhere provided the form, and the public

franchise to a private company offered a read­
ily  available means of implementation.” 32 The 

charge of corruption did have a factual ba­
sis: “elements of it ring true and clearly tend 

to incriminate.” Labbe and Lurie conclude, 
however, that even that evidence must be put 
into perspective, noting the observation of one 
newspaper in 1873 that “ rings, bargains for pa­
tronage, dealings in depreciated public paper 
and wasteful contracts are no modern inven­
tion in New Orleans.” 33 In other words, gov­
ernment in the city and the state had been cor­

rupt before the carpetbag Republicans enjoyed 
their brief hold on power and it remained after 
they lost it. Corruption was hardly unique to 
them.

With respect to Miller ’s opinion for the 
Court in particular, Labbe and Lurie are 
troubled by Laurence Tribe’s assessment that 
“ there is considerable consensus among con­
stitutional thinkers that the Supreme Court 
made a scandalously wrong decision in this 
case.” They most certainly reject the late 
Charles Black’s claim that the majority opin­
ion “ is probably the worst holding, in its effect 

on human rights, ever uttered by the Supreme 
Court.” 34 Labbe and Lurie characterize such 

assessments as a “modern Whiggish histori­
cal interpretation..., seen... through the eyes 

of the present rather than of the applicable 
era.” 35 If one conceives of the Fourteenth 
Amendment in terms of what it has become— 
a virile and nearly boundless reservoir of 
federally protected constitutional rights—“of 
course Miller ’s narrow holding would appear 
misguided, if  not malevolent.” 36

Yet if  certainty is lacking as to the mean­
ing of the second sentence of Section 1 of 
Fourteenth Amendment, then the caution in 
Miller ’s opinion was both prudent and justi­
fied, Labbe and Lurie contend. Without a clear 
mandate that Congress had called for an up­
ending of the federal system, confining the 
amendment to its most obvious objective— 
the protection of African Americans—avoided 
the risk of decreeing what the Constitution 
had not. The authors agree with scholars such 
as William Nelson that the language of the
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am e ndm e nt atte m p te d to balance co nflicting 
valu e s o f equality and individualism and of 
federalism and majoritarianism. Its framers 
“dealt with conflict not by resolving it but by 
bequeathing it to the future.” 37 And it was in 
that future that the Court turned to the amend­
ment’s Due Process Clause as a general re­
straint on the police power, leaving Miller ’s 

constricted view of the privileges and immu­
nities clause largely intact.38

Still, in concluding that the most im­

portant privileges and immunities inhered in 
one’s state citizenship and thus fell outside 
the amendment’s protection, Miller may have 

erred too far on the side of caution. True, 
he affirmed the race-centered purpose of the 
amendment, but in making sure that many 
important rights lay beyond the scope of the 
amendment, he barred federal protection of 
the very attributes of citizenship that would 
have allowed the newly freed population to 
have looked out for themselves more effec­
tively. Labbe and Lurie believe that Miller  
should have refrained from his excursion into 
constitutional cosmology and instead rested 
the holding of the case on the traditional doc­
trine of state police powers. Doing that, how­
ever, might well have led to the result that 
Miller wanted to avoid: making the Court a 
general overseer of state commercial legisla­
tion. Just as holding that the slaughterhouse 
monopoly violated the Fourteenth Amendment 
would have placed similar arrangements else­
where in constitutional doubt, saying that the 
centralized slaughterhouse was a reasonable 

means to a permissible end would have in­
vited other cases that challenged, on different 
facts, other state policies as unreasonable. At 
the least, as the Court discovered later, an en­
larged jurisdiction would mean an exploding 
docket. Miller, after all, was writing nearly two 

decades before Congress handed the Court any 
control over its docket.39 Indeed, for cases orig­
inating in the circuit courts, as most federal 
cases did, the Supreme Court of Miller ’s day 
was the first and only court of appeals.

Miller  himself is the subject of Justice ofZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA 

Shattered Dreams by New Orleans attorney

New Orleans attorney and Loyola University histo­
rian Michael A. Ross has written a new biogra­
phy of Justice Samuel Freeman Miller (above), en­
titled Justice of Shattered Dreams. Ross argues that 
Miller's “dream” of America was “shattered” during 
the Gilded Age, as he witnessed the formation of large 
concentrations of wealth and a corresponding politi­
cal alienation from government by the people.

and Loyola University historian Michael A. 
Ross.40 The appearance of this judicial bi­
ography is noteworthy: It is the first book- 
length study of the thirty-sixth Justice since 
publication of Charles Fairman’s Mr. Justice 

Miller and the Supreme Court, 1862-1890 

more than six decades ago.41 At first glance, 
the title of the newer volume seems puz­
zling, perhaps even out of place. How could 
“shattered dreams” accurately be applied to 
a gifted, Kentucky-reared physician-turned- 
lawyer who achieved professional prominence 
in Iowa in the 1850s, became the first trans- 
Mississippi Justice, and served an acclaimed 
twenty-eight years on the highest court in the 
land? Was he not, in Chief Justice Chase’s esti­
mate, “beyond question the dominant person­
ality ... upon the bench, whose mental force 
and individuality [were] felt by the Court more 
than any other”?42
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On a clo s e r lo o k, ho we ve r, the title m ay 
be e ntire ly ap t. The “dreams”  that were “shat­
tered”  were Miller ’s visions for America. Ross 
contends that, “ [o]nce sanguine about the 
prospects for capitalism and democracy, he 

grew increasingly pessimistic over time. In 
the process, he became the judicial voice of 
Americans who were left behind by the post­

war economy and felt alienated by the political 
realignments of the Gilded Age.”43 The eco­
nomic and political changes that Miller  found 
disturbing included the large concentrations of 
wealth that became apparent in the latter third 
of the century. Also worrisome was the grow­
ing domination of the Republican party by in­
dustrialists and railroad magnates, as well as 
the restoration of conservative Democrats to 
positions of power—with the accompanying 
negative effects on the civil  rights of blacks— 
in the southern states after the end of Recon­
struction.

Ross therefore parts company with schol­
ars such as Fairman who, the author believes, 
depict Miller  as an agrarian and nascent pop­
ulist. Instead, Miller was “an important rep­
resentative of an understudied wing of the 
Republican Party” that lost influence after 
the Civil War. That wing heralded a “ free- 
labor ideology” that preached the right of 
all Americans to “go as far as their tal­
ents and toils could take them.”44 Coupled 

with this principle was a “western booster 
ethos,”  according to which any town in a good 
location—including Miller ’s adopted home­
town of Keokuk—would thrive so long as 
its residents worked hard and made sound 
decisions. “Most Iowans anticipated improv­
ing their station and aspired to comfortable 
prosperity as farmers, shop-keepers, profes­
sionals, or small factory owners. The Re­
publican Party’s message [initially]  reflected 
their aspirations. It was the party of those 
who succeeded—or expected to succeed—in 
the new economy.” But as the postwar years 
demonstrated, growth did not necessarily come 

where it was expected, and the new economic 
order left many outside the ranks of the pros­

perous. In his judicial decisions, “Miller  rep­

resented the values of this neglected group of 
Republicans.”45

Similarly, Ross parts company with 
scholars who—whether approvingly or 
disapprovingly—credit Miller as one of the 

prime movers in the unraveling of Recon­
struction, as typified by Miller ’s opinion in 
the UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASlaughterhouse C ases.46 While that 1873 

holding does seem in hindsight to portend 
the snuffing out of civil rights for African 
Americans, those effects, Ross insists, “were 
far from certain at the time of the decision.”  
Instead, the “Slaughter-House Cases may 
be read as a progressive—though ultimately 
failed—attempt to affirm the authority of 
the biracial government of Louisiana, to 
grapple with the horrible sanitary conditions 
in New Orleans, and to thwart conservatives 

such as Justice Field, who hoped to defeat 
state regulation of private property.”47 It was 
Miller, in his opinion for the Court, who thrust 
forward racial justice as the primary mission 
of the Fourteenth Amendment. If  Miller  went 
to extremes to reduce the Privileges and 
Immunities Clause practically to a nullity, he 
did so to neutralize the efforts of Field and 
others to turn “ the Fourteenth Amendment 
into a weapon with which they could defend 
propertied elites.”48

In Ross’s mind, Miller and Field thus 

stand as the great jurisprudential antagonists 
of this era of Supreme Court history.49 As 

such, Ross’s perception of late nineteenth- 
century jurisprudence reflects the Progressive 
or New Deal critique that read certain deci­
sions by Field and others as attempts to write 
laissez-faire dogma into the Constitution.50 In 
contrast, certain revisionists insist that Field’s 
more anti-regulatory stance was “not a re­
flection of laissez-faire thinking but as an 
instance of justices steeped in free-labor ide­
ology resisting the very idea of unfree la­
bor contracts.” 51 Seen in this way, the posi­

tions of Miller  and Field were, ironically, both 
offshoots of free-labor ideas—offshoots that 
veered in opposing directions.
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Whatever the assessment of Miller ’s years 
on the Court, most would probably agree 

that he handily illustrates Justice Sandra Day 
O’Connor comment about judicial selection: 
one must be “ the right person in the right spot 

at the right time. Stated simply, you must be 
lucky.” 52 For Miller, part of his good fortune 
lay in the reorganization of the circuits un­
derway in the early 1860s. The circumstances 
of Miller ’s appointment consume a chapter in 
Shattered Dreams and therefore merit at least 
a brief mention here.53

In January 1862, after the Senate con­
firmed Noah H. Swayne, the first of President 
Lincoln’s five appointments to the Court, the 

seats vacated by the death of Justice Peter 
Daniel in 1860 and the resignation of Justice 
John Campbell in 1861 remained unfilled. 
Both had come from southern circuits, but the 
southern circuits now existed in name only. 
Secession thus focused congressional atten­
tion on a long-overdue chore: circuit reorgani­
zation. Wisconsin, Minnesota, Iowa, Kansas, 
Florida, Texas, California, and Oregon had 
been admitted to the union after the last re­
organization in 1837. So there were now states 
in circuits that were not, practically speaking, 

any longer part of the union, and there were 
states in the union that were not part of any 
circuit. Filling the Daniel and Campbell seats 
would await at least partial completion of this 
task.

Of course, redrawing circuit boundaries 
involved much more than questions of judi­
cial efficiency and balance alone. It was also a 
matter of power and influence. Moreover, rep­
resentatives and senators eyeing one or more 
candidates for the Court were fully  conscious 
of how circuit boundaries could boost or sink 
a prospective nominee’s chances. Circuit reor­
ganization presented both an opportunity and 
a challenge for Miller. Even though there was 
no legal requirement that a president appoint 

from within a circuit, that was almost always 
the practice. Accordingly, if  Iowa were placed 
in a circuit with neighboring Illinois, for exam­
ple, Miller ’s chances for a nomination would be

slim indeed. If  Iowa were joined with Kansas, 
Minnesota, and Missouri, the combination of 

Miller ’s legal reputation on the west bank of 
the Mississippi and the depth of local sup­
port would make him a leading contender. 
Thus, for Miller and his allies, the prize of a 
Supreme Court seat required success on two 
fronts: first, creating a circuit consisting of 
trans-Mississippi states only; second, persuad­
ing Lincoln that Miller  was the man to be ap­
pointed from that circuit. Efforts on both fronts 
began soon after the House began work on re­
organization in December 1861 and the Senate 
in January 1862.54

Success on the first front was due mainly 

to Senator James W. Grimes and Representa­
tive James F. Wilson of Iowa. Both desired 
Miller ’s nomination and worked tirelessly on 
behalf of a trans-Mississippi circuit. However, 
congressional horse-trading on circuit juggling 
during the next six months yielded Senate and 
House reorganization plans that conflicted in 
crucial respects as far as Miller ’s chances were 
concerned. The Senate version joined Iowa 
to Illinois; the House version called for a re­
configured Ninth Circuit consisting of Iowa,ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Representative James F. Wilson of Iowa (pictured) 
worked tirelessly in the House to promote the estab­
lishment of a trans-Mississippi circuit that would help 
ensure Miller's nomination to the Supreme Court. 
Senator James W. Grimes of Iowa pushed for the 
proper circuit reconfiguration in the Senate.
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Kansas, Minnesota, and Missouri. (The Far 

West states of California and Oregon would be 
excluded from this reorganization. Each had 
its own circuit judge who was not a Supreme 

Court justice.) With adjournment looming, 
with its prospects of no bill  acceptable to both 
houses, the bills went to conference committee, 
where Wilson was one of three House mem­
bers. Even at the risk of jeopardizing reorga­
nization entirely, he insisted on inclusion of 
the trans-Mississippi circuit as part of the bill  
reported back to both houses. With Grimes 
on watch in the Senate, the conference ver­
sion with its Miller-friendly circuit passed both 
houses on July 12.55

Meanwhile, Miller and his allies stirred 
up a beehive of activity to make sure that 
any nomination from a properly reconfig­
ured circuit went to him. Prominent sup­
porters that included Democrats as well as 
Republicans inundated the White House with 
appeals for Miller ’s appointment. Missives ex­
tolled Miller ’s record as a lawyer and informed 
the president that he had left Kentucky years 
before because of his opposition to slavery. His 

devotion to the Union seemed sealed by the 
fact that he had used his own funds to help 
outfit a regiment when war began. The Iowa 
attorney general recommended Miller  not only 
because he was an “earnest Patriot and consci­
entious Republican” but also—attempting to 
turn a possible liability  into an asset—because 
he UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA“ has never held a  pub lic office.'” 56

The lobbying campaign soon had its in­
tended effect: Lincoln sent Miller ’s name to 
the Senate on July 16 without ever having even 
met the man.57 Miller  must have had his bags 
packed: After a speedy confirmation, Chief 
Justice Taney administered the oath of office 
to him in Washington on July 21.

Four years after Miller ’s death in 1890, 
President Grover Cleveland named Senator 
Edward Douglass White of Louisiana for the 
vacancy created by the death of Justice Samuel 
Blatchford in 1893. Following Cleveland’s se­
lection of his Interior Secretary L. Q . C. 
Lamar of Mississippi in his first administra­

tion, White was only the second native South­
erner to be sworn in as a Justice since President 
Franklin Pierce picked John Campbell of 
Alabama in 1853.58 Thanks to President 

William Howard Taft, White then became, in 
1910, the first sitting Justice to be named Chief 
Justice of the United States.59 The beginning 
of the White Court falls almost exactly halfway 
between ratification of the Fourteenth Amend­
ment and the Warren Court’s decision in B row n 
v. B oard of E ducation .

The W h ite  C ou r t  by Indiana University 
(Terra Haute) historian Rebecca S. Shoemaker 

is among the most recent entries in the 
Supreme Court Handbooks series published 
by ABC-CLIO under the general editorship 
of Peter G. Renstrom.60 Like the other vol­

umes in this series, this one adheres to a for­
mat consisting of two parts. Part one contains 
four substantive chapters that examine: (1) the 
Court in the context of its times, including the 
circumstances surrounding the appointment of 
each Justice who served with Chief Justice 
White; (2) the individual Justices in terms of 

their backgrounds and jurisprudential thought; 
(3) the significant decisions rendered by the 
White Court; and (4) the White Court’s legacy 
and impact. Part two, which in T h e W h ite  
C ou r t  consumes about one-third of the pages, 
includes a variety of useful reference materi­
als and documents that relate to personalities, 
policies, and events addressed in part one.

Shoemaker depicts the White years as a 

time of transition in which both the nation and 
the Court were in the midst of fundamental 
changes.61 The former continued its transfor­
mation from a largely agrarian land to one that 

was industrialized and urbanized. The latter 

saw its caseload still full of economic reg­
ulation and other commercial questions that 
had been a fixture on the docket since the 
Waite Court (1874-1888) and that would re­
main so well into the 1930s. But there were 
signs of new questions as well that would in­
creasingly occupy the Justices’ time. It was in 
the White Court that the first “ focused debates 
on the meaning and extent of civil liberties
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In her new book on the White Court, Indiana University historian Rebecca S. Shoemaker describes how the 
Court underwent its first expansion of appellate jurisdiction with respect to state courts since 1789. Pictured 

are the Justices in 1911, with Chief Justice Edward Douglass White at center.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

p ro te ctio ns gu arante e d by the Bill  o f Rights”  
aro s e .62

One s ho u ld add that the White Bench 
was in an organizational transition as well. 
White’s Court was the first to function en­
tirely under the changes wrought by the Evarts 
or Judiciary Act of 1891, which created the 
federal judiciary’s first permanent general 
appellate courts (the circuit courts of ap­
peals) below the Supreme Court and conferred 
upon the Supreme Court modest discretionary 
jurisdiction.63 Fuller had been Chief Justice 
when the 1891 measure, long in the works, be­
came law, but in the first three years of his 
tenure the Court operated within a system that 
had undergone few significant changes since 

1789.64 Moreover, it was on White’s watch in 
1914 that Congress allowed section 25 appeals 
from state high courts to qualify for Supreme 
Court review in instances where the federal 
claim had been UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAupheld by the court below.65

It was the first expansion of the Supreme 
Court’s appellate jurisdiction with respect to 

state courts since 1789.
As Shoemaker shows, the White Court 

also appears transitional in how it dealt with the 
small number of civil-rights cases it decided.66 

Following passage of several civil-rights acts 
and ratification of the Fourteenth and Fifteenth 
Amendments, such cases first arrived in the 
twilight of the Chase Court (1864-1873),67 but 

they were more plentiful during the Waite and 
Fuller Courts. Indeed, the reaction of the Waite 
and Fuller Courts to civil-rights claims may 
partly account for the relatively small num­
ber that surfaced during the White years. Be­
tween Waite’s arrival in 1874 and Fuller’s death 
in 1910, civil-rights claimants only occasion­
ally prevailed.68 The general judicial pattern 
was to look with skepticism on federal efforts 
to protect civil rights and with toleration on 
state policies that fostered discrimination. The
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The White Court invali­
dated Oklahoma’s “grand­
father clause,” a device 
used to excuse whites 
who had been eligible to 
vote prior to ratification of 
the Fourteenth and Fifteen 
Amendments in 1866—or 
who had an ancestor who 
had been eligible— from 
having to pass a literacy 
test before being allowed 
to vote. This 1867 illus­
tration shows both blacks 
and whites placing ballots 
in a box.

result by 1910 was a situation characterized 
by a rigid system of legally mandated racial 
segregation in southern states coupled with a 
broad-scale disfranchisement of otherwise eli­
gible black voters.69 The noteworthy fact about 
the White Court is thus not that there were only 
a small number of civil-rights cases, but that 
there were any at all. The records of the Waite 
and Fuller Courts would have inspired few to 
look to the federal judiciary as a guardian of 
civil rights.

The Supreme Court’s stance on civil  rights 
was clearly in transition during White’s years in 
the center chair, because civil-rights claimants 
prevailed more often than not. Several merit at­
tention here. UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB ailey v. A labam a10 and U nited 
States v. R eyno lds11 struck down Alabama’s

debt peonage and criminal surety laws, respec­
tively. Because the statutes allowed a form of 
involuntary servitude, they were in violation of 

the Thirteenth Amendment. While each case 
was decided ostensibly on nonracial grounds, 
it was certainly common knowledge at the time 

that those adversely affected by the statutes 
were almost always poor black laborers.

A year after R eyno lds was decided, G uinn 
v. U nited States12 invalidated Oklahoma’s 
“grandfather clause.” The device excused a 
would-be voter from a literacy test if  the person 
was eligible to vote prior to 1866—that is, be­
fore ratification of the Fourteenth and Fifteenth 
amendments—or had an ancestor who had 
been eligible prior to the specified date. While 
the provision was race-neutral in its wording,
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its e ffe ct was to subject blacks to more onerous 
voter registration requirements than whites. 
For Chief Justice White’s opinion for the Court, 
the choice of date, not the statute’s race-neutral 
language, proved dispositive: “ [W]e are un­

able to discover how, unless the prohibitions 
of the Fifteenth Amendment were considered, 
the slightest reason was afforded for basing 
the classification upon a period of time prior 
to the Fifteenth Amendment. Certainly it can­
not be said that there was any peculiar necro­
mancy in the time named which engendered 
attributes affecting the qualification to vote 
which would not exist at another and different 
period unless the Fifteenth Amendment was 
in view.” 73 Symbolically, UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAG uinn was impor­

tant as a victory for black voting rights. The 
Court actually looked beyond the wording of 
a statute to consider its purpose and effect. 
In practice, however, G uinn made little dif­
ference in the short run. Most states that had 
adopted such clauses had already abandoned 
them because they had become embarrass­
ing subterfuges; besides, other devices such 
as the white primary were being put in place 
that accomplished the same discriminatory ef­
fect. Ironically, even Oklahoma’s grandfather 
clause may have been motivated less by race 
and more by partisanship. As one Oklahoma 
Republican wrote President Taft in 1910, the 

amendment was adopted “ for the express pur­
pose of disfranchising negro voters, not be­
cause they are black, but because they vote the 
Republican ticket.” 74

M cC abe v. A tch ison, T. &  S. F . R y. 
C o.,75 decided in the same year as the sec­
ond Alabama peonage case, was probably the 
most significant of the White Court’s civil-  
rights decisions. In dispute was the validity 
of Oklahoma’s Separate Coach Law, which, 
like the Louisiana statute that the Fuller Court 
had upheld in P lessy v. F erguson,76 mandated 

racially separate coaches on passenger trains. 

But the Oklahoma statute addressed a situa­
tion that the earlier statute had not: It allowed 

railroad companies to provide luxury accom­
modations such as sleeping and dining cars

without providing the same for black passen­
gers. The rationale, of course, was that demand 
among blacks for the higher priced services 

was low and so mandating racially duplicate 
services in this category would be financially 

prohibitive. Although the Court denied relief 
in the case because the plaintiffs lacked stand­
ing to sue (they had filed their suit before 
the law went into effect and so were not ad­
versely affected at the time of filing), Justice 
Hughes’s opinion for the majority went out of 
its way to assert in dicta that the statute was 
unconstitutional because it “makes the con­
stitutional right depend upon the number of 
persons who may be discriminated against, 
whereas the essence of the constitutional right 

is that it is a personal one; [when] facilities 
are provided, substantial equality of treatment 
of persons traveling under like conditions can­
not be refused.” 77 Alongside P lessy, Hughes’s 

construction of the Fourteenth Amendment 
is noteworthy. The earlier case rested on the 
Court’s conclusion that racial segregation on 
trains was reasonable, not that the Fourteenth 
Amendment necessarily required “equal” fa­
cilities if they were going to be separate. 
“Equal but separate”  was a requirement of the 
statute, not of P lessy itself.78 What Hughes 

seemed to say in M cC abe was that the equal­
ity component had now been made a constitu­
tional expectation. That would leave in future 
judicial hands the task of deciding what equal­
ity in any particular context actually meant.

Analysis of those White Court deci­
sions and much, much more comprise the 
near-encyclopedic ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAF rom  J im  C row  to C iv il  
R igh ts by legal scholar and historian Michael 
J. Klarman of the University of Virginia in 
Charlottesville.79 Drawing from law, history, 

political science, and sociology, his study is 
really three books in one. First, in a thorough­
ness almost without parallel in the literature, 
it is a chronicle of Supreme Court cases and 

other legal, political, and cultural develop­
ments affecting civil  rights from the Plessy era 
through the Brown decision and the civil-rights 
movement of the 1950s and 1960s. Very little
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In his new book, From Jim Crow to Civil 
Rights, Michael J. Klarman examines the 
change in popular attitudes about race from 
the 1890s to the 1950s. This 1960 photo­
graph shows segregated waiting rooms at the 
Atlanta bus station.

Pallbearers carried a casket symbolically burying Jim Crow during a 1944 NAACP march in Detroit.
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e s cap e s Klarman’s attention. Second, as the 

author addresses the “what,” he also plumbs 
the “why.” “ In 1896, most white Americans 
approved of racial segregation, and most of 
the Justices of the Supreme Court thought that 
it was plainly constitutional. In 1954, the Jus­
tices unanimously invalidated segregation, and 
about half of all Americans agreed with that 
ruling. How should we understand this dra­
matic shift in popular and legal opinion?” 80 

Third, he explores the “whether”—have deci­
sions by the Supreme Court actually “ influ- 
ence[d] the larger world of race relations”?81 
The second and third objectives enrich the first 
and set Klarman’s work apart from most books 
on civil-rights history. The virtue in Klarman’s 
approach is that the reader can more easily 
grasp the sweep of change that has occurred—a 
particular advantage for readers whose educa­
tions may have neglected the study of history 
and even for historians who downplay the im­
portance of big events and leading personali­
ties. Yet the risk is that the substantial attention 
that the book devotes to racial changes in law 

and society may overshadow racial difficulties 
that remain.

Klarman attributes the shift in popular at­
titudes about race from the 1890s to the 1950s 
to numerous factors. These include phenom­
ena inside the United States, such as the Great 
Migration that dramatically boosted the num­
ber of African Americans living in states out­

side the South—states where they could be­
come a critical political mass because they 
were allowed to vote. His causal list also 
includes external events, such as America’s 
participation in World Wars I and II. The 
justification for the latter especially, with its 

emphasis on defeating tyranny and saving 
democracy and Western civilization, had its 
effects on white attitudes toward those who 
were treated as second-class citizens at home, 
just as it  emboldened American blacks to speak 
out ever more loudly against that second-class 
citizenship. Defeating the Nazis abroad made 
notions of superior and inferior races and racial 
purity at home not only ring hollow but seem

dangerous. Moreover, in the postwar climate of 
the Cold War, with the United States and the 

Soviet Union in a contest to win the “hearts 
and minds” 82 of Third World peoples, contin­
ued institutionalization of racism within the 
United States made discrimination a national 
security issue.

Klarman begins his assessment of the 

change injudicial decisions with the hypothe­
sis that, especially on matters of constitutional 

law, the Supreme Court only rarely departs sig­
nificantly from mainstream opinion.83 (When 
it does depart, Klarman believes, it is more 

likely to be reflecting opinion that is main­
stream within the nation’s social and cultural 
elite). This seems so, he explains, because of 
the polarity of factors—legal and political— 
that influence judicial decision-making. Legal 
ingredients include such things as the text of 
the Constitution and statutes, precedents con­
struing the text, and “subconstitutional”  rules 
such as stipulations about standing that can 
determine preliminarily whether a litigant can 
even raise certain issues. Political ingredients 

include such things as the personal values of 
a Justice—that is, his or her predilections—as 
well as a Justice’s perceptions about the Court’s 

place in the governmental structure, conclu­
sions about the opportunities and limitations of 
judicial power, and the dynamics of decision­
making within a small group like the Court.

Thus, as political science literature has 
long affirmed, there is a “ legal axis” and a 
“political axis” of forces and factors shaping 
decisions. To the degree that those in the first, 
such as text and precedent, are determinate— 
that is, clear and largely uncontroverted—the 
legal axis will  ordinarily dictate the decision 

unless there are truly powerful emanations 
from the political axis. To the degree that the 
law appears indeterminate, judges have more 
discretion and so elements from the political 
axis become more influential in the outcome 
of a case. In 1896, a statute mandating racially 

segregated facilities appeared neither abso­
lutely forbidden nor permitted by the Four­
teenth Amendment. The fact that most of the
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Ju s tice s and m o s t white Am e ricans at that tim e 

tho u ght s e gre gatio n was wis e p u blic p o licy— 
an e m anatio n fro m the p o litical axis—made UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
P lessy an easy case to decide.84 In 1954, the 

Court construed the same Fourteenth Amend­
ment and reached an opposite conclusion, 
again because of emanations from the political 
axis—and, one should add, because of recent 

decisions along the legal axis, such as Sw eatt 
v. P ain ter*5 that had left the old separate-but- 

equal rule dangling by a hair. B row n was not 
“easy”  in the way P lessy had been, but it was 
an easier decision to reach in light of what had 
transpired.86 Similarly, G rovey v. Tow nsend’^1 

earlier validation of the white primary in 1935 
seemed no longer tenable in light of political 
factors by the time Sm ith v. A llw righ t* *  laid 
the white primary to rest in 1944.89 In short, 

Klarman concludes, because of the force of 
dominant opinion the Court is unlikely to be ei­
ther hero or villain.90 “Constitutional law much 

more frequently involves the Court suppress­
ing outliers than rescuing powerless minorities 
from majoritarian oppression.” 91 Surely there 
must have been power in the argument that 

blacks only wanted to be treated like everyone 
else. “ [W]hy, of all the multitudinous groups 
of people in this country,”  Thurgood Marshall 
asked the Supreme Court in 1953, “ [do] you 
have to single out Negroes and give them this 
separate treatment[?]” 92

As for the consequences and ramifications 
of B row n itself, Klarman rejects the polar po­
sitions (1) that B row n did little to change race 
relations and policy and (2) that B row n created 
the modern civil-rights movement. Instead, he 
adopts a modest middle stance that the rul­
ing was not irrelevant. Brown “plainly raised 
the salience of school segregation, encouraged 
blacks to litigate against it, changed the order 
in which racial practices would otherwise have 
been contested, mobilized extraordinary resis­
tance to racial change among southern whites, 
and created concrete occasions for street con­
frontations and violence.” 93

Two of these points merit brief comment. 

First, Klarman perceptively notes that in the

early 1950s, most blacks were probably more 

concerned about the quality of their children’s 
education than about the fact that it was a 
segregated education.94 They also realized the 

importance of the ballot that many of them 
lacked. Even with the death of the white pri­
mary in 1944, election officials in some states 
resorted to other means to keep blacks from 
polls. B row n played legal leapfrog with the 
order of things: suddenly integration, not the 
ballot, was the top civil-rights priority. Thus 

it was hardly surprising that B row n was so 
long in being implemented, especially in areas 
where blacks were politically the most impo­
tent. In fundamental ways, the franchise em­
powers people to protect themselves. Justice 
Ward Hunt had perceptively made this point 
in his dissent in U nited States v. R eese, early 
in the Waite Court: “Just so far as the ballot 
to... the freedmen is abridged, in the same 
degree is their importance and their security 
diminished.”95 As events of the 1950s demon­

strated, those without the ballot are at the mercy 
of everyone else.

Second, like a decision by the executive 
or legislative branches, a court decision can 
have unexpected consequences. With B row n 
there were at least two. The first was the “mas­
sive resistance”  that met attempts to implement 
Brown.96 “Southern whites had eschewed open 
confrontation with the Court over black jury 
service and black suffrage, while completely 
sabotaging those rights through administrative 
discrimination.” But rather than adopt “sim­
ilarly fraudulent mechanisms to circumvent 
school desegregation, the white South declared 
war on the Court, nullified B row n, and used 
state troops and vigilante mobs to block the en­
forcement of desegregation orders.”  Such tac­
tics brought about the second unintended re­
sult: By forcing everyone else’s hand, massive 
resistance led to combined presidential and 
congressional measures to make B row n a real­
ity. “One cannot know how long token school 
desegregation might have persisted had white 
southerners played their hand differently.” 97 
Massive resistance provoked adoption and
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im p le m e ntatio n o f am e lio rative co u nte rm e a­
s u re s that m ight o the rwis e ne ve r have be e n 
ado p te d.

Any o ne fam iliar with re ce nt judicial liter­
ature will  not be surprised that UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAB row n is the 
subject of one of the latest case studies to ap­

pear in the Landmark Law Cases &  American 
Society series. Published by the University 
Press of Kansas under the general editorship 
of Peter Charles Hoffer and N. E. H. Hull, 
the series now includes some two dozen vol­
umes, most of them treating decisions by the 
Supreme Court. Nearly as many case stud­
ies are promised as “ forthcoming.” 98 Along­

side other case-oriented books that Kansas has 
published outside the Landmark series,99 the 
happy result is an expanding storehouse of in­

formation about some of the Court’s most im­
portant work. Moreover, while the list already 
counts several volumes on cases decided since 
B row n came down—there are books on B akke 
and the 1973 abortion cases,100 for example— 
the fact that BrownZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA v . Board of Education101 
joins the series in time for the decision’s half- 
century anniversary is symbolic.

Aside from its length, Brown differs 
from Klarman’s J im  C row  in two impor­
tant respects. First, authors Robert J. Cottrol, 
Raymond T. Diamond, and Leland B. Ware— 
legal and public-policy scholars at George 
Washington University, Tulane University, and 
the University of Delaware, respectively— 
have written a 2?row«-centered book. As one 
would expect for an entry in the Landmark se­
ries, a sizeable part of the volume recounts the 
development of the litigation that culminated 
in the decisions on May 17, 1954, the second 
round of decisions on relief that followed in 
1955,102 and the immediate aftermath. Thus, 

the volume is among the more helpful addi­
tions to the literature on B row n since publica­
tion of S im p le Ju stice103 nearly three decades 

ago, and it has the advantage of the schol­
arly work of others who labored in the in­
terim. Still, in most respects Brown follows 
the S im p le Ju stice account of the decision’s 
gestation within the Court between 1952 and

1954. For example, Justice Stanley Reed is de­
picted as a holdout until persuaded by Chief 
Justice Earl Warren, practically a week be­
fore the case came down, not to dissent.104 

The story of Reed’s reluctance may be more 
complex than that, however, as former Reed 

clerk John Fassett has insisted in more than 
one forum.105

Second, Brown reflects more ambivalence 
than does J im  C row  about the relationship be­
tween Supreme Court decisions and dominant 
public opinion. For Klarman, the Court is more 
often follower than leader, at least with respect 
to matters of civil liberties and civil rights. 
The authors of Brown would probably agree 
only to a point, with that point being the es­
tablishment and maintenance of Jim Crow— 

hence, the subtitle of their volume: C aste , 
C u ltu re ,  an d  th e C on stitu t ion . “ B row n,”  they 
write, “was about caste. A caste system, or 
perhaps more accurately an attempt to impose 
a caste system, had developed in antebellum 
America. It existed in the North as well as in 
the South, with differing degrees of intensity 
in different regions.” 106 The question then be­
came whether caste lines could survive the le­
gal and constitutional changes that followed 
the Civil War. “They could”—and they did so 
in the form of Jim Crow, a “new legal regime 
[that] would also receive the support and sanc­
tion of the United States Supreme Court.” 107

But in Brown, the reader surmises from 
Cottrol, Diamond, and Ware, the Court was 
less follower than leader. In their account, 
B row n was revolutionary because it declared 
that racial caste lines were no longer com­
patible with the Constitution and so helped to 
“precipitate a more assertive civil  rights move­
ment in the 1950s and 1960s, a movement 
that would ultimately bring about far-reaching 
change in American race relations.” 108 In 
short, the decision was “pivotal.” 109 “ B row n’s 

importance lay in its setting the nation’s law on 

the path of rejecting the kind of racial exclu­
sion that had made African Americans a people 
apart since before the nation’s founding.” 110 
Moreover, in a Court-centered subtheme that
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the au tho rs de ve lo p ne ar the e nd o f the bo o k, UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
B row n he lp e d to change the way Am e ricans 
vie w the judiciary and their role in the political 
system. B row n’s transformation of the Equal 
Protection Clause was infectious in that it en­
ergized the Warren Court’s other rulings that 
applied most provisions of the Bill  of Rights 
to the states by way of the Fourteenth Amend­
ment and found a new right to privacy within 
the Constitution.111

The interplay between the Fourteenth 
Amendment and the life of the nation has been, 
and continues to be, a fascinating story. Proba­
bly no nation on earth has a legal saga to equal 

it. Surely few people, if  any, in 1868 when the 
amendment was ratified, or in 1873 when the 
Slaughterhouse C ases were decided, or in 1896 
when P lessy v. F erguson came down, or even 
on May 17,1954, when B row n was announced, 
possessed the vision to foresee all that it would 
become. Thus, the irony of B row n and the Four­
teenth Amendment: each reflects both the pos­
sibilities and the limitations of law in changing 
states of affairs partly or largely constructed 
and shored up by law.
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15Ro nald M. Labbe and Jo nathan Lu rie , ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT h e Slaugh­

terhouse Cases: R egu la tion , R econ stru c tion , an d th e 

F ou r teen th A m en d m en t (2003) (he re afte r cite d as Labbe 

and Lu rie ).

'•■'Loren P. Beth, “The UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASlaughterhouse C ases Revisited,”  

23 Lou isiana Law R eview 487 (1963). Labbe and Lurie, 

as well as Beth, adhere to the more modern spelling of 

“Slaughterhouse.”  In volume 16 of W allace s R eports, the 

spelling in the heading is “Slaughter-House.” However 

spelled, the Slaughterhouse C ases were so named because 

three different cases (two of which featured the same par­

ties) were combined for a single decision: The B utchers' 

B enevo len t A ssocia tion of N ew O rleans v. The C rescent 

C ity L ive-stock Land ing and Slaughter-house C om pany, 

P aul E steben, L . R uch, J. P . R ouede, W  M aylie, S. F irm - 

berg , B . B eaubay, W illiam F agan, J. D . B roderick, N . 

Seibel, M . Lannes, J. G itzinger, J. P . A ycock, D . V erges, 

the L ive-stock D ealers ’ and B utchers ’  A ssocia tion of N ew 

O rleans, and C harles C avarocv. The State of Lou isiana, ex 

re l S. B elden, A ttorney-genera l', The B utchers' B enevo len t 

A ssocia tion of N ew O rleans v. The C rescent C ity L ive­

stock Land ing and Slaughter-house C om pany. All  three 

reached the U.S. Supreme Court on a writ of error to the 

Supreme Court of Louisiana.

17Of course, the same stipulations would advantage a 

butcher who could afford no facilities of his own.

1883 U.S. at 66-67.

i9Labbe and Lurie, 245.

20The Slaughterhouse C ases had first been argued during 

the Court’s 1871-1872 Term, but due to ill  health, Justice 

Samuel Nelson missed the argument and conference dis­

cussion. After President Ulysses Grant named Ward Hunt 

to replace him, the Court heard re-argument in early 1873. 

It seems plausible, as the authors suggest, that without 

Nelson, the Bench had been evenly divided. Hunt then ap­

parently cast the deciding vote to sustain the statute. Id ., 

178-79. As chief justice of New York’s Court of Appeals, 

Hunt had written an opinion sustaining the validity of a 

statute confining slaughtering to one area of New York 

City. M etropo litan B oard of H ealth v. H eister, 37 N.Y. 

661 (1868).

2183 U.S. at 67.
22 A/., 71-72.

23 /r f„  70.

2475 U.S. (8 Wallace) 603 (1870).

2583 US. at 81.
26 /r f.

"M id ., 76, quoting from C orfie ld v. C oryell, 4 Washington’s 

Circuit Court 371 (C.C.D.Pa. 1823).

2883 U.S. at 78.

2!>The slaughterhouse law was litigated in both the courts of 

Louisiana, which sustained the act, and in the U.S. circuit 

court, which invalidated it. The latter tribunal was staffed 

by recently appointed Justice Joseph Bradley and Circuit 

Judge William Woods. The circuit court, however, refused

to grant relief because of a 1793 statute that barred federal 

courts from staying proceedings in a state court. Labbe 

and Lurie, 148. L ive S tock D ealers’  and B utchers' A ssn. v. 

C rescent C ity L ive Stock Land ing and S laughterhouse C o., 

15 Fed. Cas. 649 (C.C.La., 1870). With John Campbell as 

counsel, the circuit-court proceedings must have been one 

of the few times that a fo rm er Supreme Court Justice, a 

sitting Justice, and a fu tu re Justice were all involved in the 

same case.

30Labbe and Lurie, 9.

31W .,6 .

32 /t/., 102.

33 /r f.

M id., 2. The Tribe and Black statements appear in Lau­

rence Tribe, “Pursuing the Pursuit of Happiness,” N ew 

York R eview of B ooks (September 24, 1998) 34.

35Labbe and Lurie, 3.

a id .

M id., 4, n. 8, quoting William Nelson, T h e F ou r teen th 

A m en d m en t: F rom  P o lit ica l  P r in c ip le  to  Ju d ic ia l  D oc­

tr in e  (1988) 4.

38But see Saenz v. R oe, 526 U.S. 489 (1999).

39See the Judiciary Act of 1891 (also called the Circuit 

Court of Appeals Act or the Evarts Act); Act of March 3, 

1891; 26 Stat. 826.

OMichael A. Ross, Ju stice o f  S h a ttered D ream s: S am u el 

F reem an M ille r  an d th e S u p rem e C ou r t  D u r in g  th e 

C iv il  W ar  E ra  (2003) (hereafter cited as Ross).

4'Charles Fairman, M r.  Ju stice M ille r  an d th e S u p rem e 

C ou r t,  1862 -1890 (1939).

42Charles N. Gregory, S am u el F reem an M ille r  (1907 ) 55 . 

47 Ross. xiv.

M id., xvi.

M id., xvii.

46See the discussion in the text, above, between endnote 

numbers 20 and 28.

47 Ross, 201. Note that Ross prefers the hyphenated 

“Slaughter-House,” following the usage in W allaces 

R eports.

48Ross, 203.

M id., 242.

injustice Oliver Wendell Holmes gave this perspective its 

most authoritative genesis in his dissent in Lochner v. N ew 

York, 198 U.S. 45 (1905), where the Court struck down a 

state’s maximum hours statute for workers in bakeshops. 

“This case is decided upon an economic theory which a 

large part of the country does not entertain. If  it were a 

question whether I agreed with that theory, I should desire 

to study it further and long before making up my mind. 

But I do not conceive that to be my duty, because I strongly 

believe that my agreement or disagreement has nothing to 

do with the right of a majority to embody their opinions 

in law.”  Id . at 75 (Holmes, J., dissenting).

siPaul Kens, Ju stice S tep h en F ie ld : S h ap in g L ib er ty  

from  th e G o ld  R u sh to  th e G ild ed A ge (1997) 7.



THE JUDICIAL  BOOKSHELF 365zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

MHe nry J. Abraham , ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJu stices an d P resid en ts (3rd e d., 

1992) 7.

53Ross, ch. 4 (65-96).UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
s* Id ., 69-74.

55 /r f., 74.

56David M. Silver, L in co ln ’ s S u p rem e C ou r t  (1998, reis­

sue of 1956 edition) 65, emphasis added.

57Ross, 77.

58President Rutherford B. Hayes named Judge William 

Woods of Georgia to the Court in 1880, but Woods had 

moved to the South only after the Civil War. An Ohioan 

who was with Union General William Tecumseh Sherman 

on his infamous “March to the Sea”  in 1864, the first cir­

cuit judge for the Fifth Circuit obviously lacked southern 

credentials. To his credit, however, he earned respect and 

affection in legal circles across the South. See genera lly 

Thomas E. Baynes, “Yankee from Georgia,”  1978 Suprem e 

C ourt H istorica l Society Yearbook 31.

59Thanks to President Warren G. Harding and considerable 

lobbying by Taft himsel f, the twenty-seventh president was 

White’s successor as Chief Justice. On Taft’s efforts to 

secure the office he prized more highly than the pres­

idency, see Alpheus Thomas Mason, W illiam  H ow ard  

T a ft:  C h ie f  Ju stice (1964) 66-87.

soRebecca S. Shoemaker, T h e W h ite C ou r t: Ju s­

t ices, R u lin gs, an d L egacy (2004) (hereafter cited as 

Shoemaker). The author of this review essay contributed 

a volume to the Supreme Court Handbooks series: The 

W aite  C ou r t:  Ju stices, R u lin gs, an d L egacy (2003).
6 [Shoemaker, 167.

62 W., xiii.

63See endnote 39.

64R would be midway in the Taft Court that the famous 

“Judges Bill ”  of 1925 went into effect, moving a sizeable 

part of the Court’s docket into the discretionary column 

and thus allowing the Justices to engage cases almost en­

tirely of their choosing. Act of February 13,1925; 43 Stat. 

936. Like the Supreme Court Building itself—which the 

Court did not occupy until 1935, after Taft’s death—the 

1925 act stands a monument to Taft’s considerable labors 

on behalf of the federal judiciary.

65Felix Frankfurter and James M. Landis, The B u sin ess 

o f  th e S u p rem e C ou r t  (1928) 197-98. Heretofore, under 

section 25 of the Judiciary Act of 1789, appeal lay to the 

Supreme Court from the highest court of a state only where 

the latter had ruled aga inst the federal constitutional claim. 

’ ’ ’ ’Shoemaker, 139-46, 184-87.

67See B lyew v. U nited States, 80 U.S. (13 Wallace) 581 

(1872), sometimes called the Supreme Court’s first civil-  

rights case. John R. Howard, T h e S h ift in g  W in d  (1999) 

4.

68Civil-rights victories such as Strauder v. W est V irg in ia , 

100 U.S. 303 (1880), and E x parte Yarbrough, 110 U.S. 

651 (1884), were the exception. Far more typical were

decisions rejecting the civil-rights claim, as evidenced by 

cases such as U nited States v. C ru ikshank, 92 U.S. 542 

(1876), and G iles v. H arris, 189 U.S. 475 (1903).

& > See genera lly C. Vann Woodward, T h e S tran ge C areer 

o f  J im  C row  (2nd rev. ed. 1966).

70219 U.S. 219(1911).

71235 U.S. 133(1914).

72238 U.S. 347(1915).

73/rf., 365.

74Alexander M. Bickel and Benno C. Schmidt, Jr., H isto ry  

o f th e S u p rem e C ou r t  o f th e U n ited S ta tes, V o lu m e 

IX :  T h e Ju d ic ia ry  an d  R esp on sib le G overn m en t, 1910 - 

1921 (1984) 928.

75235 U.S. 151 (1914).

76 1 63 U.S. 537 (1896).

77235 U.S. at 161.

78The first section of the 1890 Louisiana statute challenged 

in P lessy specified “ that all railway companies carrying 

passengers in their coaches in this state, shall provide equa l 

but separa te accom m odations for the white, and colored 

races, by providing two or more passenger coaches for 

each passenger train, or by dividing the passenger coaches 

by a partition so as to secure separate accommodations: 

provided, that this section shall not be construed to apply 

to street railroads. No person or persons shall be permitted 

to occupy seats in coaches, other than the ones assigned 

to them, on account of the race they belong to.” 163 U.S. 

at 540. Emphasis added.

79Michael J. Klarman, F rom  J im  C row  to  C iv il  R igh ts: 

T h e S u p rem e C ou r t an d th e S tru gg le fo r R acia l 

E q u a lity  (2004) (hereafter cited as Klarman). 

sow., 443.

siW., 4.

82William Safire attributes the phrase to a statement by 

Theodore Roosevelt in 1906. By the 1960s it had become 

“a slogan of sorts, as what had to be won in Vietnam.”  

William Safire, S a fire’ s N ew P o lit ica l D ic tion a ry :  T h e 

D efin it ive  G u id e to  th e N ew  L an gu age o f  P o lit ics (1993) 

716.

83Klarman, 5.

84W., 23.

853 39 U.S. 629 (1950). In this decision, the Vinson Court 

found a separate state-run law school for blacks in Texas 

to be a violation of the Equal Protection Clause. Intangi­

ble factors relating to legal education made it practically 

impossible for racially separate law schools to be equal. 

86KIarman, 449.

87295 U.S. 45(1935).
88321 U.S. 649(1944).

89A variation on the white primary reappeared in Terry 

v. A dam s, 345 U.S. 461 (1953), but the Court adamantly 

interred it as well.

<)(>Klarman, 6.

91W„ 454.



366 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORYzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

92“Re bu ttal Argu m e nt o n Be half o f Ap p e llants Harry 

Briggs , Jr., e t al., Mo nday , December 7, 1953,” in Leon ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
F r ied m an , ed ., A rgu m en t:  T h e O ra l  A rgu m en t  B efo re 

th e S u p rem e C ou r t  in  Brown v. Board of Education of 

Topeka, 1952 -1955 (1969) 239.

"Klarman, 454.UTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
M id., 455.

«92 US. 214, 248 (1876) (Hunt, J., dissenting).

"The extent of the opposition that developed in the wake 

of B row n was grossly underestimated. In retrospect, even 

with an allowance for the exuberance of victory, Thurgood 

Marshall’s public comments on May 17, 1954 about the 

prospects for implementation of the Supreme Court’s de­

cision border on the fanciful. See Marshall’s statements in 

the several news stories on B row n in the N ew York T im es, 

May 18, 1954, at 14, 16.

"Klarman, 462.

98This information is based on a flier that the author re­

ceived from the publisher in April 2004. For the cur­

rent status of the series, including forthcoming titles, 

consult the website for the University Press of Kansas, 

http://www.kansaspress.ku.edu (last accessed 17 August 

2004).

"For example, see Labbe and Lurie’s T h e  Slaughterhouse 

Cases, reviewed above in this essay, and Louis Fisher, N azi 

S ab o teu rs on  T r ia l:  A  M ilita ry  T r ib u n a l  an d  A m er ican  

L aw  (2003).

iooHoward Ball, T h e Bakke C ase: R ace, E d u ca tion , 

an d A ffirm a tive  A ction  (2000); N . E. H. Hull and Peter

Charles Hoffer, Roe u Wade: T h e A b or t ion  R igh ts C on­

troversy  in  A m er ican  H isto ry  (2001). 

toiRobert J. Cottrol, Raymond T. Diamond, and Leland 

B. Ware, Brown v. Board of Education: C aste , C u l ­

tu re , an d th e C on stitu t ion (2003) (hereafter cited as 

Cottrol).

iO2Srotvn v. B oard of E ducation (II), 349 U.S. 294 (1955). 

'"Richard F. Kluger, S im p le Ju stice : T h e H isto ry  o f 

Brown v. Board of Education an d B lack A m er ica ’ s 

S tru gg le fo r  E q u a lity  (1976).

iMCottroI, 174-76.

'".See John D. Fassett, “Mr. Justice Reed and B row n v. The 

B oard of E ducation ,'’’ Suprem e C ourt H istorica l Society 

Yearbook (1986) 48; Fassett, N ew D ea l Ju stice : T h e L ife  

o f S tan ley R eed o f K en tu ck y  (1994) 563-76; Fassett, 

“A Plea for the Demise of a Stubborn Myth,” in Clare 

Cushman and Melvin I. Urofsky, eds., B lack , W h ite , an d 

B row n  (2004). Fassett’s “Plea”  essay was published after 

the Cottrol, Diamond, and Ware book. While his New D ea l 

Ju stice is listed in the B row n  bibliography (Cottrol, 266), 

there is no listing in the bibliography of Fassett’s 1986 

article.

i06Cottrol, 4-5.

M id., 7.

w »ld„  8.
109/rf., 234.

HO/rf., 241.

11 ^D uncan v. Lou isiana, 391 U.S. 145 (1968); G risw o ld v. 

C onnecticu t, 381 U.S. 479 (1965). See Cottrol, 216.



367

Contributors

Harry A. Blackmun served as an Associate 
Justice from 1970 to 1994. He died in 1999.

Darryl J. Gonzalez works at the House 
of Representatives Page School and is cur­
rently writing a doctoral dissertation about the 
Capitol Page Program. He would like to thank 
Frank Lyman, Sr., Frank Lyman, Jr., and Jim 
Oliver for their help on this article.

Daniel W. Hamilton is an assistant professor 
at Chicago-Kent College of Law.

David L. Lightner is an associate professor in

the Department of History and Classics at the 
University of Alberta.

L. A. Powe, Jr. holds the Anne Green Regents 
Chair in Law and is a professor of government 
at the University of Texas at Austin.

Allen Sharp is a United States District Judge 
for the Northern District of Indiana.

D. Grier Stephenson, Jr. is the Charles A. 
Dana Professor of Government at Franklin 
and Marshall College. He regularly contributes 
“The Judicial Bookshelf” to the Journal.



368 

Photo Credits 

All illustrations are courtesy of the Library of Congress 

except as noted below: 

Page 250, Collection of the Curator, Supreme Court of the 

United States 
Page 309, Courtesy of Frank Lyman 

Page 312, Courtesy of Frank Lyman 

Page 324, Collection of the Curator, Supreme Court of the 

United States 
Page 329, Corbis 

Page 335, Collection of the Curator, Supreme Court of the 
United States 

Page 338, Courtesy of John Ferren and Walter A. "Bill" 

Steele 

Page 349, Historic New Orleans Collection 

Cover: Pages playing in the snow, 1920s. Library of Congress. 


	project_muse_876296
	project_muse_876287
	project_muse_876288
	project_muse_876289
	project_muse_876290
	project_muse_876291
	project_muse_876292
	project_muse_876293
	project_muse_876294
	project_muse_876295



